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Tuesday, January 17, 2023
--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. MURRAY:  I think we will get started now.


This is the technical conference for OEB file number EB-2022-0024, which is Elexicon Energy's rates application for 2023.


My name is Lawren Murray, and I am counsel to OEB Staff.  Before my introductory remarks and appearances I am going to hands things over to Ms. Sanasie, who will begin with the Ontario Energy Board's land acknowledgement.

Land Acknowledgement:


MS. SANASIE:  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishnaabeg, the Chippewa, and the Haudenosaunee and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Metis peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.


We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land, and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Ms. Sanasie.

Preliminary Matters:


Now, everyone, we have a very busy two days ahead of us here, so I would ask that people do their best to try and stick to their time schedules so that we can finish the event on time.


Given this technical conference is a virtual event, I want to remind people of a few things.  First, we cannot talk over each other.  You have to speak clearly and into your microphone.


Second, I ask the intervenors to turn off their video and audio when they are not asking questions.


If you need to interject during questioning, I would ask you to turn on your camera and also identify yourself when you come on, because it can be difficult for the court reporter to see who is speaking.


I would, however, ask that people try to limit such interjections where possible, as the virtual environment does pose challenges in terms of locating who is saying what.


And third, I would remind people that, while a chat function is available, nothing said in the chat function will be recorded or appear on the transcript for this technical conference.


With me here today from OEB Staff are Birgit Armstrong, the case manager, along with Donald Lau, Stephen Cain, and Ashley Sanasie, the hearings advisor on this matter.


Also attending is Julia Nowicki, our articling student at the Board.


Now, let's get started with appearances in the order of the schedule, starting with Power Workers' Union.

Appearances:


MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you, good morning.  I am going to start with the VECC 2 --


MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, Mr. Rosenbluth, we are just doing appearances now, if you can just state your name for the record and --


MR. ROSENBLUTH:  My apologies.  It is Dan Rosenbluth for the Power Workers' Union.


MR. MURRAY:  Environmental Defence.


MR. ELSON:  Good morning, Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.


MR. MURRAY:  Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada.


MR. LADANYI:  Good morning, my name is Tom Ladanyi.  I represent the Coalition of Concerned Manufacturers and Businesses of Canada.


MR. MURRAY:  Distributed Resource Coalition.


MR. DAUBE:  Hi, it's Nick Daube for DRC.


MR. MURRAY:  Consumers Council of Canada.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada, and I will be asking questions on behalf of VECC as well today.


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  The Brooklin Landowners Group.


MS. NEWLAND:  Good morning, my name is Helen Newland.  I represent Brooklin Landowners Group Inc.  With me today is my associate, Kate Wilksie.  Also with me is Matthew Cory, the project manager of the Brooklin Landowners Group.  He will be appearing as a witness on panel 2.  Thank you.


MR. MURRAY:  The School Energy Coalition.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  Jain Scott is not able to be with us today.


MR. MURRAY:  Are there any other intervenors who I have neglected to mention in terms of appearances?  Hearing none, I just want to, before we hand it over to Mr. Vellone to introduce his witness panel, I want to ask if anyone had any preliminary issues that we should raise at this time?  Hearing none, having completed appearances, I will now turn things over to Mr. Vellone, who will introduce the representatives of Elexicon Energy.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Murray, and good morning, everybody.  My name is John Vellone, and I'm external counsel to Elexicon Energy.  With me this morning is my associate, Colm Boyle.  We also have a few representatives of Elexicon that are not part of the witness panel, so I will just briefly introduce them as well for the benefit of the record.  Mr. Stephen Vetsis and Emmanuel Arulseeian.


And in addition with me this morning is Mr. Brandon Ott from Utilis Consulting, who will be assisting with presenting the evidence on the screen and helping navigate us through the evidentiary record in this matter, to hopefully speed up the questioning.


I will now turn over to the witness panel and ask that each of the witnesses introduce themselves, give their titles, as well as the area of the evidence that you are planning to speak to.  Starting, I think, with you, Ms. Chan.


MS. CHAN:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Cynthia Chan, Chief Financial Officer here at Elexicon Energy, and my area of coverage is business planning and ICM regulatory application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I just want to interrupt.  That did not come on my screen.  I got Mr. -- sorry, I can't read your last name, your screen with no picture, and I didn't see the witness.


MS. SANASIE:  I didn't spotlight the witnesses yet.  I will do that when the questioning starts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.


MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Shepherd, are you on --


MR. SHEPHERD:  With the appearances I want to see who we're asking questions of.


MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Shepherd, I am using gallery view, and it helps a little bit, because I can see everybody.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I was just told to switch to speaker view.  All right.


MR. MURRAY:  Go ahead, Mr. Boudhar.


MR. BOUDHAR:  Good morning.  My name is Hocine Boudhar.  I'm a lead asset management.  I'm planning technician at Elexicon.  My area of coverage would be asset management and distribution system planning associated with the ICM projects.


MS. ELEOSIDA:  Good morning.  I'm Ingrid Eleosida.  I'm the manager of operations, of technology and innovation here at Elexicon.  My area of coverage would be around the distribution, automation, technology/software, as well as the [audio dropout] funding.


MR. THOMPSON:  Good morning, my name is Daryn Thompson.  I'm with METSCO.  I'm a specialist in smart-grid planning, and I'm here to support Appendix B-5, which is the Whitby smart-grid engineering report.


MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Kurtis Martin-Sturmey.  I'm the manager of asset management and performance at METSCO Energy Solutions.  I'm here representing Appendix B-4, which is the load forecast report.


MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam, Utilis Consulting, supporting Elexicon on regulatory affairs, as well as ICM rate modelling with respect to this application.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Can I just jump in there?  I am in agreement with Jay.  It would be easier to see the people who are speaking on the witness panel.  Can we make sure that that works before we go on to questioning?  Okay.


MALE SPEAKER:  Just to be helpful, what is happening in the Elexicon room, I don't know if you're in the same room, but every time one of you speaks it shows up as Emmanuel speaking, even though your video is visible.  So it is probably because you are sharing an audio feed.


MS. SANASIE:  That is the reason, but I will just spotlight them anyway.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Ashley.


MALE SPEAKER:  While this is being done --


MR. MURRAY:  Is there anyone else to be introduced, or is that the --


MR. VELLONE:  That is the entirety of the witness panels.  CVs will distributed in advance, so that is my introduction, and the witnesses are available for -- oh, apologies, Mr. Mandyam.  We do have a few corrections that were filed in advance as well.  Mr. Mandyam, did you want to spend a moment or two?


MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  Just -- I want go through them.  I think they're on the record.  There was a letter filed.  Just highlighting that the letter was filed on January 12th.  There is 15 items that were listed in a table on pages 1, 2, and 3.


If there is any questions around that we are happy to take them now, or we can take them as a couple of days progress.  That is all I wanted to say on that.


MR. VELLONE:  With that, Mr. Murray, the witnesses are available for questioning.

ELEXICON ENERGY INC. -- PANEL 1:

Cynthia Chan,

Hocine Boudhar,

Ingrid Eleosida,

Daryn Thompson,
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Andrew Mandyam.

Examination by Mr. Rosenbluth:


MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.  I will try again now.  My first question is going to deal with VECC 2, response to interrogatory, and table 1 within that response.  And specifically starting with the bottom right portion of that table, this is really just a labelling or clarification question.

This shows 117 annual outages per year on average and that the Whitby smart grid project will reduce the response time by an average of one hour per outage, for a total reduction in response time of 117 hours.  Is that -- and then multiplied by the hourly cost of truck roll of 350 per hour for total savings of 40,950.

Do I have that all correct?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.  And does the hourly cost of the truck roll include the cost of the truck or only the staff?

MR. MANDYAM:  In this estimate, we have included just the staff.  No cost of the truck.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And so would it be fair to say that if you were to include the cost of the truck, that would enhance the savings further?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  I think that is fair to say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I have to interrupt again.  We have to be able to see the witnesses as they're speaking.  Right now we can't because you are displaying something which you will be doing throughout this and, as a result, can't see the witnesses.  We need to fix that technical problem.

MS. SANASIE:  The witnesses have been spot lighted.  So transfer to gallery view.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I switched to gallery view, but when there is something displayed on the screen, all you see is the side bar of the people.  And you don't see people who are speaking if they're not -- if their mic is not on.

MS. SANASIE:  When something is being shared, see if you can stretch the window by dragging it toward the left.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Ott, can you share the screen again just to get through this technical hurdle?  I agree with Mr. Shepherd; everyone needs to be comfortable with how the technology is working.

MS. SANASIE:  If you hover, there is a double line, see if you can pull that to the side so you can see the document being shared as well as the witnesses that have been spot lighted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is in gallery view?

MS. SANASIE:  I have side-by-side speaker view on mine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you want me to go to speaker view again?  We won't see the questioner, but we will see a box with the speakers?

MS. SANASIE: You will also see the questioning --


MS. GIRVAN:  He's at the bottom on my screen.

MS. SANASIE:   He's at the bottom of mine as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have nothing at the bottom of my screen.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Jay, it is on the side by side speaker view, you will see the speakers on the side of the document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  But I see all of Elexicon's witnesses.  Is it possible to spotlight only the person who is speaking actually, rather than the whole panel?

MR. VELLONE:  I don't know if that is going to be possible because they're sharing a microphone.

MS. SANASIE:  Exactly.  I won't be able to do that.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Then I think we have to be very clear that every speaker identifies themselves by name before they start speaking, because the microphone shows "off" so there is no way to identify who is speaking.

MR. VELLONE:  That's fair.  Can I ask our witnesses to do that?  It will be a bit unusual to introduce your name every time you talk, but that is what we're going to do, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are here for two days.  Why don't we just fix the microphone problem?

MR. VELLONE:  We attempted, Mr. Shepherd, multiple different configurations in the boardroom they're in and this is the only one that doesn't cause significant amount of feedback.

MS. SANASIE:  Jay, are you able to stretch that window?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I can see the speakers now, I can't see anybody else who is talking.

MS. SANASIE:  So that is okay, right, you can see the speakers and the document being shared?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. SANASIE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not the way this should be done.

MR. MURRAY:  Jay, it is Lawren here.  Have you stretched your screen as far as it can go?  I see the speakers and at the bottom is Mr. Rosenbluth.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I have.

MR. MURRAY:  All right.  Go ahead.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Ready to resume?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, Mr. Rosenbluth -- apologies Andrew Mandyam.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Is it possible, Mr. Mandyam, to get an undertaking to quantify any additional savings arising from the saved cost of the truck in this scenario?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.  Now, related to this --


MR. MANDYAM:  Sorry, is somebody taking --


MR. MURRAY:  It is Lawren Murray speaking.  That will be undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO QUANTIFY ANY ADDITIONAL SAVINGS ARISING FROM THE SAVED COST OF THE TRUCK IN THIS SCENARIO.


MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.  Related to this, I understand that Elexicon's evidence generally indicates that the system average interruption frequency index will improve with the smart grid project.  Is that accurate?

MR. THOMPSON:  Daryn Thompson; yes, that is accurate.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.  Do you know -- referring back to this table here, the 117 average annual outages figure, is that the average with the smart grid or without the smart grid?

MR. THOMPSON:  So 117 average outages is the number of data lines in the file.  So some of those outages are compound outages, one or two events happening driving around the city, things like that.

So the number of outages isn't reduced by the smart grid.  It is the number of field operations and switching operations that are changed.  So I think it would be fair to say that is that it is both.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  So am I understanding you correctly to be indicating that upon the implementation of the smart grid, the 117 would decrease.  Is that fair?

MR. THOMPSON:  If I could refer you to appendix B-5, appendix B of that document, that table right there.  So that table shows 69 feeder blackout events.  Those are the events that are directly impacted and the outage time is reduced by the DA system.  The 117 outages comes from somewhere else in the database.

It is -- I am afraid I will have to defer to who might have written that.

MR. MANDYAM:  We will have to take an undertaking to provide that detail, Mr. Rosenbluth.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  I think what I was trying to get at, from my perspective, if the frequency of the outages were to decrease, then wouldn't it be fair to infer that the costs associated with those avoided outages would be avoided entirely?

MR. THOMPSON:  I can speak to that.  Daryn Thompson METSCO again.  I can speak to that.

So typically an automation system, it doesn't reduce the frequency of the events that happen in the outside world.  Same number of cars hit poles, same number of equipment is damaged.

The DA system reduces the number of truck rolls and reduces the time spent.

So it doesn't actually change the frequency of the outages.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd; can I just interject.  I was under the impression that you were projecting SAIFI would be reduced as well.

MR. THOMPSON:  Daryn Thompson, METSCO again.  What happens is SAIFI events get converted to MAIFI events. 

So the outage actually happens.  The event happens.  How we classify it as being an outage of greater than a minute or an outage of less than a minute is what changes with respect to the SAIFI statistics.  So SAIFI does improve quite a bit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because it shifted over to MAIFI?

MR. THOMPSON:  Because it shifts over to MAIFI, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  Which would be considered a success.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Still within VECC 2, but moving down to table 3.  And again, just to start with a formatting or clarification question, because, for example, the customers column is stated in terms of dollars, and I guess my question is, by way of undertaking, could Elexicon please restate table 3 with the proper units and show decimals where appropriate?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  We can do that.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That is -- this is Mr. Lawren Murray, OEB counsel.  That is Undertaking JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO RESTATE TABLE 3 WITH THE PROPER UNITS AND SHOW DECIMALS WHERE APPROPRIATE.  ALSO TO REVIEW THE ESCALATION FACTOR AND CONFIRM WHETHER THE COST FIGURES IN TABLE 3 REQUIRE ADJUSTMENT.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Now, staying on this table, and comparing the first two columns -- namely, the cost per customer and then with the escalation factor -- the escalation used here appears to be about 12.3 percent, comparing the rate of increase between these two columns.

Our review of the Statistics Canada data indicates inflation from Q1 2016 to Q1 2022 should be higher.

And so as part of the undertaking, can Elexicon please review the escalation factor and confirm whether the cost figures in table 3 require adjustment?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Rosenbluth, part of your question didn't come through here in the room.  I am not sure if -- it is Andrew Mandyam speaking, apologies.  I will remember to say my name.  But part of your statement and question -- I think I got your question at the end.  But the preamble about the, I think it is the GDP-IPI escalation column, did not come through, at least to us in the room.  Could you restate?

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Sure.  Sorry about that.  I will restate.

So the cost escalation factor used in the table appears to be about 12.3 percent, but our review of the Statistics Canada data indicates inflation from Q1 2016 to Q1 2022 should be higher.  And so as part of the undertaking I am asking Elexicon to review the escalation factor and confirm whether the cost figures in table 3 require adjustment.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, we can do that.  We will include that as part of JT1.2.  Andrew Mandyam speaking.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.

Now, the footnote, footnote 2 -- sorry, the footnote on page 2 of the response, footnote 2, indicates that the figures appear to be from January 2015.

So my question is, why is the escalation in table 3 from Q1 2016 instead of Q1 2015?

MR. MANDYAM:  If you can hear me -- it's Andrew Mandyam -- I believe we just took the first year after the values were established as the basis to conduct the analysis.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay.  If the Q1 2015 figures were to be used per the cited data, would that be likely to alter the numbers?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking again.  Yes.  That should alter the numbers, because I am sure they're different.  I just don't have any quantum of the difference to see if it's going to change anything in table 3.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay.  That's fine.

And so the value of lost load accounts for the value of the duration of outages.  And based on your understanding of the Navigant and Berkeley lab studies, is the value of the less frequent outages, is that built into or baked into the value of the lost load?  Or is that additional economic value that isn't quantified here?

MR. MANDYAM:  We'll have to caucus for that just for a second [audio dropout]  Okay.  Thank you.

THE REPORTER:  This is the court reporter speaking.  Sorry, I didn't catch who was speaking or what was said there.

MR. VELLONE:  It was Mr. Mandyam, and he asked to caucus.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Rosenbluth, we apologize.  Can you just repeat the question again?  We thought we understood it, but then when we got into caucus we kind of tumbled around.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  So my question is, based on your understanding of the studies, is the value of the lower SAIFI baked into the value of the lost load?  Or is that additional economic value not yet quantified in those figures?

MR. THOMPSON:  So can I paraphrase your question?  Are you asking if the value of lost load is calculated before or after --


THE REPORTER:  Sorry, who is speaking?  It's the court reporter.  Who is speaking, please?

MR. THOMPSON:  I apologize.  That's going to be a hard habit.  This is Daryn Thompson from METSCO.  And if I could paraphrase your question, are you asking if the value of lost load is calculated before or after the application of data?  Could you try again, please?

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Sorry.  I am asking whether the value accounts for -- the value of the lost load accounts for the value of the lower SAIFI?

MR. MANDYAM:  Did you say safety or SAIFI?

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  SAIFI, S-A -- the frequency.

MR. MANDYAM:  We will have to take that away, Mr. Rosenbluth.  Andrew Mandyam speaking.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Sure.  And as part of that, I suppose, if the answer is yes, if the answer is that there is some additional economic value to be quantified, I would like an undertaking to make best efforts to provide some quantification of that additional value.

MR. MURRAY:  This is Lawren Murray.  Is Elexicon agreeing to that undertaking?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam.  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE VALUE OF THE LOST LOAD ACCOUNTS FOR THE VALUE OF THE LOWER SAIFI.  IF THE ANSWER IS THAT THERE IS SOME ADDITIONAL ECONOMIC VALUE TO BE QUANTIFIED, TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE SOME QUANTIFICATION OF THAT ADDITIONAL VALUE.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.

I am going to move now to the responses to the Staff interrogatories, Staff 3 in particular.

MR. VELLONE:  Apologies.  Was that JT1.4?  I have different numbering.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  Andrew Mandyam.  We have 3, 2, or -- I think, Mr. Vellone, you are connecting 2 -- or JT1.2 as two separate, but we had two items within JT1.2.

MR. VELLONE:  Got it.  Thank you, Mr. Mandyam.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  So I am now moving to Staff 3, which we have on the screen, and particularly response (a).  I will just allow you a moment to review it again before asking my question.

So my question is, is it Elexicon's view that it is ineligible for an ACM because this is not a cost-of-service application?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking.  We believe -- it is Elexicon's position it is an ICM application, incremental capital module, because it is a distinct project and Elexicon is eligible under its MAADS decision to file for ICM applications for a distinct specific projects.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And when does Elexicon make a decision on this ICM to meet the Q4, 2025 in service date?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking again.  Elexicon is -- so it is a bit of a interconnected answer, but Elexicon would like the, in short would like the decision as soon as possible.

It filed the application in July of 2022 with the hopes that the decision by the OEB would be rendered before the end of 2023.  We are obviously in 20 -- sorry, end of 2022.  I misspoke.  We're in 2023.  So the long answer that that I just provided is as soon as possible to commence the project, to deliver it before the end of 2025 as currently forecasted or planned.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And is the longer lead time here is that required due to current supply chain concerns?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar speaking here.  It is related to the long lead items, to be ordered as well as the scope of work that we're trying to implement.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay.  Now, if the Board determines that it is too early to approve an ICM based on the timing, can you describe any additional costs or challenges that may arise if the project is, therefore, needed to be completed in a shorter time frame?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar speaking again.  I am not sure if there would be any additional costs, I can't speak to that.  But obviously the timing of the project will be a question here.  We're hoping to have a look at, as my colleague said, an approval as soon as possible.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And certainly the timing would obviously shrink, you know, proportionally, but would that have any effect on the logistical or operational challenges of completing it?

MR. THOMPSON:  Daryn Thompson, METSCO.  We haven't studied alternative timelines, but generally speaking if you compress a timeline you increase construction costs and lose optimization.  But we haven't done a study to find out what would happen.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Rosenbluth, Andrew Mandyam.  I will add one point.  There is a connected -- and it is part of the interconnection that I spoke of, I didn't explain it.  But we are -- we have agreement with NRCan for funding contribution of up to four million dollars.  It is four million dollars, I should say, in the contract.

So that has a time limit of March 31st, 2025.  So there is that constraint, if I could call it.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  And what happens --

MR. SHEPHERD:  That timeline is based on, that funding is for ADMS, right?  It is not for the rest of it?


MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking again.  Yes, that is correct Mr. Shepherd.  It is for the ADMS portion of that project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have already started the ADMS work, right?


MS. ELOSIDA:  Ingrid Eleosida.  That is correct.  We started the software 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would be best to, if you could, 
[Court reporter appeals.]


MS. ELOSIDA:  I was responding to the question that yes we had started the ADMS work.  We have started the software application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that will be done, like, by the end of this year or early next year, the ADMS will be in place?


MS. ELOSIDA:  If I could actually turn you to Elexicon's response to Staff 9.  And the...

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, it is Julie Girvan here.  We're having trouble hearing Ingrid.  It's very echoey.

MS. ELOSIDA:  I will speak louder.  Is this better?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MS. ELOSIDA:  Okay.  If I may turn you to Elexicon's response to Staff 5.  It is the attachments.  The attachment that is the [audio dropout]


[Court reporter appeals.]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Neither can I.

MS. ELOSIDA:  I will speak louder.  I will start again.

I will turn you to Elexicon's response to Staff 9, attachment 1, schedule A.  Under project costs it outlines the estimated planning for the completion of ADMS.  So in answer to your response, Mr. Shepherd, the planning for the ADMS rolls into 2024.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, the communication infrastructure component of it moves out past 2023.  But the bulk of it is already done in 20 -- oh, no, I guess -- yes, August 2024, that's right.  I see it.  Okay.

MS. ELOSIDA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My apologies, thank you.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay, thank you.  Still within the Staff responses, moving to Staff 23, and item B, in particular.  

The question here was, what percentage of sustainable Brooklin home buyers does Elexicon expect to invest in solar batteries and in EV.  The response, as I read it, indicates that approval of the project will create a baseline of quantifiable evidence and that Elexicon's plans to provide a forecast as part of the DER enabling program.

So my question now is, is it still the case that Elexicon does not have a forecast of solar battery and EV update?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking.  You are correct, Mr. Rosenbluth.  Elexicon does not have a forecast at this time.

Just to give context, Elexicon's plan is within six months to, should the OEB approve the application for the Whitby smart grid, as filed, it would subsequently file a, its DER enabling program, which we outlined some context, concepts around in appendix B-3.

So in that application it does, Elexicon does expect to provide forecasts along with incentive plans that will hopefully achieve those forecasts, DER connected appliances.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.  But if I am understanding your answer correctly, you know, there may be a forecast down the road.  But sitting here today Elexicon does not have a forecast of the benefits to its existing ratepayers arising from solar battery EV uptake.  Is that fair?

MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking, sorry.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.  Staying in this response and focussing on the second full paragraph on the screen, we see the third line down, that 12 percent penetration of rooftop solar with battery energy storage could defer capacity needs by one year.

And given that we know that the project is anticipated to be completed in around 2041, or you know, roughly 20 years from now.  Am I understanding this answer to mean that there will be 12 percent penetration of total homes by the end of the development at that point in time?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  This is Kurtis Martin-Sturmey here.  So that 12 percent number should be interpreted based on the timing at which the additional capacity is needed in the area and the 12 percent calculation is based on the number of homes in the North Brooklin development in 2038.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Oh, okay.  Thank you.  So then the deferral of the investment by one year could not happen until 2038.  Is that accurate?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  2038 is the point at which both the 44 kV and 27.6 kV systems require that capacity increase, should you be able to balance the load between both of the systems.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Rosenbluth, the 12 percent is --


MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Sorry, just, it is Mr. Mandyam speaking, just for the benefit of the transcript.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  Thank you.  Sorry.  Andrew Mandyam speaking.

Mr. Martin-Sturmey can correct me if I am wrong here.  The 12 percent referenced here and in the METSCO report is if there is 12 percent penetration of rooftop and battery energy storage passed, there will be a deferral of one year of the infrastructure.

If there is 53 percent penetration of those 700 homes per year, there will be a five year-deferral.  I am not sure if that context is those, how you were looking at it, Mr. Rosenbluth.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Right.  I guess what I am trying to understand is the timing of that deferral, and is the deferral going to be able to be achieved at any point prior to 2038, given the timing of the project?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So [audio dropout] question.  The deferral could appear at --


THE REPORTER:  Excuse me.  Who is speaking?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  This is Mr. Martin-Sturmey again.  So the deferral could be made at any time, but the question is more of:   At what point would that deferral be needed?

So here when we talk about by 2038, that is in relation to the capacity -- sorry, the load exceeding the capacity available at that point in time.  That is the point at which the deferral would be needed.

So if -- it is not that it couldn't be deferred earlier, it's just, the question is when that load exceeds the capacity.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay, thank you.

Given that the Brooklin line would be constructed from the Whitby transformer station to the Brooklin area, to the extent that assets are deferred by DER penetration, what investments would be deferred?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So when we talk about capacity constraint in this context, speaking to the upstream capacity constraints at the TS.  So the deferral would be a new transmission station.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  So would there be any deferral of assets that would have required a capital contribution from the sustainable Brooklin developers?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar speaking.  No.  The answer is, no, there would be no deferral of assets, with capital contribution from the developers.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.

Now, elsewhere in this response, and back up in the first paragraph of the same response, so, yes, the screen can stay as is, states that Elexicon is hopeful to reach the range's model as necessary to defer traditional infrastructure investment.

So does Elexicon have any evidence or forecasts indicating that it can in fact generate these benefits?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking.  Not at this time, other than, you know, just the notional belief that a path forward is such that DER and solar and battery storage implementations being put in service by customers is more prevalent -- will be more prevalent.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.

I am going to move now for my final set of questions to answers to PWU, specifically number 8.  Take a moment to review the question and answer.  And so my question is, firstly, considering that contributions are required for distribution assets but not for a transmission station, is it possible that the lowest-cost option would be different than the option that results in the lowest bills for Elexicon consumers or customers?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Rosenbluth, let me just paraphrase your question here.  So is it -- it is Andrew Mandyam speaking.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.

MR. MANDYAM:  Thank you.  Is it possible that the lowest-cost option does not deliver the lowest bills to the customers?

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Correct.

MR. MANDYAM:  We will caucus for a second, please.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking, Mr. Rosenbluth.  Can you hear me?

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  Great.  So our dialogue we really focused on is understanding the question.  But if -- in your question, if the choice is between a TS asset and a distribution asset, it is our understanding is that the regulatory model would have a TS asset, the cost is then borne by the system, transmission system customers, and so there would be a cost to Elexicon's ratepayers, as well as the broader Ontario ratepayers, versus in this proposal, the cost is being borne by the Whitby and the Whitby smart-grid Veridian ratepayers, Elexicon ratepayers.

So it's -- I am not trying to avoid the question, but I am trying to explain.  It is an apples-and-oranges question that we don't have a quantification around which one is better.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  No, and I appreciate, you know, what is better is, you know, that is a broad and subjective question.  But more narrowly than that, simply comparing the lowest-cost option versus the ultimate bill to the ratepayer, I am simply looking to confirm that those are not necessarily the same thing.

MR. MANDYAM:  Well, I guess I am getting twist-tied -- Andrew Mandyam.  I am getting twist-tied in my own regulatory thought.  But, yes.  They're two different items, I think, for that.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Okay, thank you.

And then just going back to the question and answer to item (b) here.  And, you know, I appreciate that Elexicon makes its investment decisions on the basis of overall system considerations and so on.  And the question (b) -- let me rephrase it this way.  Without attempting to suggest or presume that the incentives described in the question are determinative of the decision-making process -- I accept that that may not be the case -- but I guess my question is, I am still looking for a response to the question here.

MR. THOMPSON:  If I could just observe -- Daryn Thompson, as a system planner in general looking in.  This hasn't been studied, but it is very unlikely that a TS would be less expensive than extending some feeders.

Typically you need the feeders anyway, and you add the cost of the transmission station and the high voltage lines to get to it.  My gut tells me it is 50 or towards 100 million dollars more expensive than the option that has been selected.  

So your hypothetical, I feel like I could say a lot on what is best and not in your question, but it is so not likely that I struggle to answer.

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Fair enough.  Maybe -- accepting the premise is true -- and I acknowledge you don't necessarily actually accept the premise.  But hypothetically, if we accept that the premise is accurate, I am still interested in the answer to the question.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Take it away.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yes, it's a what would Elexicon do in this scenario question.  I don't know how you would answer it.


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  We will take that away.


[Court reporter appeals.]


MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking.  We will take that away as an undertaking, Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.4 and Lawren Murray OEB counsel.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO RESPOND TO THE QUESTION WHETHER THE VALUE OF THE LOST LOAD ACCOUNTS FOR THE VALUE OF THE LOWER SAIFI AND TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO PROVIDE SOME QUANTIFICATION OF THAT ADDITIONAL VALUE.  

MR. ROSENBLUTH:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray, Mr. Elson I believe you are up next.
Examination by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  Good afternoon.  Kent Elson for Environmental Defence.

I will be asking you some questions further to Environmental Defence interrogatory 1.  I should be fairly brief this morning.  

Starting on page 1 of ED 1, I am just looking at the table.  That is just an excerpt from the evidence.  And this is providing the annual benefit summary.

It shows a subtotal of savings that doesn't account for the reliability benefits as actually being a net cost.

I want to compare that to the table on page 3 of this interrogatory response.  This provides the customer 20-year NPV benefit summary.  So instead of annual it is over a specific period.

Then you have the subtotal of savings being a positive, even if you don't account for the reliability.

Can you tell me why we're coming up with a negative in one and a positive in the other.  I am assuming it has something 20 do with the length of the period that is addressed.  Can you shed some light on that?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking.  So the question, response in part (a) to table part A, page 3 looks at a 20-year timeline, as you referenced, Mr. Elson.

The incremental revenues from that 20 years far and away exceeds the operating expenses on a one-year -- when you look at table one on page 1 which shows a one-year basis.

So the short answer, the mathematic calculation is that the 20-year time horizon allows for the full benefit -- sorry, that benefit to materialize with respect to incremental revenues.

MR. ELSON:  And what would you say is the appropriate period over which to calculate the NPV of this project?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking.  I think a longer period than a shorter period is the way to look at this project delivering benefits to its customers.

To the extent that 20 years is, what we modelled based on your, the Environmental Defence question, it certainly is a number that should be relied on more so than one year, from Elexicon's perspective.

MR. ELSON:  And what's the expected lifetime of this equipment?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar.  Can you repeat the question?  The last part I didn't hear.


MR. ELSON:  I think you are just asking me to repeat the question.  I didn't catch quite catch that.

MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  I was asking what the expected lifetime of the equipment is that is being installed through the Whitby smart grid project.

MR. BOUDHAR:  So Hocine Boudhar here again.  The life expectancy of the equipment varies depending on what asset we're talking about.  So the mention of the material, there is software, there is switches, there is voltage regulators and capacitors, so we're talking about different life expectancy for each asset.

MR. ELSON:  That is fair.  I think maybe the best way to address this is by way of an undertaking.  I am a bit concerned that someone may look at this 20-year period and say that it is not an appropriate period and want to look at what is the lifetime of the assets.  But I don't think you can provide an answer as to what the average lifetime is on the spot here.

So the undertaking that we would request that you do is to recalculate the NPV of the Whitby smart grid project based on a time period that is equal to the average lifetime of the equipment.  And you can put in whatever caveats or assumptions necessary, and the more that you tell us how you came up with the number, the better.  Is that something you could do?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, we can do that, Mr. Elson.  Andrew Mandyam speaking.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray, OEB counsel.  That will be undertaking JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO RECALCULATE THE NPV OF THE WHITBY SMART GRID PROJECT BASED ON A TIME PERIOD THAT IS EQUAL TO THE AVERAGE LIFETIME OF THE EQUIPMENT; TO INCLUDE WHATEVER CAVEATS OR ASSUMPTIONS NECESSARY

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  This is Kent Elson again.  I am moving on to another question.  This is from page 3 of ED-1, part B and I just want to make sure that I understand the answer.

So we had asked what the forecasted revenues are from the incremental customers that would be served in relation to the sustainable Brooklin project.

That revenue is a bit more than 25 million dollars on a NPV basis.  Am I understanding this answer correctly?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking. Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And the cost is roughly $26 million.  So my understanding, this is roughly equalling out over this time period?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking again.  Those two values are approximately equal, correct.

MR. ELSON:  So my next question, which I really don't know the answer to is, would another option instead of exempting this project entirely from section -- I guess it is 3.2 of the Distribution System Code be to seek a longer attachment and a longer revenue period over which you do your economical calculations to come up with your contribution from the customers?

The reason I say that is the default is five year connections, I believe and, oh, what is it 10-  or 20-year revenue horizon.  Under this table with a longer horizon you are finding it breaks even.

Would that be another way to get to the same goal?  Or are there other issues in relation to you know risk and deposits and so on and so forth that would make that not feasible?

MR. MANDYAM:  We will caucus for a second.  It's Andrew Mandyam.  We will call caucus for a second.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MS. CHAN:  Cynthia Chan here.  I just wanted to get clarification with regards to your question.  Was your question a consideration of whether we have considered extending the customer connection horizon from five to, say, 15, 20 years?

MR. ELSON:  Well, maybe I should take a step back.

My understanding is that you're seeking a complete exemption from section 3.2 of the Distribution System Code.  Right?

MS. CHAN:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And my question is about an alternative.  Maybe you could call it a Plan B.  And I am going to phrase it a little bit differently than I did the first time, which is, would you be able to come back to the parties and the Board in an undertaking response with what I will describe as a Plan B if the Board doesn't support a full exemption from section 3.2 and instead allow for a customer connection horizon beyond five years and a customer revenue horizon beyond 25 years, which are beyond the sort of defaults in Appendix B of the Distribution System Code?  And whether that would meet the needs and goals of this project?  And specifically whether there might be other issues with that relating to deposits and so on and so forth?  You will have to confer with the Brooklin developers group, and I am sure they would prefer a complete exemption from section 3.2, but we're just trying to probe the feasibility of that as a Plan B.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Elson, can I -- it is Mr. Vellone here.  Can I chime in here briefly --


MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  -- just to clarify the legal request for relief sought in this application, because I think you are saying a complete exemption from section 3.2, and I don't think that is an accurate reflection of the legal request for relief in this application.

The applicants are seeking an exemption from section 3.2 only in respect of the Brooklin line, which is to say -- let me find this -- that the Brooklin line just gets the power to the area.  And then all of the subdivisions are going to be built out after that.

There is no exemption being sought in respect of the buildouts of the individual subdivisions.  And the expectation, I think, is the Distribution System Code would continue to apply to those individual subdivision buildouts.

So I just wanted to be clear on the relief sought in this application to see if that impacts the question you are asking.  And I will turn it back over to you.

MR. ELSON:  It may answer the question, in that the revenue that is generated would need to pay for the additional cost to connect the subdivisions up to the new line.  And so that may be the answer to the question.  But I think it would still be helpful to either have that confirmed now or after the fact.  I think you will need to take it away by way of undertaking, whether you can use the relief under Appendix B to seek an extension of the period for the customer connection horizon and the customer revenue horizon as an alternative way of getting at the same goals of this project.  Is that something you can take away?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  We will take that away.  Andrew Mandyam speaking.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray, OEB counsel.  That will be Undertaking JT1.6.


UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  To respond to the hypothetical posed in PWU-8 part b

MR. MURRAY:  And just for future undertakings, if people could please -- sometimes there is a bit of back-and-forth between the witness panel and the questioner.  If at the end of that if they would restate kind of succinctly on the record exactly what the undertaking is, that will assist the court reporter in getting things ready quickly and accurately.  So I would ask that people keep that in mind and try to restate the undertaking just so it is clear on the record.  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Murray, I was afraid you were going to ask me that question.  I will do my best to restate it, which is to provide an undertaking response exploring an alternative option of meeting the goals of the sustainability project that involve, instead of an exemption from section 3.2, an extension of the customer connection horizon and the customer revenue horizon under Appendix B of the DSC.

So I will move on to another question, which relates to maybe another yardstick with which to look at the kind of exemption that you are seeking here.

And I understand -- and Mr. Mandyam, you are, I'm sure, quite familiar with the differing rules that apply in the context of a gas distribution expansion such as the 10-year customer attachment forecast and the 40-year revenue horizon.

I would just request, by undertaking, that Elexicon provide a table comparing the rules in the gas context and in the electricity context, both in terms of customer contribution and deposits as -- I mean, I can summarize that in my submissions, but I think it is more helpful if Elexicon can provide that and have that as a yardstick.  Is that something you can undertake to do?

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking.  Mr. Elson, let me play back the undertaking that we would -- that we would undertake.

It is a table comparing the natural gas expansion rules for Enbridge as basically phase 1, phase 2, et cetera, with the electric context for particularly the rules applying to electricity distributors expanding.

MR. ELSON:  Just the economic analysis.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  Not the test.  So I think it is an appendix of, I guess it is EBO 188 and the Appendix B of the DSC.  Is that something you can provide?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, we can provide that.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE COMPARING THE NATURAL GAS EXPANSION RULES FOR ENBRIDGE AS BASICALLY PHASE 1, PHASE 2, ET CETERA, WITH THE ELECTRIC CONTEXT FOR PARTICULARLY THE RULES APPLYING TO ELECTRICITY DISTRIBUTORS EXPANDING, JUST THE ECONOMIC ANALYSIS, NOT THE TEST, SO AN APPENDIX OF EBO 188 AND THE APPENDIX B OF THE DSC.

MR. ELSON:  Moving on to page 5 of this interrogatory response.  We had asked in part D, which is, I guess, at the bottom of page 4, for confirmation that a number of benefits that arise from this project will -- you know, are not included in the NPV analysis that you undertook.

Then in part E we asked you to as best as you can estimate what the value of those benefits are.

And the first benefit that we asked you to look at was the benefits to customers who will install DERs or EVs and will save money because they will have had a house that already has a rough-in instead of having to do a retrofit.  I had two questions to follow up on evaluation of that.

My first question is if you could undertake to talk to the Brooklin developers' group and come up with an estimate of how much a customer would save on a customer-by-customer basis by not having to do a retrofit and already having the rough-ins for the DER and the EV.

The reason I ask for that is that you provided a number that was, I think, more than double and the Brooklin developers' group said 300 percent plus.  It would just be helpful to have one number on the record rather than two.  

So if you could just put your heads together and let us know what a reasonable estimate would be, that would be helpful.  You will need to put in caveats, because there are a number of different you know possible scenarios, but if you could come up with an estimate or a range instead of two numbers, that would be helpful.

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking.  Mr. Elson an estimate of per home avoided cost from a retrofit, avoided retrofit cost?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  For customers who would be using them.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, we can take that as an undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray, OEB counsel.  That will be JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF PER HOME AVOIDED RETROFIT COST.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And the next part of what you would need to calculate what that benefit would mean for Elexicon customers would be to have an estimate of how many of these houses will eventually install solar power and/or EVs and that is an estimate that you don't have.

I am wondering if you would undertake to calculate for example the bookends, or provide some sort of indication, not a single, you know, potential study estimate, more so just a kind of range so that we can get an idea of what the dollar value of this is.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Elson, Andrew Mandyam speaking.  Would a range falling into what we already have on the record, which are under METSCO's report which are deferral of assets based on a 12 percent, I think it is 32 percent or 33 percent, and 53 percent penetration or adoption of DERs and EVs, would those three values of that -- avoided costs from those?

MR. ELSON:  I think so.  And maybe that is something that is best if you take it away and then in the undertaking can explain either where those numbers come from or point us to the evidence and, as to how those bookmarks are reasonable, then, yes, that would be very helpful.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay.  So just to clarify.  Andrew Mandyam speaking again.  Undertaking to basically calculate -- is it the NPV or the net present value of the avoided costs based on certain adoption rates of ERs and EVs in North Brooklin?

MR. ELSON:  Perfect.  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be -- Lawren Murray OEB counsel.  That will be undertaking JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO CALCULATE THE NPV OR THE NET PRESENT VALUE OF THE AVOIDED COSTS BASED ON CERTAIN ADOPTION RATES OF ERs AND EVS IN NORTH BROOKLIN.


MR. ELSON:  I have I believe it is one more question on this interrogatory, specifically relating to the benefits from the Whitby smart grid project.  This relates to Hydro One -- sorry, Hydro Ottawa.

In Hydro Ottawa's settlement, they say that a pilot of a Grid Edge Volt-VAR control solution will be complete by the end of 2020; if this pilot is successful Hydro One shall increase the deployment of these or equivalent units.

Would Elexicon be willing to contact Hydro One and ask if they can share any of their results or lessons learned from this project?  Of course that will be on a best-efforts basis.  If Hydro Ottawa has nothing to provide to you, then there is nothing that you will be able to provide on the record.  But I think the Board may be assisted by that kind of information.

MR. MANDYAM:  First, Andrew Mandyam speaking.  First you mentioned Hydro One and Hydro Ottawa, I am not sure which utility --


MR. ELSON:  My apologies.  I do that all the time.

MR. MANDYAM:  That's okay.

MR. ELSON:  It is only Hydro Ottawa.

MR. MANDYAM:  Hydro Ottawa.

MR. ELSON:  What I am referring to.

MR. MANDYAM:  Continuing Hydro Ottawa, you are asking for Elexicon to put on the record some conversations that it is going to have with Hydro Ottawa about that project that?  What...

MR. ELSON:  I don't think you would expected to paraphrase.  Just to contact Hydro Ottawa to let them know that you have been asked to contact them by way of an undertaking to put some evidence on the record in this proceeding about the results or lessons learned from this pilot.

Of course if the answer is no, then the answer from them is no.  But I think it is worthwhile reaching out to them to see whether they have something that would be helpful for the Board to know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could interject to ask, can you ask them please if they have internal or public documents reporting on the results of that which they almost certainly will?  And get those?  If you can.

MR. VELLONE:  I will qualify, John Vellone here.  I will qualify.  We can try, Mr. Shepherd but we don't have any ability to compel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're likely to be co-operative, I think.

MR. VELLONE:  We can try.

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam just clarifying this undertaking.

Elexicon communicates with Hydro Ottawa to and inform them by way of undertaking that we're asking to see if Hydro Ottawa could provide some material metrics and reports on lessons learned and outcomes of the -- I think it is the Grid Edge Volt Var project?  Am I correct, Mr. Elson?  Projects that they said they would undertake in their 2020 settlement agreement?

MR. ELSON:  They describe it in the settlement agreement as a Grid Edge Volt-VAR control and as deploying those or similar such units.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Elson, is this the one in Kanata they're doing?


MR. ELSON:  I don't know.

MR. MURRAY:  If anybody could help us out.

MR. VELLONE:  I am trying to understand the relevance because a Grid Edge Volt-VAR pilot I thought is about managing capacity on the grid, capacity draw for the TS.  Mr. Thompson may be -- it might be slightly different than the implementation being proposed here.

MR. ELSON:  That would be helpful to know in your undertaking response.  Mr. Vellone, I think your answer "we will try" is sufficient.

And if, you know, if the information is not useful then just let us know.  But I just know there is another major utility who is deploying either the same or adjacent I guess you could say technology, and if there is lessons learned, then it would be good to know.

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking.  Yes. We can take that undertaking, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray OEB counsel.  Perhaps you could restate the undertaking one more time because there was a lot of back and forth.

MR. MANDYAM:  Andrew Mandyam speaking here.  Correct me if I'm wrong if I am wrong, Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Elson.  

Elexicon to communicate with Hydro Ottawa on a best-efforts basis to gather information on lessons learned or any public information that with respect to metrics or outcomes on their project that was agreed to in their settlement agreement, last settlement agreement that pertains to Grid Edge Volt-VAR control technology.

MR. ELSON:  Sounds good.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  ELEXICON TO COMMUNICATE WITH HYDRO OTTAWA ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS TO GATHER INFORMATION ON LESSONS LEARNED OR ANY PUBLIC INFORMATION THAT WITH RESPECT TO METRICS OR OUTCOMES ON THEIR PROJECT THAT WAS AGREED TO IN THEIR SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, LAST SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT THAT PERTAINS TO GRID EDGE VOLT-VAR CONTROL TECHNOLOGY.


MR. ELSON:  I am looking now at page 2 of ED 4.  In part D of the response you say Elexicon plans to install bi-directional meters for the new construction noted in North Brooklin.  Would you be installing bidirectional meters regardless of whether you secure the approvals in this proceeding?  Or only if you receive the approvals that you have requested here?

MR. BOUDHAR:  We will be installing bidirectional meters regardless of the outcome of this application.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I believe those are our questions and I can advise that we will not have any questions for panel 2 because all of our questions were fully answered today.  So thank you very much for those helpful responses.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Elson.  It is Lawren Murray, OEB counsel.  Perhaps now would be a good time to take the morning break and we will come back at 11:05.
--- Recess taken at 10:52 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:04 a.m.

MR. MURRAY:  We will go back on the record.  Thank you, everyone.  We are back at the technical conference.  Next on the list is CCMBC.  Mr. Ladanyi, the floor is yours.
Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Again, for the record, my name is Tom Ladanyi, and I represent CCMBC.  I am a consultant.  I am not a lawyer.

So if we can first turn to CCMBC number 2, and we can have on the screen, please.  So in this interrogatory I asked about -- because I quoted in the preamble from your evidence on page 44 that you are providing capacity to a group of residential developers, and I asked about different things about the capacity.  And if I can just draw your attention to question C:  What is the number of new homes that the quoted sentence refers to?  And you said there were between 10,000 to 11,200 homes.

Can you tell me how many will be added in the first five years?  Or built in the first five years?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, it is Andrew Mandyam speaking.  And I believe the -- we don't have an exact number, but it is on average 700 homes per year.  So approximately 3,500.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.

So if you could turn to question D.  I asked:  What is the cost of capacity per new home?  The answer D, and you said the cost of capacity is approximately $2,300 per home.

And then you said:
"Elexicon's innovative, sustainable Brooklin project has garnered commitment from the developers to invest approximately 2,260 to construct DER and EV-ready homes."

So is it coincidence that the cost per home is 2,300 and that the developers made a commitment to invest 2,260, close to $2,300 per home, to make the DER and EV-ready homes?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, I guess it is a coincidence, yes.  There is no -- yeah, I will leave it at that.

MR. LADANYI:  So you didn't actually work backwards from some number and try to come to a number that they could -- if they divided by number of homes it would come up cost per home.  You did not do that?

MR. MANDYAM:  I can confirm, Mr. Ladanyi, that we did not do that.

MR. LADANYI:  All right.  If you look at question E, E:  Is there a signed agreement or a contract regarding the provision of "capacity" between Elexicon Energy and the Brooklin Landowners Group?  And your answer is that there is no signed agreement or a contract.

So if there is no signed agreement or contract, how was this commitment garnered that you talk about?  You talk about commitment.  But what is this commitment?  Because there is no contract.  There is no piece of paper.  Is this some kind of a handshake?  What is this?

MS. CHAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, to respond to your question, this was via conversations with the developers, and this is precisely why we are requesting approval for the Sustainable Brooklin, where we are requesting the exemption, and as part of that request we are asking for the OEB in its decision to include this condition with respect to building the EV, DER-ready homes into the decision, whereby Elexicon will then have to include that decision in the agreement with the Brooklin developers.

MR. LADANYI:  So this was a verbal agreement.  But did you take notes?  Do you have a transcript of it?  Do you have some kind of a document whereby you reported on this agreement to your senior management?

MS. CHAN:  Well, in terms of documentation, everything we have provided in the evidence in our documentation within the application.  So for example, in our presentation to the Whitby Town Council we have discussed that commitment in that presentation.

MR. LADANYI:  In verbal commitments, say, between two parties, oftentimes each party might have a different impression of what they agreed to, and since there is no paper to support it, I guess we will have to go with that.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, it is Andrew Mandyam here.  I believe I can find it at some point in the break, but -- maybe my teammates can help me, but BLGI, Brooklin Landowners Group, did -- in one of their supplementary responses did commit to the rough-ins -- commit to the rough-ins being implemented -- installed, I should say, based on the OEB approval of the DSC exemption.

I don't have that.  So that is a more firm than a verbal conversation.

The fact they're supporting that, I think you can take it as it is a commitment.

MR. LADANYI:  Yeah.

MR. MANDYAM:  I will find that.  Do you want me to take an undertaking to point that to you?  I can do that.

MR. LADANYI:  No.  I think there are a lot of undertakings, so I will take you on your word, and you can check over lunch hour, because I think you will be back after lunch, and then you can tell me whether you found the document, and if not I can follow up with the developers tomorrow.

MR. MANDYAM:  Thank you for your consideration, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  You're welcome.

Now, if we can turn to interrogatory CCMBC number 3, please.  In the preamble I am quoting from your Appendix B2, page 13.  ICM funding of 26.657 million for the sustainable Brooklin project in the WRZ and an exemption for the Brooklin Line as more full more fully described in Appendix B-2, from section 3.2 of the Distribution System Code, DSC, and the DSC exemption, which would otherwise require Elexicon to collect a capital contribution from the local developers toward the cost of constructing and operating the Brooklin Line.

And I have asked you to file a copy of section 3.2 of the Distribution System Code, and you did that.

And in question -- now, before we go any further, can you turn, actually, to this attachment, please, which is section 3.2.  It is a fairly large document, as you can see.

So can you point me, is this whole thing a problem, or is this a particular problem that you are having with some parts of it?  You couldn't possibly be having problems with everything in it.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, there are -- there's another undertaking that I don't have a reference to, but we listed out particularly all the sections, the actual sub-clauses that we did have as an issue or found that we would want the specific exemption applying to.

I can talk to it in the broadest sense while my team is helping me out here.

The point 1, it -- 3.2.1 is the main clause that starts dealing with expansions.

By the way, it is Staff 31 that points to -- thank you, team -- that points to the -- or lists out the particular sections.

I can take you through this, but --


MR. LADANYI:  No, that's fine.

MR. MANDYAM:  -- should I leave you to read it?

MR. LADANYI:  I will read those.  I will just ask you some specific questions.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, I see here that you mentioned 3.2.1.  So it's an initial economic evaluation is not required.  So you do not want to do an economic evaluation?

MR. MANDYAM:  We're seeking an exemption for that -- from that, particularly, and the company is seeking that in lieu of the quid pro quo arrangement, where the Brooklin landowners implement DER-enabled -- DER and EV-enabled homes.

MR. LADANYI:  Did you actually do an economic evaluation?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar speaking here.  At the moment we requested from finance an economic evaluation, but we haven't got the results yet.

MR. LADANYI:  You actually don't have it.  This is interesting.  Now, when I asked you to file this -- by the way, can you look at 3.2.2.  Back to the interrogatory response.  It says final economic evaluation shall be based on forecasted revenues, actual costs incurred, including but not limited to the costs for the work...

I won't read the whole thing.  So you're saying you do not want to do even a final economic evaluation?  You don't want to do anything?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, the company -- so in evaluating the project, the project in total has two phases.  One is this extension line, which the company is seeking an -- DSC exemption for.  And, two, is the ultimate connection from the demarcation point, the end of this Sustainable Brooklin extension Line to the subdivisions and the homes.

So just - there is two phases, just to put context.  When you're evaluating the, doing the economic evaluation for any expansion, you look at the revenues, as you correctly pointed out.  And this extension line, going as it is to demarcation point from the Whitby TS, is basically having no revenues.

So the simple math of it is, zero revenues, 26.6 million dollars of costs, results in a full contribution.

MR. LADANYI:  But it only has no revenues because you have decided to split it into two phases.  If it was all one phase, one project, it would have all kind of revenues, wouldn't it?

MR. MANDYAM:  Well, am I still muted?  No.  Well, all kind of revenues is a broad statement.

It would have -- if you combined it into one project, you would have revenues showing up over 20 years, which is the basically the Brooklin Landowners Group, basically constructing homes over 20 years.

However, you know from the view of Elexicon, with the five-year connection horizon and the 20-year, there is an incompatibility between the five years connection horizon and the 20-year timeline that the Brooklin developers are forecasting to construct all the 11,000 homes.

From Elexicon's perspective and helping its customers out, we saw that -- it saw that separating it into two phases, dealing directly with the connection from the demarcation point to each subdivision as it is constructed and getting individual contracts with them would be the most beneficial, giving those subdivisions that five year connection horizon window in a phase 2, particular to at that subdivision being delivered, would give the best -- and then separating out phase 1 to be what it is and our exemption and what not, was the best solution.  Hopefully that longer answer gives you some context.

MR. LADANYI:  I'm understanding what you did.  I don't agree with it, but that's fine.  That is what you did.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Ladanyi --

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Just to help you with your line of questioning, perhaps.  You may want to clarify whether the specific customer requesting connection is the same or different before you decide to go down the road of trying to combine these, because my understanding is they're all different.

MR. LADANYI:  Excuse me, how would they be different?  I don't understand what you are talking about.

MR. VELLONE:  Maybe I will turn it over to the witness panel to give evidence here.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, where Mr. Vellone -- so the extension, the Sustainable Brooklin extension, the portion that is seeking the DSC exemption is the customer is the Brooklin lands group and they listed out all of the participants.  There is some 13 to 16 developers that make up that group, if I am correct.

Then when we get to phase 2, which is this actual connection from the demarcation point to individual subdivisions, each of those are individual contracts, offers to connect with those Brooklin Landowner Group members but on an individual basis.

So the customer is one group, a group of one in the Brooklin extension, and the customer is actually customers, the members, plus others if they decide to connect, other developers not in the Brooklin Landowner Group membership.  Does that help?

MR. LADANYI:  You are defining customers here as developers.  But aren't customers in the Distribution System Code the actual ratepayers, the end use customers, the people who are going to be paying rates to Elexicon?

MR. MANDYAM:  I believe customer is defined as an individual entity or a group in the DSC, and it is in one of those pages that we were just on here, actually.

So the group can be deemed -- is deemed a customer in this case.

MR. LADANYI:  But you are seeking an exemption from the entire DSC section 3.2.  But you can't, if you are seeking exemption -- that is will be part of argument as well -- you can't rely on parts that you are seeking exemptions from.  

Anyway, let's go on.  This is interesting, because I believe the appropriate treatment for this would have been to take revenues off up to 3500 customers and for the life, I think 20 years that is in the appendix B-2, and we can actually turn to appendix B-2.  It may be a good time to have a look at it now.

When I actually asked you to file appendix B, you didn't actually -- sorry, section 3.2, you did not file appendix B-2.  So that is why I sent an e-mail yesterday saying if you could have it available so we can have a look at it.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, would you like that put on the record too?

MR. LADANYI:  I would like that put on the record, please.  Can we have an exhibit for that.

MR. MANDYAM:  Or we can file it as an undertaking.  I don't know which is best 

MR. LADANYI:  I think exhibit is better.  So that will be exhibit, is it K1.1?


MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Ladanyi, it's Lawren Murray, OEB counsel Exhibit K1.1.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, Exhibit K1.1.

MR. LADANYI:  Right.

MR. MURRAY:  KT1.1.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  Appendix B of the Distribution System Code.

MR. LADANYI:  Can we turn to page 2.

MR. VELLONE:  For the benefit of the transcript this is page 2 of the DSC, so the panel can follow along with you, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So it says revenue forecasting.  It talks about revenue forecast per customer and so on, and it talks about the revenue horizon and that is what I want to talk about.  It is in part B, customer revenue horizon as specified below.

And it says C is estimate of energy, average energy and demand per customer by project, which reflects the mix of customers to be added to various classes of customers.  This should be carried out by class, and so on.  So there is a fair amount of detail.

If you would turn to, then, to page 4, please.  In page 4 you can see there that we are talking about a maximum horizon of five years and I think that with what Mr. Elson referred to earlier and the revenue horizon of 25 years.

So I am still puzzled why it would not take into your calculation customer connection horizon, bringing it to 3500 customers over five years and then have revenues from these 3500 customers for 25 years.  Why would you not do a calculation like that?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar speaking here.  Just as my colleague Mr. Mandyam here mentioned, there would be no revenue considered.  If we're considering -- obviously we decided to split this project into two phases, like was mentioned.  Phase 1 which benefit the whole Brooklin development group as one customer, and then the phase 2 which basically different or treating different customers connecting to that feeder at different times.

So and it would be treated, every customer would be treated separately on the economic evaluation.

If you consider basically Phase 1 and phase 2 together you may not see any, or probably there is very small revenue on that five-year connection horizon.  So that is basically the main reason why we split the connection into two phases.

MR. LADANYI:  Who gets the revenues for the first five years?  They have been paid to Elexicon or somebody else?

MR. MANDYAM:  The revenues from the 3,500 customers, Mr. Ladanyi?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, yes.  People who --


MR. MANDYAM:  It goes to Elexicon.

MR. LADANYI:  It goes to Elexicon.  Okay.  And you are under a deferred rebasing plan right now.  You are deferred until when?

MR. MANDYAM:  January 1, 2029 is the effective rates for -- rebased effective rates.

MR. LADANYI:  So that would then go to the bottom line, and that would essentially go to the shareholder, because you are on rebasing.  Am I right?  Deferred rebasing?  And you want the customers to pay an ICM to essentially pay for this line, but you want the revenues to go to the shareholder.  Am I understanding this right?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, I don't believe the math works that way.  There is a cost associated with it.  Revenues, yes, they go to Elexicon.  There is a cost associated with that.

So in the case of the Elexicon's proposal there is a phase 2.  You know, I want to address another point, but let me go to your direct point -- question.

So there is a phase 2.  A customer gets attached to Elexicon.  There is revenue that is associated with that customer based on a forecast basis.  There is actuals.  But there is also a cost associated, the -- Elexicon has to basically spend the money to run the wires, et cetera, to connect them.

So that cost as the whole economic evaluation model is done, as I understand, it's done on a declining basis.  Elexicon puts the cost upfront and, over the course of 25 years, should the forecast revenues match the cost, there is no capital contribution, capital aid in contribution.

So it is not like -- I was taking it, and maybe incorrectly, so apologies if I was, I was taking your statement that Elexicon's -- the revenues that Elexicon takes are going all to the bottom line.  There is a cost associated that doesn't --


MR. LADANYI:  Yeah, I know.  I'm sorry.  Perhaps I made it very simple.  Not gross revenues, so it's meaning earnings.  But anyway, I will leave it at that.  Actually, you can -- I am advising your counsel to explain this in argument, what exactly is -- like, how this is going to work, or would you like to do an undertaking?

MR. MANDYAM:  How is what supposed to work?

MR. LADANYI:  What you just explained to me, because -- can you explain to me how this is not benefiting shareholders, and would you like to take an undertaking of that?  Or would you rather explain it in argument?  Either way is fine with me.  I would like to understand why there's not --


MR. VELLONE:  It seems to be -- might be a matter of argument, yeah, because it's not a question that's in evidence.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah.  We will do it with our reply argument.  Is that okay, Mr. Ladanyi?

MR. LADANYI:  Fine.

MR. MANDYAM:  The other point -- I don't want to belabour this one.  Just -- and so -- I am not trying to convince you otherwise.  It is beneficial to the customers, and Elexicon is looking out for its customers.

These Brooklin developers, all 13 of them, will be coming in staged phases over a course of the time spectrum.

It is best for Elexicon and best for the customer in this case, these 13 members, to get their offer to connect synchronized with the time that they're going to construct so that they maximize the five-year connection horizon, which you are bringing out.

So I just want to bring that point up.  So that is why the Phase 2 individual contracts is the preferred solution from Elexicon's perspective and, frankly, from the way the DSC is organized.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Thank you.  We'd better move on.  I have a lot of questions, so --


MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, yes, go ahead.

MR. LADANYI:  -- [speaking over each other] the points.

So the same interrogatory.  Look at question D.  It says the quoted text suggested local developers would otherwise pay an operating cost.  And I was asking, what is the amount of this operating cost and how and when would the local developers pay it?

And your answer D, I actually don't understand your answer.  You said there is no operating cost.

And I thought that usually for lines there would be, let's say vegetation management or some kind of operating cost.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar speaking.  So when referring to maintenance costs, yes, vegetation management and other OM&A costs are part of basically the maintenance of that line that we build.

MR. LADANYI:  So Elexicon would pay for that, not the developers; is that right?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, yes.  Basically, within basic -- in base rates --


MR. LADANYI:  No, base rates don't -- oh, base rates don't change, actually.  They're -- they don't change --


MR. MANDYAM:  Correct.

MR. LADANYI:  -- until 2029.

MR. MANDYAM:  So there is -- okay.  So there is the base rates, which Elexicon conducts its regular operations and maintenance, et cetera.  Under the economic evaluation model, as I understand it, there is also incremental O&M that is factored into that economic evaluation model.

So to the extent that Phase 2 has each developer having an offer to connect and an economic evaluation model that is used to calculate, whether there is a capital contribution needed by that developer, there would be incremental OM&A or operating expense that is factored in by the Board's formula.

MR. LADANYI:  So is it part of the ICM or is it not part of the ICM that you are asking for?

MR. MANDYAM:  Can we just caucus?

(Witness panel enters breakout room at 11:33 a.m.)

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar I will try to answer your question here.  There will be obviously an OM&A incremental cost resulting from the build of those lines.

We can take an undertaking to do an economic evaluation based on the 26 million that we're asking for and see what is the OM&A cost resulting from that evaluation.

MR. LADANYI:  Before I let you go with the undertaking.  What exactly would you be looking at?  Are you going to be looking at whether the $26.whatever million the ICM is enough?  Or are you going to tell us that somewhere this operating cost is hidden inside the 26.67 million?  What are you looking for here?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar here.  The 26.6 is for the capital cost.  The economic evaluation will determine the OM&A cost as a result for that, the capital contribution -- the capital portion of it is going to be the same with zero revenue, anticipating a same amount we'll be asking for.  But the evaluation will tell us what is the OM&A cost result from that evaluation, from that economic evaluation.

MR. LADANYI:  Is this going to be per year and it is going to be a discounted cashflow?  What exactly are you going to do?  I am having a hard time understanding.

MR. BOUDHAR:  The OM&A costs I am going to have to check the model, the economic evaluation model.  I believe it is per year, per customer.

MR. LADANYI:  So I am still troubled.  This line will be depreciating.  It will have other -- it will be paying property taxes, as I understand.  There will be all kind of maintenance probably on it and you are going to tell us all of these things, so we will see all of the details and then you will do some calculations with it?  Is that what you are going to do?

MR. BOUDHAR:  I'm sorry.  Calculations?

MR. LADANYI:  You're going to calculate some kind of economic analysis.  Are you going to do some kind of present value analysis?  What are you going to do with this?


MR. BOUDHAR:  I am assuming we're looking for the OM&A costs as a result of this Brooklin line.

MR. LADANYI:  So it will be just a simple spreadsheet.  No present value of anything?

MR. BOUDHAR:  No.  I don't believe there will be any net present value, no.

MR. LADANYI:  So if we can have the undertaking, that would be JT1 point -- is it seven?

MR. MANDYAM:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray, OEB counsel.  I believe it is JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO PROVIDE A SPREADSHEET SHOWING THE OPERATING COSTS OF THIS LINE PER YEAR, WITH EXPLANATIONS.

MR. LADANYI:  Eleven.  Okay I am way behind.  This will be a spreadsheet showing the operating costs of this line per year, with explanations.

Actually I have one final question.  This is a very difficult interrogatory, I didn't realize it would be this hard.

In part (e) I am asking about the developers.  So I understand from what was discussed this morning that not all developers are part of the Brooklin Landowners Group.  There will be other developers coming on the scene who will want to be connected at a later date.  And then Elexicon is going to ask them to make some kind of a contribution.

And let's say 10 years from now a new developer comes and wants to build some houses.  And they got the land and everything else.  Then what would Elexicon ask them to pay?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, so should the Board approve the sustainable Brooklin ICM project as filed, the order would stipulate a -- that all contracts signed -- offers to connect with developers in the Brooklin area, whether they be part of the Brooklin group or not, would either build, construct the homes which are DER-enabled as per the documentation on the record; or they would pay a capital contribution per home of 2,260 dollars.  So that would be an order.  That would be an order to Elexicon.

Elexicon would include that in the contract, the offer to connect.  And if an unforecasted or sorry a developer came in year ten that was not part of the Brooklin Landowner Group, that would be the offer that would be made to them.  They would have a choice.

MR. LADANYI:  But wouldn't there be inflation between now and year ten?  So the $2260 wouldn't mean the same in 10 years from now as it would now.  Would there be some kind of an escalation?  Are you proposing this escalate by the inflation rate?

MR. MANDYAM:  In our request we have not asked for that.  We did not ask for that in our request.

Should the Board decide that is the appropriate, that indexing to inflation is the appropriate method, then Elexicon will follow the Board's order.

MR. LADANYI:  I consider this very complicated but, again, I will deal with that in argument.

If we can go to interrogatory CCMBC number 4.  Is it says in the preamble, Elexicon requests that a condition of the OEB's approval of the DSC exemption be that all developers that may stand to benefit from the Brooklin Line will construct DER and EV ready homes or buildings as specified in appendix B-2 of this application.

And I have several questions on this, and I think this is a good segue from your last answer.  

Considering that developers are not regulated by the OEB, please explain why Elexicon believes that the OEB would set such a condition.  And you directed me to Staff 21, and I also asked a couple of other questions and in all three you directed me to Staff 21.

I also asked would the OEB have to inspect each new home that is built by the developers that may stand to benefit over the years to ensure that the condition is met.  And in part C I asked, for how many years would the OEB need to inspect the construction of new homes and who would pay for such inspections.  Apparently all of this is in Staff 21.

So can you take me to Staff 21 and explain to me where this is all answered.

MS. CHAN:  Thank you.  I am at Board Staff 21 right now.  I am trying to remember all of the questions that were listed out.

So with regards to holding the, sorry including the conditions within our agreements, here we have noted the OEB does have jurisdiction over Elexicon, as Mr. Mandyam has previously mentioned, and therefore our request in our application is for the OEB to include those conditions as part of our order.

So we will -- Elexicon will include those conditions, which is stipulated here in terms of either constructing DER/EV ready homes or payment of a capital contribution.

With respect to the inspections, or sorry to ensure that the conditions have been met, in part B we did note there is an intention to put procedures into place to ensure that this is being done.

So one of the examples of one of these procedures as we have noted in the last sentence there is for Elexicon to do spot checks and inspections of these to ensure and confirm that the construction do proceed with the required EV and DER rough-ins.

MR. LADANYI:  Who would do these inspections?

MS. CHAN:  As we noted here we anticipate that Elexicon will be performing these inspections.

MR. LADANYI:  And it will be informing OEB of the results of these project inspections over a period of, what, 20 years?

MS. CHAN:  I believe it would be a 20-year period.

MR. LADANYI:  And someone at the OEB will be receiving these reports?  And you expect they're going to do what with it?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, the OEB's compliance department, you know -- I think it is up to the OEB and the panel, the commissioners that decide this case, to basically put some concept of the procedures that Ms. Chan has outlined. 

It is hard for us to say what the OEB is going to do with it, but we do -- from Elexicon's perspective, you know, the outcome more than likely would be that if inspections fail, capital contributions need to be collected.

So, you know, offers to connect can have conditions within it, clauses that ensure that, you know, there is liability and protections for the customers based on the OEB approving the case as [audio dropout]


MR. LADANYI:  I am still having an awful lot of trouble with this.  This sounds very complicated.

Let's say in 15 years from now somebody will do an inspection for Elexicon, a spot-check inspection, and say, we have done a spot-check inspection and these ten houses don't have DER- and EV-ready connections, and we are reporting this now.  And then what?  And OEB will then -- some person at the OEB, some employee of the OEB, will read this and --


MR. MANDYAM:  Oh, no.

MR. LADANYI:  -- reply -- reply: Please ensure that the builder who built these homes pays a contribution.  Is that what is going to happen?

MR. MANDYAM:  No, no, Mr. Ladanyi.  The contract is between Elexicon and the developer.  The contract will be subject to the OEB's conditions as worded -- let's assume hypothetically and for the benefit of this situation, Elexicon will have a contract with customer Ladanyi.  Ladanyi doesn't install these DER rough-ins.  Elexicon inspects it and finds this out.  In the contract, a developer Ladanyi is liable for the amount to pay Elexicon $2,260 or whatever value is stipulated by the OEB in their condition, per home.  So that is X dollars times ten homes.  And that money goes from developer Ladanyi back into Elexicon's revenues as capital contributions and is recorded on its books.

So the OEB is informed of it.  However, that would be a -- that could be a process, just to give you -- it's not -- I don't think it is that complex.  It may be complex from your perspective.

MR. LADANYI:  Would you require that access to these homes -- I am visualizing this event 15 years from now.  Some inspector will drive up to a house in North Brooklin and is going to do some kind of an inspection and say what?

Like, for example, I am familiar, let's say, with EV connections, because sometimes they're in the garage.  So you would not know if there is an EV connection, would you?

MR. MANDYAM:  Ah, so inspections would happen before the construction -- this is a rough-in, right?  So the rough-in is before the house is occupied --


MR. LADANYI:  Before it's occupied.

MR. MANDYAM:  And I had another point to make, but I have lost it now.  Age has got me.  Apologies.  But, yes, so we would -- oh, sorry, my point was, we haven't talked about it, but there is a DER enabling program.

So this -- you know, at that juncture you're talking about, ten, 15 years out, Elexicon, should the OEB approve this application as filed, put the conditions in that we're all talking about, this hypothetical, Elexicon would have already filed and hopefully gotten approval for its DER enabling program.  So then it's also going to work with the customer that ultimately owns that home.

But to get back to your hypothetical, Elexicon would have in its contract the ability to inspect the homes prior to occupancy.  Therefore, it could validate them.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Well, thank you.  It's --


MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Ladanyi, to the extent I can be helpful here, Elexicon is asking for the OEB to make this condition an order, and they asked for that relief specifically, because Elexicon is legally bound to comply with orders of the OEB.

And then that subsequently triggers a whole series of compliance inspection audit rights that the OEB has over Elexicon's activities, just like it can with regards to compliance of the Distribution System Code.

So I think from an OEB perspective, by asking for an order, Elexicon is then duty-bound to comply, and all of this implementation stuff is really for Elexicon to deal with in their agreements with developers.

What am I missing from your questioning here?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, I am actually trying to understand whether OEB can actually issue such an order, and I might argue that OEB cannot issue such an order as what you are asking.  But let's move on.  That will be an argument.

Okay.  Let's go to CCMBC number 5.  Part (a), the answer to part (a).  I won't read you the question.  I can read you the question.  The quoted text indicates that 2,260 capital contribution per home or building was calculated by the Brooklin Landowners Group.  Does Elexicon agree with the estimate and adopt it as its own?  If the answer is yes, is that the amount the approximate estimate of making a home DER- and EV-ready?  And if the answer is no, please explain why not and provide the correct estimate per home.

And your answer is:

"Elexicon -- answer A -- accepts the Brooklin Landowners Group cost estimates of 2,260 to construct DER- and EV-ready homes.  To the best of Elexicon's knowledge, the cost estimate seems reasonable."

So reasonable is -- suppose they said 3,500.  Would that seem reasonable?  I am trying to understand on what this reasonableness test that you are applying here?

MS. CHAN:  Perhaps, Mr. Ladanyi, we can direct you to our response to Staff 18, part (b).  I believe when we were speaking to the reasonableness, we have noted in our response here that the methodology and the resources that the Brooklin Landowners Group have used in order to come up with the estimate is reasonable, and they have sourced multiple quotes directly from the trades to inform their estimate.  It is an estimate.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Do you have a copy of this document where they explain this to you?  Or is this also verbally?  Do you have any document from them about this estimate?

MR. VELLONE:  I believe they provide information in their subsequent IRs, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  So --


MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, I think Staff 17.

MR. LADANYI:  Staff 17?  Okay.  If we can go there.

MR. MANDYAM:  I am going to go there myself.  I think it gives us some more detail.  It is their detail.  "Their" being the Brooklin Landowners Group.

MR. LADANYI:  So, yeah, but my question -- that's nice.  And --


MR. MANDYAM:  If you can go up, please, Brandon.

MR. LADANYI:  I wanted to know whether they informed you in writing of this.  That was the question.  Not what the numbers were.  Do you have a document from them?

MR. MANDYAM:  The only document that they provided us was the -- on page -- we filed it in our pre-filed Appendix B.  I am going to try to find the page.  It is the Brooklin Landowners forecast, which is -- they did provide us a page with the forecast.  Sorry for this.  That's what -- anyway, that is the piece that the Brooklin Landowners Group gave us, and they told us the 2,260 in there.  It is used to calculate the -- it is on page 45 of 56 of Appendix B.

MR. LADANYI:  I will have a look at that.  And -- now, in part B, I said:

"Please file a numerical example of how Elexicon would apply the standard requirements of DSC to calculate a capital contribution commensurate with the capacity required for non-residential customer."

So we are now talking about a non-residential customer.  And how did you calculate that?  And how -- so I essentially just asked for a numerical example for a typical non-residential customer.  And you didn't provide it.  And that is in (b).  So would you undertake to provide it, please.

MR. MANDYAM:  So Mr. Ladanyi, you would like us to run an economic evaluation model for a non-residential customer?

MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  I am quoting for -- it says -- if you go up in the interrogatory in the preamble, okay, you talk about "with respect to non-residential customers".  That is the last sentence in the first paragraph.

With respect to non-residential customers, Elexicon would apply the standard requirements of the DSC to calculate a capital contribution commensurate with the capacity required for the customer in that question.

So how would you do that?  And can you do me -- I don't actually understand what is the standard requirements.  So I will ask for a numerical example.  It shouldn't be that hard.

MR. MANDYAM:  No, you are right.  I think you are asking for an undertaking to just run an economic evaluation model for, just to pick a set of assumptions around a non-residential customer.  And what the contributions would be connecting to the Brooklin line.

MR. LADANYI:  That's right.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay.

MR. LADANYI:  I will give you an example.  So example A, a store.  Some kind of a commercial establishment that would be located in North Brooklin, I would expect they might be convenience stores.  There might be even a supermarket there.  I have no idea what will be built there, but I don't believe nothing will be built.  I think it is very likely something would be built.  What would the owner of this business -- remember, I represent businesses -- would be asked to pay.

MR. MANDYAM:  Is there any other parameters that you would like to share with us?

MR. LADANYI:  No, there isn't.  You pick the parameters.  Just list all of the assumptions so that I can understand what you have in mind.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay, yes.  We can accept that undertaking.

MR. MURRAY:  Lawren Murray.  Perhaps you can repeat it for the court reporter.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  Andrew Mandyam here.  Run the economic evaluation model for a non-residential customer, potentially by illustration a commercial customer, small commercial customer, base consumption; put in all of the or list out all of the assumptions and parameters that lead to the economic evaluation model.  And determine -- the output is the capital contribution, if any.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TO RUN THE ECONOMIC EVALUATION MODEL FOR A NON-RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER, POTENTIALLY BY ILLUSTRATION A SMALL COMMERCIAL CUSTOMER, BASE CONSUMPTION; TO LIST OUT ALL OF THE ASSUMPTIONS AND PARAMETERS THAT LEAD TO THE ECONOMIC EVALUATION MODEL; OUTPUT IS THE CAPITAL CONTRIBUTION, IF ANY.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, thank you.  Part C of this question, in part C I asked:   When and how would Elexicon collect $2260 contribution per home.

And in the C answer you said:
"In the event that, in the course of planning, a developer elected not to construct DER and EV ready homes, Elexicon would collect the capital contribution required on the same timeline applicable to connection agreement."

What is the same timeline?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar speaking here.  We're referring to the offer to connect here.  When the offer to connect is executed.

MR. LADANYI:  So you mean when the offer to connect is executed they have to come up with $2260 or you will not connect them.  Is that what it is?  Their home?


MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.  So they have made a choice, the customer, the developer in this case.  They're either going to DER-enable or DER enable and build the rough-ins, or they're going to choose not to and pay the capital contribution.  At the time the contract is executed that amounts if they're choosing the capital contribution would be invoiced and collected by Elexicon.

MR. LADANYI:  You are probably aware of this.  In 2018 the Ontario Building Code was amended to require homes to have an EV connection.  And that was repealed in 2019 as a result of push-back from developers.  So it is not in effect anymore.

But if such a condition comes up in the future, for example over the next 10 years -- I consider it fairly likely, maybe it unlikely, who knows -- would that change the amount of the contribution if the developers would have to do it anyway?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, that hypothetical.  I can't answer yes or no to that.

What I think Elexicon would do would -- given that the OEB would have an order -- sorry, it would have to follow the OEB order in place at that time.  It would then review the conditions that you have just described, the situation and determine a course of action.

Does it need to go and get that updated?  Does it leave it as it is?  So contemplation and evaluation would be undertaken by the Elexicon management.

MR. LADANYI:  I don't want to give evidence but what I managed to find, the developers at that time, the time frame being 2018, estimated that EV connections will cost $500 per home.  So I am speculating that the contribution would have to be changed, at least lowered by that amount if they're going to put it in anyway.  It would not be related to anything.  But anyway that is hypothetical.  We can discuss it in argument.

So let's turn to CCMBC number -- by the way, Mr. Murray, I notice it is noon now.  Would you like to break for lunch and continue after lunch?

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Ladanyi, are you going on to a new area of questioning now?

MR. LADANYI:  No, I am not.  I don't know that...

MR. MURRAY:  As long as it is a convenient time to break, I think we can break now.  If you are in the midst of going through a series of questions on an undertaking, we can probably go on for a few minutes, unless the panel is famished?  Maybe we can go on a couple of minutes.  It depends whether or not this is a good time to break --


MR. LADANYI:  I think this would be a fine time to break.

MR. MURRAY:  Excellent.  Why don't we come back at 12:50.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:03 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 12:52 p.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much.  Welcome back to the technical conference.  I understand that Mr. Mandyam has an issue he would like to follow up from earlier evidence.  So I will hand the floor over to him.

MR. MANDYAM:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.

In earlier dialogue with Mr. Ladanyi, he asked for written confirmation that the Brooklin Landowners Group would commit to binding agreements that would have the conditions set out in Elexicon's request for the ICM -- DSC exemption.

If we could go to -- well, if Mr. Ladanyi could go to the BLGI response for Staff 17, there was a supplementary response.  It is -- the top header of that page is labelled page 13 of 24.  The bottom of that page is an answer to part (c) and supplemental information I can point you to where in the second paragraph -- sorry, the last paragraph, second sentence, it's -- I am jumping in -- it reads:

"The members of the Brooklin Landowners Group would be willing to enter into legally binding agreements with Elexicon that reflect their commitment to construct and install DER and EV enablements as described above in each single-family dwelling that they construct in the community of North Brooklin."

Hopefully that satisfies the written request, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Can I go on now?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  I think you are on CCMBC 6.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I wanted to -- as a result of what was discussed this morning, there was a lot of discussion about this rate order that the OEB would issue.

And I thought that I am actually unclear about what is going to be in this order, because there is a lot of discussion and new information is revealed as we go along.  So I am going to ask for an undertaking that your counsel draft a rate order, regulating to the Brooklin project, that Elexicon is going to ask the OEB to issue.  So that we know what we're talking about.  Would you be willing to do that?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  I am not here to give evidence, Mr. Ladanyi, but the specific relief requested by the applicant is clearly spelled out in the application, including the condition that they have requested in --


MR. LADANYI:  No.  But I would like to see -- I know that it is, and it is, and we have heard more things today, and we might hear still more later on today.  Could we actually have what you really have in mind with all the details, everything.  Because what is in the evidence seems to be kind of high level, from my point of view.

So can we have it summarized in one single rate order?  It doesn't -- it just has to be -- it can be a draft.  It is not going to be final.  The OEB would have to review it.  But so that we all know what we're talking about.

MR. VELLONE:  A sustainable Brooklin project only --


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.

MR. VELLONE:  -- or both?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Just the Sustainable Brooklin Project.

MR. VELLONE:  We can assist with that, Mr. Mandyam, but I think you have to give the undertaking response.

MR. LADANYI:  Sorry, I can't hear you.  Can you speak a little louder, please.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry.  The witnesses have to give the facts.  Legal can help.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  We can -- yes, we will accept the undertaking.  For the court reporter, the undertaking is to set out a draft rate order from Elexicon's perspective for the Sustainable Brooklin Project specific to the exemptions being requested.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  TO SET OUT A DRAFT RATE ORDER FROM ELEXICON'S PERSPECTIVE FOR THE SUSTAINABLE BROOKLIN PROJECT SPECIFIC TO THE EXEMPTIONS BEING REQUESTED.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.

So we are now on CCMBC number 6.  We're dealing with a presentation to the Whitby Town Council which took place on July 11th.  You attached -- you directed me to SEC number 11 where the attachment is.

I am not going to go through the presentation.  I will let other parties deal with that.  But I wanted to ask you, was this the only document that was presented to Town Council?  Or were there some other documents given that are not attached?

MS. CHAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, this should be the only presentation of materials in writing that was provided to Whitby Town Council.

MR. LADANYI:  So you can confirm that Whitby Town Council was aware that the money would have to come from ratepayers?  The money that you are asking for, which is 50 -- sorry, that is -- it is actually on the -- I think it is the second-to-last un-numbered slide.  You don't have to turn to it.  All of this is going to come to -- 79.9 million dollars is going to come from ratepayers.  They are aware of that?  They were fully aware of that?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, Mr. Ladanyi.  That is correct.  They saw in that -- I'm not going to take you to the presentation, but in that same presentation they saw nominal estimated bill impacts, and the Town Council was aware of the bill impacts per month, total bill impacts per month per customer and the total cost as you described, yes, and they endorsed it fully.

MR. LADANYI:  Can we go to CCMBC number 7.  Here we're dealing with your assumptions.  So:

"Does Elexicon expect to have a contract with each home purchaser that would require purchaser to install rooftop solar with battery storage?  If the answer is 'yes', please file a draft contract.  If it is 'no'" --


And I guess your answer is no now, based on what you've said so far.  Are you still saying there would be no contract with the actual purchasers of the home?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, Elexicon hasn't finalized its program.

However, at the current time it is not intending to own the assets, these assets being the DER, solar, battery, or EV charging ports.  It is not intending, at least at this time not.

It will all be finalized in its application, but that is the current thought.

MR. LADANYI:  It would be finalized when?

MR. MANDYAM:  Oh, sorry.  It will be finalized in its proposal.  The DER enabling program proposal, which can be expected six months or thereabouts, around six months after the OEB provides a decision that it approves the Whitby Smart Grid Project.

MR. LADANYI:  So we actually haven't seen, really, all of the evidence that is relevant to this case.  There is some hidden new part that is being prepared?

MR. MANDYAM:  No.  Disagree, we’re hiding.  Disagree with the concept.

We have put out in Appendix B-3 our concepts and high-level thoughts around the DER enabling program.

For Elexicon to complete it and file it, it will require some effort, effort to contact basically parties for potential additional funding.  Parties -- and how the actual -- or Elexicon to, you know, plan out and basically process out how it is going to conduct itself as part of the marketing and sales program, figure out how it is going to apply under the CDM guidelines.

So there is a bunch of work that has to be done.  But the concepts are out there in the -- or listed out, at least, in Appendix B3.  So that portion is there for you to digest.

As far as the "ask", the ask is all clear and -- well, I am not going to go over it.  But it is what you are asking questions about.

MR. LADANYI:  In your answer to C, if you look at your answer to C.  I am going to read it to you.  I asked about the contracting.  You said:

"No.  Elexicon's sustainable Brooklin project facilitates the construction of DER- and EV-ready homes.  With respect to DER systems themselves, the precise commercial relationship between Elexicon and DER owners will be dictated by the details of Elexicon's planned DER Enabling Program, which will be informed by the OEB's decision and order."

So you need the OEB's decision to really decide about these commercial arrangements.

MR. MANDYAM:  That statement really relates to Elexicon will proceed with its development and finalizing of its DER-enabling program based on the guidance from the OEB decision and order, which means, really, if the OEB approves as filed, parties can expect an application that DER enabling program -- parties can expect a DER-enabling program application in six months or thereof.

Any other form of approval or denial by the OEB will have to be reviewed by Elexicon management to determine its next course of action with respect to the DER-enabling program.  So that is really what that last sentence is pointing out, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  I hate to ask you questions about something that is in the future and may never happen, but is it your plan to actually own some assets behind the meter at customers' homes, related to the DER enabling?  For example that you would own some parts of the, whatever customers are installing or is installed at the premise?

MR. MANDYAM:  Can we just caucus for a few seconds, if we can?

[Witness panel confers in breakout room]


MR. MANDYAM:  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi for taking so long.  The Elexicon -- so your question was, if I am correctly interpreting it.

MR. MANDYAM:  Has Elexicon determined who the owner of the DER assets would be in the ultimate installation at customer homes.  Am I correct?

MR. LADANYI:  Correct.

MR. MANDYAM:  So the short answer is, one, Elexicon has not finalized its application and determination of the question you are asking.  Who owns it.

The fact is that the application will be filed and parties on this call and others will have the opportunity to review it and adjudicate it at the OEB.

Of note, given that that application isn't even finalized yet, we are -- we do want to draw back to this application which has to be approved in order to provide the foundation for any subsequent DER enablement program, incentive based program.

And then just finally, one small you know point that you obviously know which is, regardless of who owns the assets the customers will benefit from those assets being put into these DER-enabled homes.  They all have energy savings.  They will be able to do arbitrage with the grid time of use, the an ultra low rate that will be offered to you and I as electricity consumers in Ontario.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So can we go to CCMBC Number 10, please.  In question (a) I asked did Elexicon or the developers initiate the creation of the Sustainable Brooklin Project.

Your answer (a) is:

"The sustainable Brooklin project is the result of discussions between the Brooklin Landowners Group, and Elexicon.  These discussions commenced from the normal engagement of developer groups and Elexicon's customer connection department.  Initial discussions regarding options to bring capacity for the area led to the development of an innovative solution to facilitate construction of DER and EV-enabled homes in return for an exemption from the DSC, which is the Sustainable Brooklin Project."


So again, who came up with it?  It couldn't have just gelled suddenly.  Did you suggest it or did the developers suggest this?  Did it actually come later from somebody else?  Please tell me.

MR. MANDYAM:  My understanding, Mr. Ladanyi, is -- well let me point you to a couple of artefacts.

SEC Interrogatory No. 22 provides a timeline.  So I am not going to go through it, but it has a detailed timeline of activities associated from October 2019 all the way through to basically the filing and NRCFan contribution 2022.

That might help you in understanding.

The whole element of this solution, the Whitby smart grid and the sustainable Brooklin was developed as I understand it by Elexicon's management.

Elexicon's management saw -- was having conversations and discussions with the Brooklin Landowner Group over many years and it was trying to work with its Brooklin Landowners Group to find a solution to address their concerns.  And you know, those concerns included you know elements of what's in appendix B, section 5, the application.

Elexicon saw that with -- it was a convergence of several factors.  Internally, Elexicon had undertaken and gotten into discussions with NRCan for its ADMS project, so that was advancing in early 2022.  It also had been informed, as did most of Ontario, by the PUC Distribution decision that the OEB approved, the smart grid, and the technologies there, VVO and FLISR. 

     It had also been informed -- management now had been informed with how it was trying to solve the issue of the sustainable Brooklin -- what we're calling sustainable Brooklin extension and the conundrum of who pays for that. 

     And finally, there was the mandate letter that the Ministry was pushing down to -- the Minister of Energy to the OEB around innovation and electrification and decarbonization.  A solution was borne from all of those points, landing in Elexicon management's internal strategy sessions and discussions.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So for a start, can you undertake to file the mandate letter, please, that you just referred to?  Can I have an undertaking for that?  

     MR. MANDYAM:  I believe we have.  That's the October 28th mandate letter.  Can I just take that away and if I don't have -- can I find it in the next break?  Can I take an undertaking at that time, Mr. Ladanyi?  

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, you can.  

     MR. MANDYAM:  Thank you.  

     MR. LADANYI:  So in question B, I said:


"Please file copies of all correspondence, including e-mails, between Elexicon and the developers that resulted in the creation of the Sustainable Brooklin Project."

     And your answer B says:


"Elexicon confirms there is no correspondence that does not contain sensitive customer confidential information with the Brooklin developers associated with the creation of the Sustainable Brooklin Project."  

     Who are the customers in that sentence?  Because I thought customers were actually the end users who were going to be paying rates to Elexicon.  Now are you saying that the customers are -- developers are the customers?  

     MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Ladanyi, I am going to chime in briefly here to ask that someone please bring up a copy of the Distribution System Code.  I want to avoid this coming up in argument, Mr. Ladanyi, so I think it is better to just deal with it now, and specifically the definition of "customer" in the Distribution System Code.  

     UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Just be a moment, Mr. Vellone.


MR. VELLONE:  Take it subject to [audio dropout], Mr. Ladanyi, but the definition -- 

     MR. LADANYI:  You are very faint, Mr. Vellone.  I can barely hear you.  Can you do something with your microphone?       MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  Any better?  

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

     MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I'm going to read this on to the transcript:


"Customer means a generator or consumer whose facilities are connected to or are intended to be connected to a distributor's distribution system.  This includes developers of residential or commercial subdivisions.'  

     Mr. Ladanyi, proceed with your questions.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.


Now, what would be the sensitive customer confidential information?  

     MR. MANDYAM:  There isn't any.  That is the point, I think.  There is no sensitive -- I think we're saying there is no additional -- basically we're trying to say, very poorly, maybe, that there is no additional material to file. 

     MR. LADANYI:  That is not exactly how I read that sentence.  If there is any communication -- by the way, letters were filed in response to the next interrogatory, supplemental ones. 

     So we will get to there in a minute.  

     MR. MANDYAM:  Hmm-hmm. 

     MR. LADANYI:  I filed a declaration and undertaking in this proceeding, and I am asking that I be given all the correspondence, and if the -- if it is confidential, then Elexicon should be seeking a confidentiality for this information and send a letter to the OEB.  Otherwise, I direct or ask that you file this.  

     MR. VELLONE:  What's the relevance to the matters at issue in this --  

     MR. LADANYI:  Well, the relevance is that it appears, to me, that this is what it is informing, the reasons why you are asking for it is very large ICM contribution from customers, whereas you should be asking from developers.  So somehow we want to know how this came about and -- because there are letters that we we're going to look at in a minute, seem to indicate that there was no agreement about this for quite a while, but somehow, somewhere along the way, this came up, what has now been filed before the Board, and we would like to know how it came about.  So that is the relevance to it, because you are asking ratepayers to pay $26 million.  That is very relevant.  

     MR. VELLONE:  I believe that Elexicon has throughout its application been very clear about why it is asking for what it is asking for.  Throughout its interrogatory responses it provided very clear time lines with regards to how this innovative solution came about and when that occurred.  And in addition to that, the landowners have provided prior correspondence that it has between the landowners and Elexicon about the project prior to this 

innovative solution coming about. 

     I don't see the relevance of going on -- 

     MR. LADANYI:  Well, you are aware of the Board's -- 

     MR. VELLONE:  -- a fishing expedition. 

     MR. LADANYI:  -- Practice Direction, but I don't know what is in it.  How would I know if it is fishing or not?  But nevertheless, you are aware of the Board's Practice Direction on confidential filings, no doubt.  You've been in other proceedings. 

     So I am asking you that you file these documents in confidence with the Board, explain why they are confidential, and the Board will then decide whether they can be released, the documents can be released to parties that have signed a declaration in an undertaking form.  

     MR. VELLONE:  You still haven't told me why it is relevant, Mr. Ladanyi. 

     MR. LADANYI:  I don't have to tell you why it is relevant.  It is relevant because it is $26 million.  I don't know what is in there.  It could be nothing.  It could be all kinds of stuff.  How do I know what is relevant if I don't see what is in it?  You're making me guess.  It's not possible.  I believe it is relevant.  You're telling me it is not relevant.  That is where we are.  It is a stand-off.  

     MR. VELLONE:  The refusal stands, Mr. Ladanyi. 

     MR. LADANYI:  So it is a refusal.  So you are essentially having confidential meetings with developers to get the ratepayers to pay $26 million and you don't want to tell us anything about it even in confidence?  Okay.  Well, let's go to the next question.  

     Let's go to question D.  That deals with your meeting with OEB staff.  First, could you tell me what is OEB sandbox?  

     MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, the OEB sandbox is a term for their -- as I understand it -- this is my definition.  This might not be their definition.  But it is a group that engages with parties, stakeholders, to provide guidance and discuss innovation and other application, concepts, or thoughts with respect to, I guess, the energy industry that it regulates. 

     MR. LADANYI:  So why would you meet with the -- so this is a group of OEB employees somewhere listed in the response D -- I'm not going to read their names into the record. 

     So why would you meet with them?  Could you tell me why you met with them and who asked to meet with them?  Did they ask you to meet with them or did you ask them to meet with you?

     MR. MANDYAM:  I believe Elexicon initiated the engagement of the OEB sandbox, and this was after the OEB sandbox put out their messaging to the industry to say, we're open to discuss ideas and things that I described. 

     Elexicon met with them to, you know, raise the potential -- the solution, the potential solution at that time, of what is now filed as this application.  See what guidance, if any, the OEB sandbox could provide, to basically assist it in -- as it goes about getting information, engaging with other -- with stakeholders on the concepts, et cetera.  So that is really the -- it's a guidepost, actually.  That is what I understand.  

     MR. LADANYI:  You had three meetings.  Were the developers, the Brooklin developers, present at these meetings?  


MR. MANDYAM:  No, they were not.

MR. LADANYI:  So it was just between Board Staff and Elexicon?

Did what is now called the Sustainable Brooklin proposal with roughing in for EV connections and rooftop solar, did this so-called solution come up during these three meetings?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  They were verbally discussed, I know for both of them, yes, for sure and I think the third one as well.  Yes, the discussion was around the ideas and concepts of what is now in the application, correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So did Board Staff come up with this and suggest it to you?  I have seen no, in the correspondence that was filed and the response, supplementary response from developers, no mention of this and suddenly it comes up after these three meetings.

So did this come up during the three meetings with Board Staff and did Board Staff propose it?

MR. MANDYAM:  Board Staff did not propose it.  Nobody at the OEB proposed it.

I want to take you back to my earlier response, about how the project got created developed by Elexicon management.

I mean there is nothing untoward about it, Mr. Ladanyi.  Elexicon management basically developed the solution, as you see it filed.  There is nothing other than that.

MR. LADANYI:  As I see it here from your answer, I am not going to read it, but it appears to me that prior to these meetings you were in trouble.  The developers would not want to pay the contribution.  Clearly Elexicon didn't want to make the investment.  And you went to the OEB, and asked for advice on how to get the ratepayers to pay for this.  Isn't that what you got?

MR. MANDYAM:  No.  That is wrong.  Sorry to be repetitive about the point.  Elexicon management didn't go to OEB to get response -- didn't go to get, you know, proposals from the OEB.

Elexicon proposed to the OEB sandbox how it was going to think of the solution to solve the problem that you have correctly underlined, which is several years of discussions with the Brooklin Landowners Group, some of which has correspondence filed in the Brooklin supplementary information.

Elexicon created the solution, management.  And it basically went to the sandbox group to ask for thoughts and guidance.  There is nothing more than that, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  On question (e), I said considering the incremental cost to make a home DER and EV ready is only $2260, why would Elexicon believe that developers would not be able to recover the costs from sustainable Brooklin home buyers and should instead recover it from current Elexicon ratepayers, using ICM funding?


You say that Elexicon has been informed that absent the Sustainable Brooklin Project and its quid pro quo, the homes built in North Brooklin will not be built DER and EV-ready.

And I won't read the whole thing.  But let's start with this quid pro quo.  This is an interesting phrase that is kind of a legal phrase but it has come up, for example, in the U.S. Congress at different times.  Could you explain to me the quid pro quo?  What does it mean?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, the quid pro quo is the Brooklin Developer Group contributes $2260 per home to rough-in for DER-enablement.  And in return, the Whitby ratepayers take on the cost of the 26.6 million dollars of the infrastructure -- cost to build the infrastructure to the demarcation point, which is Sustainable Brooklin Project.

MR. LADANYI:  And the other part of the answer says, this is the driver behind Elexicon's sustainable Brooklin proposal, as further elaborated on in Elexicon's application and evidence.  Elexicon is not a subject matter expert in the costing and valuation of residential real estate, and thus has no basis for a definitive position on developers' ability to recover costs incurred when selling completed housing units.

So developers could actually ask let's say 5,000 more per home.  You wouldn't even know.  You wouldn't even know whether this is actually an incremental cost to developers.

MR. MANDYAM:  You are correct, Mr. Ladanyi.  By the way, Mr. Ladanyi, you may have already caught it, but the developers -- and I have to go find a reference now -- the developers have I believe in one of their supplementary responses pointed out that they would pass through those costs, the 2260, to the homeowners.

And then all I will add, just one final point.  Whether it is a capital contribution, the 26.6 million being paid by developers or the contribution to DER rough-in, the 2260, developers could pass through either of the two costs.  So customers could pay for both.  In both situations.  In the proposal that Elexicon is making.


Now I am getting into argument, I apologize.  I will stop.

MR. LADANYI:  That's all right.  These technical conferences are sort of unusual because they're, it looks like a hearing and I don't want it to be a hearing.  I am trying not to be too argumentative.  

MR. MANDYAM:  Thank you.  

MR. LADANYI:  We're just trying to get more information to know what we're dealing with.

Can we turn to interrogatory CCMBC number 11.  There it says in the preamble the developers have raised a concern of inconsistency between the DSC and the TSC.

I mean I take it this means Distribution System Code and the Transmission System Code.

In assessing available alternatives to meet growth needs in the North Brooklin area, Elexicon assessed the construction of a potential hypothetical new TS, Brooklin TS, which I guess means Brooklin transformer station.  Construction of Brooklin TS was dismissed on evaluation as imprudent investment.

So my first question was, did the developers express their concern about inconsistency between the DSC and the TSC in writing?  Your answer is:
"The Brooklin developers expressed their concern verbally during discussions with Elexicon regarding the application of the DSC and the capital contribution required to construct the infrastructure that would extend distribution capacity to North Brooklin."


So what is this inconsistency?  Can you explain to me what the inconsistency is?

MR. MANDYAM:  If we go back to section five of appendix B, the inconsistency is described there further.  But at a summary level, Mr. Ladanyi, the inconsistency is the fact that if Hydro One put a TSC, a transmission -- under the TSC, if Hydro One put a transmission station or a transformer station up near Brooklin, it would be absorbed within the system costs, whereas if, in this case, Elexicon is adding under its Distribution System Code this infrastructure, the DSC says that the costs have to be borne by the customer.

I think Staff 25 is another reference that would be helpful here for you.

MR. LADANYI:  The supplementary response actually from the developers is a number of letters where this is discussed.  I won't take you to them right now.  Let's finish with your answers and then we will go to what they said.

So you were not aware of this inconsistency before the developers mentioned it to you?  Were you?

MR. MANDYAM:  No.  That's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So they have a better knowledge of the TSC and DSC than Elexicon?  This is very interesting.  Is that what you are saying?

MR. MANDYAM:  No.  In fact through this, the interrogatory response has the whole understanding about the DSC and the TSC inconsistency came up through the discussions between Elexicon and the Brooklin developers.

In fact, it was through that discussion where the whole element of fairness was being talked about ,and one element of fairness raised by the developers was this idea that I just articulated between the Hydro One station versus the distribution system line, the distribution line that is currently being proposed. 

     So that is how it all came about.  Hope I answer your question there.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, so do you think that the transmission system code and Distribution System Code should be consistent?  Is that your point?  And this is a problem with the codes and not with anything you are doing?  

     MS. CHAN:  Mr. Ladanyi, we have noted in our response to part (b) of this interrogatory with respect to your question around the DSC and TSC, we are a distributor who follows the Code. 

     And although we are aware of these differences between the Code, we don't feel it is our place to kind of place our judgment in terms of what it should be or what it shouldn't be. 

     We have raised this in our application relaying our

concerns -- or, sorry, relaying the concerns of the Brooklin developers, but we stand by what we have responded in part (b) of this response.  

     MR. LADANYI:  You're aware that the OEB has had reviews of the transmission system code and the Distribution System Code from time to time?  Did you ever make any submissions to the OEB to make sure they're consistent?  

     MR. MANDYAM:  That's a pretty broad question, Mr. Ladanyi.  I certainly don't want to take an undertaking to go back and look at Elexicon's history and filings with respect to notice of amendments to the DSC or TSC, but certainly I can say that we did not raise -- in the time frame of this application being developed and filed and -- that has not been done. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Should it be consistent?  I mean, you're saying they're inconsistent.  Are you claiming they should be consistent?  

     MR. MANDYAM:  I think as Ms. Chan said, it is the Board's discretion on how it handles policy.  Elexicon is being responsive to its customer, the customer in this case the broad Brooklin landowners group that is being asked to pay for the $26 million.  We have been responsive to try to get through the challenges that they face and we face, it faces, Elexicon, under the policies that exist and the application as set out.  

     The Board -- the OEB has discretion to develop policy, change policy, and, you know, through this process they're informed about a concern, this concern that you are talking to us about now.  How they act, it is up to them.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Let me go to question (e).  You talk about the decision not to proceed with the Brooklin transformer station. 

     And who made this decision?  You said -- and you quoted text.  I don't have to read it to you.  You said it was -- evaluation was an imprudent investment.  Why would that be an imprudent investment by Hydro One?  Because Hydro One would be making the investment.  You wouldn't be making the investment.  

     MR. BOUDHAR:  Hocine Boudhar here.  So the answer to the question (e), Elexicon has not made a commitment to never construct a TS, so if there is an investment and building a TS would be a request from Elexicon to either Elexicon build it or Hydro One build the TS, but at this moment there is no final decision if there would be a TS in the future that we have to build or not. 

     But going to the answer to question (d) is, we, based on our evaluation and looking at the different options, we thought that the -- building the lines from the Whitby TS would make more sense.  It is a more economical option compared to building a new TS.  

     MR. LADANYI:  So if a new TS is built, Elexicon would not pay for it.  You're saying that all of the transmission ratepayers are going to pay for it.  And I guess Elexicon would pay its own portion of that, considering it is a small part of the transmission ratepayers.  Is that what you are saying?  

     MR. VELLONE:  Can I chime in here?  Sorry.  You're asking my client, a regulated distributor, for interpretation of the cost responsibility rules in the Transmission System Code, and I am just not sure any of these witnesses are prepared to speak to the cost responsibility of --


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Well --


MR. VELLONE:  -- the Transmission System Code. 

     MR. LADANYI:  -- he mentioned evaluation of -- construction of the transformer station, and obviously evaluation would have been who pays for it, and I wanted to know what was his assumption who would pay for this thing.  

     MR. VELLONE:  So I think your assumption about what is 

obvious or not isn't true.  And instead what I would do is direct you to take a look at Appendix B-2 of the pre-filed evidence and specifically section 4.1 of the pre-filed evidence, where, when assessing the prudence of the Sustainable Brooklin Line, Elexicon itself evaluated a number of alternatives, including the cost of building a new Brooklin TS and in that evaluation resulted in the conclusion that the Brooklin TS option was rejected, for the reasons set out therein.  

     MR. LADANYI:  So what assumptions did you make about the type of home heating and space heating that would be in North Brooklin?  For example, would the customers buying these homes have gas heating and gas water heating or would they have something that was electric, such as heat pumps or electric baseboards or something else?  What would they have?  You must have made some assumption?  

     MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes.  The assumptions are on Appendix B-4, load forecast. 

     So without going, I guess, to the appendix itself, but we look at the historical demand on the area to make those assumptions and determine how much a dwelling would consume in the area of Whitby, for example, or North Brooklin. 

     MR. LADANYI:  So historically -- I could be wrong, but I think the majority of homes in Whitby are gas-heated and they have gas for water and space heating.  Is that right?  

     MR. BOUDHAR:  I can't comment on that.  I am not -- I am not sure exactly what their type of heating is, but I just look at basically the demand from the electrical side and what that demand is.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So you are expecting that the future will be exactly the same as the past.  So when you did this calculation you expected that the same proportion of homes in North Brooklin would be -- deals with gas heating and gas space heating as they currently use in the existing older homes in Whitby.  Is that right?  

     MR. BOUDHAR:  I can't make that assumption if they're using gas or electric heating, but I basically, like I said, I just have to work with the base reference, which is the consumption of residential in the area.  

     MR. LADANYI:  So would you agree with me at least that customers that use gas heating for water and for space heating would use less electricity than gas customers that use electricity for water and space heating?  

     MR. BOUDHAR:  That is possible.  I mean, when we look at the consumption of residential dwellings, there is many factors we have to consider, but -- and the other side, for example, is all the electrical-saving devices that we are using as well, compared to old dwellings, for example. 

     So there is many factors that we have to consider when we're talking about the consumption of residential homes. 

     MR. LADANYI:  But it is highly unlikely that even the electrical-savings devices, a home that is electrically heated, I don't care with what appliance, it would use less energy for heating than a home is -- less electrical energy for heating than a home that is gas-heated.  I mean, it seems totally counterintuitive. 

     MR. MANDYAM:  I am not sure where we're going with this, Mr. Ladanyi.  Sorry -- 

     MR. LADANYI:  Well, we're going there because -- okay.  Let me explain to you where we're going.


MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah.


MR. LADANYI:
We're going there because if homes use gas heating, we will not need a transformer station very soon. 

     If your assumption is wrong, okay -- and actually, more homes opt for electrical heating -- you will need this transformer station sooner. 

     MR. MANDYAM:  Right. 

     MR. LADANYI:  So you are actually -- you are betting here that people will continue using gas heating.  And I am asking you, is this a reasonable assumption?  And I would like to know whether -- how soon this transformer station would be needed anyway.  

     MR. MANDYAM:  Right.  Okay.  So just unpack that a bit.  If there is a transition away from fossil fuels in the near-term, then your premise is electrification will increase. 


Then all the more for these DER-enabled homes to be put in service, this line to be there, and Whitby ratepayers to have the benefit of the DER-enablement program to convert to solar, battery and EV charging as a tool to offset the cost of that electrification.  Don't you agree that is the best outcome?

MR. LADANYI:  I think it is a possible outcome.  Nevertheless, I think that it doesn't matter what is being done, if you are replacing a large energy source like gas with electricity, you are going to use more electricity.  There is no other way.  To say you will use less electricity is not likely.  And sun doesn't shine all the time.

MR. VELLONE:  I see Mr. Martin-Sturmey come on and off of mute about four times here.  Maybe he has something to say.

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Thanks, Mr. Vellone.  I think since we're talking about the load forecast and the assumptions used therein, I can provide more background and context for the benefit of Mr. Ladanyi.  Sorry Andrew, you are not on mute.  We have an echo.  Thanks, Mr. Mandyam.

So in terms of the assumptions made, as Mr. Hocine correctly stated, it is based on the historical profile of the Whitby region as well as the Ajax Pickering region for their own respective forecasts, which was a conscious decision to not be speculative into what the future may hold in terms of developing scenarios, but trying to produce the forecast based on data and concrete plans that are currently available.

Now just to provide more context to the evidence.  I think we have been using in this conversation energy consumption versus peak demand interchangeably, when they're actually two different things.  So energy consumption, that's the total energy used by a household.  It can be measured in say, for example, kilowatt-hours over the year.

So you would imagine that, yes, if a household switches from gas heating to electric heating, they're going to consume more kilowatt-hours of consumption.

But when we talk about peak demand, and specifically the peak demand that is being forecast in the load forecast in appendix B-4, we're talking about the maximum power, so that is different from energy that is required to be served on the system.

Now, currently, the constraint on Elexicon's system occurs in summer.  And so in the specific context of electric heating, you would not expect a big contribution of heating, if any, in the summer months.

And then just a general note on that, we're talking about heating specifically, but there is other factors such as conservation and demand management, such as the DERs that we talked about that offset load versus factors such as electrification which creates more load.  

So I just wanted to make sure we have the full picture.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I will follow up with you later on your interrogatory responses, but since you raised something.  You are assuming that North Brooklin will be a summer-peaking load area when air conditioners are running, is that right?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Specifically the Elexicon service area in Whitby is summer peaking currently, and the constraint on the system will continue to be in summer in the near term.

MR. BOUDHAR:  And just allow me to add to that.  Looking at all of the -- obviously the peak demand for Elexicon, the only area where we have a winter peaking, because of electric heating is Gravenhurst.  All other areas are summer peaking, like Mr. Martin-Sturmey said.  Sorry.

MR. LADANYI:  But you could end up -- again, we are having a hypothetical discussion.  There is no evidence on this.  But you could turn North Brooklin into a winter peaking area if you are going to go all electric, instead of summer peaking area.  So you really don't know that.

MR. MANDYAM:  No, we don't.  And I think maybe, like you said, Mr. Ladanyi we're speculating.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I will leave that because I have a lot of other questions to ask and I don't want to spend too much time on this.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  In the supplementary response from the developers, there were a number of letters and they of course, and they're saying there were letters.  I won't go through the letters.  There is a lot of interesting stuff in it.

But I noticed, for example, there is a mention in the -- particularly in the November 8th letter from Elexicon.  You don't have to turn to that.  All of the economic evaluation that was provided by Shepherd Rubenstein not being correct.  Can you tell me what was wrong with the economic evaluation by Shepherd Rubenstein?

MR. MANDYAM:  My short answer is no.  This panel is not able to answer that at this point.

If you would like, if it is necessary, we can take an undertaking.  I am not sure how material it is to this at all.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry.  What is the relevance of the question to the matters at issue in this application?

MR. LADANYI:  Well, you were at that time evaluating options, and there was one option that was presented by the developers which you rejected, and I would now like to know why you rejected an option.

It appears to me that you have presented a selection of options, but not all options to the Board, but if you don't want to present it, that's fine, I will ask the developers.

MS. NEWLAND:  You need to listen to this.


MR. LADANYI:  What is that?  Sorry.

MS. NEWLAND:  I think Helen said something on the record.

MR. LADANYI:  I will ask the developers anyway to tell me what was in that economic evaluation which appears to be an alternative that developers proposed that you rejected.  Now --


MR. VELLONE:  I am still struggling with relevance, Mr. Ladanyi to the matters at issue in this application.

MR. LADANYI:  The relevance will be in the fact that you are proposing to get $26 million from ratepayers, and we want to know whether there were better options that you rejected for different reasons.

MS. GIRVAN:  It is Julie Girvan here.  Tom, can you confirm what you are referring to?  There is nothing on the screen.

MR. LADANYI:  Let me go back.  Excuse me.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Girvan is he is pointing to a series of correspondence that were exchanged between Elexicon and the developers --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  -- in the 2021-2022 time period that was filed as an attachment to Ms. Newland's client's Brooklin landowner group's additional responses.

MR. VELLONE:

MR. LADANYI:  Can we have it on the screen?  Supplementary response which is from Brooklin Landowners Group, to CCMBC number 11.  Let's have it on the screen, please.  Unfortunately these things are not numbered and I am having difficulty referring to the exact document that I am talking about.  Give me a second to tell you how to refer to it.

This is a letter from Elexicon dated November 8th, 2021.  It is towards the back of the pack, I think.  It would be better if these were numbered as exhibits.  Do we have it?  November 8th?  Go to the second page of that, the last paragraph on that page.  You are on the first page.  Keep going down.  Keep going.

It says, right there -- no, you have gone too far.  Go back one page.  See the big paragraph there.  There it is.

Point 5...there is -- I don't want to read this because there is a loft material we have to go through.  But it does refer to an economic evaluation from Shepherd Rubenstein.

And Elexicon not agreeing with this.  So this is an alternative that was presented, that was considered at some point in time and it was rejected.

I am interested in the relevance.  This is very relevant because I want to know what the alternative was and why was it rejected.

I will ask the developers if you are unwilling to tell me what it is.

MR. MANDYAM:  So, Mr. Ladanyi I will just make a point of Elexicon has to follow the DSC's, Distribution System Code economic evaluation model.

Anybody else providing an economic evaluation model, it is really not relevant to Elexicon being able to use it, because Elexicon, as you know, is under orders by the OEB to follow the and use the OEB model.

MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  But you are actually asking for an exemption from using it, so I am not using it either.  So if you are not using it and Mr. Shepherd wasn't using it, so what is the difference?

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Ladanyi, this correspondence pre-dates the conception of the Sustainable Brooklin Project as it exists in this application.

The correspondence relates to matters as between a distributor and its customers under the Distribution System Code, largely pursuant to section 3.2 and the obligations thereunder.

Elexicon is clearly seeking an exemption to section 3.2 in this application, and I see -- and if the OEB wants to deny that and tell Elexicon to go back and do what the DSC says and deny the ICM request, that is open for the OEB to do so.

But engaging in discovery of what that economic evaluation model may or may not look like based on letters that are two years or so out of date, I don't see the relevance to the request asked.

MR. MANDYAM:  You are adjudicating something totally different there, Mr. Ladanyi.  So I don't think there is -- yes, I will stop.

MR. LADANYI:  If this was a hearing I would go more into this, but I'm going to let it go because this is a technical conference.  I know some people in the audience might want me to ask more questions about this.

We might end up in a hearing, and then we could have more of an interesting discussion.  But can I turn you  to --


MR. VELLONE:  Briefly, Mr. Ladanyi, time check?  We are at almost 2:00 p.m., and I saw you were going to go to 1:30, so I am just kind of getting a sense of where you are at.

MR. LADANYI:  Yeah, the answers are taking very long and I was hoping they would be shorter.

MR. VELLONE:  The questions are taking very long given that you are repeating everything that is on the record.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, let's go for a few more minutes, and then we will let Mr. Murray tell us what to do next.

Can you turn to supplementary response, which is the response from the Brooklin Landowners Group, to Staff 17.  And go to the next page, please.  In the middle of the page it says:
"Finally, the estimate also includes the cost of installing LED lighting throughout the house, an upgrade that is not required under the current Ontario Building Code."

So are we to understand that this is included in  the 2,260?  Or this is a no-cost addition?  What is this LED lighting?  And what is the -- what exactly has it to do with what you are asking for?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Ladanyi, I think we need to ask for full confirmation, since I am not -- we are not part of the Brooklin Landowners Group.  I think you need to ask them.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Thank you.  So let's go to SEC number 1.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Ladanyi, is that SEC 1 or is it a --


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is interrogatory -- School Energy Coalition number 1.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

MR. LADANYI:  Here the School Energy Coalition asked for material that was provided to the board of directors, and your attachment 1 you provided it, but it is a redacted document.

So I am asking you to provide me -- because I have signed a declaration undertaking -- an unredacted document.  Will you do that?

MR. VELLONE:  The redactions are not claimed as confidential.  The redactions relate to matters that are not relevant to the issues in this application.

It is a CEO report to their board of directors that cover a broad range of matters related to the operations of the company.  The only part of that report that is relevant has been filed on the public record in this application.  You don't need to sign a declaration.

MR. LADANYI:  Again, I think you should send a -- if that is the case, you should send a letter to the OEB explaining -- sending the full unredacted document and let them decide whether they should be a document -- unredacted version should be provided to those who have signed a declaration and undertaking.  You should send a letter.

If you are asking for a confidential treatment of this response, you have to actually ask it in writing following the procedure.

MR. VELLONE:  It is not --


MR. LADANYI:  You cannot assume --


MR. VELLONE:  -- confidential.  It is not relevant.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, then let the Board decide whether it is not relevant or not.  Let the Board decide.  We don't know what is in there.  You have to send a letter to that effect to the OEB, explaining -- giving them an unredacted version of the entire document, explaining what sections are not relevant, and let them either agree or disagree with you.

MR. VELLONE:  I understand that is how you think the process works, Mr. Ladanyi.  Unfortunately, that is not how it works.  And the response stands as filed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just jump in here.  I have been silent during the Sustainable Brooklin stuff, but this is about Whitby Smart Grid.  And it appears, to me, that it is not up to the utility to decide what is relevant and not.

If you are asked for a document, you have to provide the document.  And then the Board can decide some of it is not relevant, and they do that all the time, but here you are basically saying, no, the utility gets to decide what is relevant.  That is not how it works, John.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I have to respectfully disagree.  Otherwise my client has no protections in a single application to deal with fishing expeditions that are about matters that have absolutely nothing to do with the relief sought in the application.  What colour underwear did you wear in the morning?  How much does the CEO get paid?  It has nothing to do with this application.

Clearly there is a relevance assessment.  My client has a legal obligation to answer questions that have a semblance of relevance to the matters at issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Vellone, this is not an answer to a question.  This is a provision of a document.

There is a document, and the standard practice, which has been the case for at least the 30 years that I have been appearing before the Board, is you file the whole document and you say, these parts aren't relevant.  Mr. Ladanyi is right here.

MR. VELLONE:  That's what we've done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did not file the whole document.  You filed excerpts from the document.  That is not what was requested, and that is not your right.

The problem here is not that we're going to find something untoward here, John.  The problem is you want to set a precedent here, and we can't allow that.  We're going to have to file a motion.  And it is only -- it is a motion in a situation where it probably doesn't matter.  We can't let you set the precedent.

MR. VELLONE:  We are not looking to -- this has been fairly standard practice.  If the Board takes -- if Board Staff or the Board takes issue with the materials that are filed, they sometimes do take a look.  I will say it is not a standard process, but they sometimes do ask to take a look, and the applicants almost always comply when that is the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have to tell you that my own view is you are picking a fight on an issue where it doesn't help your client and yet we have to fight it.  We don't have a choice, because we can't let you establish this as the new rule.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Murray has something to say, I think.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Vellone, perhaps if I can speak to this.  There is a part in the Practice Direction on confidential filings that specifically deals with filing information that is not relevant, and in that sort of circumstance what is typically done is the entire document is filed with the Board and then the Board Commissioners will review it and determine whether or not it is relevant or not before anyone else gets to see it.

At least that way there is some sort of gatekeeping function to ensure that something is not being withheld on the basis of non-relevance which is truly relevant, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I believe that wasn't done here, right, Mr. Murray?

MR. MURRAY:  It does not appear to be done here, correct.

MR. VELLONE:  We will revisit, and if that is in fact the requirement, we will do a supplemental filing.  There is no need for a motion, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Ladanyi, since I happened to have already interjected, I just wanted to get an idea of time check.  I think you started around 11:07, and I realize there was lunch in there too, but I am mindful of trying to stay on time.  There may be a couple more minutes, but I am hoping you can wrap it up in the next couple of minutes and then we can have a break before OEB Staff goes.

MR. LADANYI:  Certainly.  I actually have a lot of questions left since this is taking longer than I expected.  I am trying to decide which ones to ask over the next couple of minutes.

MR. MURRAY:  Would it help if we took a short break now and you could maybe condense down what you need to ask into a few concise questions?  Would that help if we took a short break now?

MR. LADANYI:  Yes, that would be great.

MR. MURRAY:  So why don't we take a ten-minute break now and come back at 2:15.  And -- yes, so we will come back at 2:15.  And hopefully Mr. Ladanyi will be able to pare down the number of questions he has.

MR. MANDYAM:  Very good, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:03 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:15 pm.

MR. MURRAY:  I think we will go back on.  Mr. Ladanyi, please continue your questions.

MR. LADANYI:  So I had 20 more questions, thereabouts, and I reduced this to one question.  You guys all right?

So can we turn to interrogatory CCMBC 22.  Can we have it on the screen, please.

Brandon, can we have CCMBC 22 on the screen.

MR. MANDYAM:  We can start or you want it on the screen, Mr. Ladanyi?

MR. LADANYI:  I thought it would help.  I will start.  

MR. OTT:  It is in progress, Mr. Ladanyi, I apologize.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  

MR. OTT:  Did I hear 23?

MR. LADANYI:  22.


MR. OTT:  22, thank you.

MR. LADANYI:  This is a question really related to METSCO evidence, all right.  And I asked about high penetration -- actually, METSCO in its evidence mentions high DER penetration creates numerous challenges for operating a distribution system.  And you provided an answer and later on an updated answer.

Thank you for the answer.  Can you just tell me in percentage what is high DER penetration.  The reason why I want to know about that, because I am concerned that when a lot of DERs are going to be installed on the Whitby system and also in North Brooklin that there is going to be problems and those problems will cost a lot of money to solve.  So can you tell me what you mean by high DER penetration.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, for sure.  I'm sorry, this sounds funny, am I transmitting?  I'm sorry.  First try with the new head set.  So thank you for asking.

So the question is what is high DER penetration is not clearly defined.  However, there is some ranges.

So historically speaking LDCs have not had a lot of trouble with DERs simply because there hasn't been very much of them.  Now the IEEE standards for what is considered to be high penetrations of DER was around seven percent of peak load, to put it in perspective.

Recent times they have changed that standard to allow for engineering analysis, which opens up the door to have higher penetrations.  Also, difference technologies and different control systems allow you to increase that number.  So for the time being anything higher than about seven percent of peak load on the system should require an engineering study.

Now, what do we think of this high DER penetrations?  Well, we don't know.  In the future world it could be full feeder load backwards, which would be 200 percent penetrations.  I mean we just don't have an idea how far this is going to go.  But right now there is lots of talk about lots and lots of DERs on the distribution system.  That much we know.

MR. LADANYI:  I hate to ask a supplementary question.  I said I would ask only one question.

So in North Brooklin where you are expecting to have a lot of DERs, i.e. rooftop solar, it is to some extent an experimental project, because you really don't know how it is going to behave.  You are hoping that what you are installing will be okay, but you really don't know.

MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry, what was the question?

MR. LADANYI:  The question was, for you to confirm that really North Brooklin is an experimental project, because Elexicon does not know what kind of problems will be created in North Brooklin with a very high DER penetration.

MR. THOMPSON:  So, I don't agree.  The technology involved all the way through the Whitby Smart Grid project and the sustainable Brooklin project is mature, proven technology that we know exactly what it does.

So the question of what is a large like a whole bunch of rooftop solar in a neighbourhood looks to the system like a large solar farm in a field somewhere.

So we actually do know what it does.  We also know how quickly it ramps up and down when the sun goes behind a cloud.  We know what it does to voltage when current is going from the other direction.

And what we know is that the distribution system as it is currently configured can handle that.  So that is why we're proposing the innovative solution to basically evolve the system into something that will take it.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I will end it here and let somebody else take over.  Thank you very much, panel for being patient with me.

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Murray, just on the question of the mandate letter.  It was the November 15th, 2020 panel letter -- sorry it was November 15th, 2021 was the letter date, date of the letter.  And it was the mandate letter from Ministry of Energy to the OEB's Chair, Mr. Richard Dicerni.


It isn't on the record as far as I know in our application.  I think we referenced it at one point, but Mr. Ladanyi, I don't know if you actually want us to put that on the record or it is just, that reference is good enough.  I am hoping --


MR. LADANYI:  I would like to have it on the record because it seems to figure very prominently in what you are asking for.  I can Google it and find it, but it is much more effective if we have it on the record as an exhibit.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay.  So Mr. Murray, we will declare it by an undertaking, Elexicon will file the November 15th, 2021 Minister of Energy mandate letter to the OEB.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  ELEXICON TO FILE THE NOVEMBER 15TH, 2021 MINISTER OF ENERGY MANDATE LETTER TO THE OEB.

Thank you very much, Mr. Ladanyi.  

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  Next on the list is OEB Staff.  Ms. Armstrong.
Examination by Ms. Armstrong:


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Thank you, Mr.  Murray.  I just want to quickly state there is three Staff asking questions today.  It is myself asking questions on models and some general questions, followed by Donald Lau who will be asking some technical questions and then followed by Stephen Cain, who will be asking questions about more policy-related issues.

So my first question is actually want to start by a follow up question you were asked today by Mr. Rosenbluth about the ACM and whether the reason you are not filing an ACM is because you are not in a cost of service application but an IRM application.

I just would like a yes or no on that.  I understand that this is a discrete project, but that would apply to both methodologies, and that you would like regulatory certainty, so you would like a project approved as early as possible, that would be good for the projects.  I understand that.  

But there are two different methodologies available to you, the ICM and the ACM, and based on the Whitby smart grid project being in service in 2025, the question is why didn't you choose an ACM methodology.

MR. MANDYAM:  Ms. Armstrong, what would we answer yes or no to?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Did you choose not to file an ACM because you are not in a cost-of-service application?

MR. MANDYAM:  The short answer is yes.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  Then what I would like is to get undertakings to run a few scenarios for the models.

The first one is just an easy one for all three models, if you can please undertake to update the models for the 2023 inflation factor, as well as for the 2022 actual demand data.  And if you file the models for the Whitby smart grid, the ICM models that you have on file, can you please use the 2025 rate year.  Not the 2023 rate year, because that is very confusing.

Then, can you please --


MR. MANDYAM:  Can we unpack -- sorry, Ms. Armstrong.  So first thing.  File the --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  File the model you have filed --


MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, yes, the ICM and rate generator models or just the ICM model?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, no, just the ICM model.

MR. MANDYAM:  ICM model, yes.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  ICM models updated for the inflation factor, updated for actual demand data for 2022 which I am assuming you now have.  And put the 2025 rate year in there.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  Understood that.  We accept that undertaking, so that can be JT1.15.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  That is undertaking JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO REFILE THE ICM MODELS UPDATED FOR THE INFLATION FACTOR, UPDATED FOR ACTUAL DEMAND DATA FOR 2022 AND TO INCLUDE THE 2025 RATE YEAR. 


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Now, Mr. Murray, I have a few other model scenarios I would like Elexicon to run.  Should that go under the same undertaking?  Or would we do an undertaking for each one?

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps it might be easiest for clarity just to do one for each.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  So then I would like you to run a second scenario for the Whitby Smart Grid for both the Veridian rate zone and the Whitby rate zone forecasting load growth and using that forecasted load growth for demand data that you use in the ICM model.

So that would be the next undertaking.  Then I would like another scenario --

MR. MURRAY:  Ms. Armstrong, perhaps before we continue, let's see whether or not Elexicon is prepared to give that undertaking.

MR. MANDYAM:  One second.  We would like to caucus on just this point about forecast load growth.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Hmm-hmm.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes, so to clarify from your request, Ms. Armstrong, so when you are referring to forecasted load, so the load forecast that was submitted in evidence only covers peak demand in kilowatts, and so at this time Elexicon does not have a consumption forecast in kilowatt-hours based on, say, an econometric model, for example, that I think you are referencing.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Well, I basically -- since you are applying for an ICM and the ICM model requires actual demand data, and you are asking for 2025, there needs to be -- I just wanted a scenario that shows what your expectations are over the next -- because I cannot determine a materiality threshold right now, based on what I have on the record.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Armstrong, I might refer you to the approvals provided in the Sault Smart Grid case, because they ran into the same problem --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  I'm --

MR. VELLONE:  -- and I think there was an order to file an updated model --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes --

MR. VELLONE:  -- in a subsequent year to rerun the materiality calculations.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's true.  But you are also two years out, and I am asking for a few more scenarios.  If you cannot do it, that's fine.

MR. VELLONE:  I think the issue is there is not a forecast.  They don't have a forecast for the numbers that you are --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  -- looking for.  So the assumption -- the scenario they have run effectively is, let's assume for the purposes of this application that the forecast in 2025 is the number that they have for showing as 2023.  That is basically the assumption.  It is flat.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I know it is flat.  But, I mean, given the load growth that is expected over the next two years, I mean, you are asking us to approve something, because an ICM is final approval, that we simply need a little bit more -- like, we would need a load growth in order to really know the exact number, and we don't have it.

The PUC project was a year out.  You are asking us to do this two years out, and I think it is -- it's a bit of a problem.  But if you say that you cannot run models that will forecast the demand and you cannot do a load forecast that could then be plugged into the model -- is that what you are saying?

MR. VELLONE:  I am saying the -- my client has not done it to date and was not required to do it under any of the filing requirements.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  No.  But I am asking you if you would undertake to do it.  That is what I am asking.

MR. VELLONE:  When are the undertaking responses due?

MR. MANDYAM:  Like, one week out, I believe.  The 20th?  No, sorry, the 24th.

MR. VELLONE:  I am not sure that is how fast, like, a real load forecast model for the entire utility and all of their service territory, which is what you are asking for.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  No.  Just the Whitby -- this is just for the Whitby service area, not for the Veridian service area, because Veridian -- oh, yeah, yeah, no, actually, we need it for the Veridian too.

MR. VELLONE:  I thought you asked about both --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah, yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  -- because of the ADMS --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  The ADMS, but say if Veridian is too much, can you do it for just the Whitby?

MR. MANDYAM:  Ms. Armstrong, we will take away the request and do the best we can to -- we understand the question that you are posing and the concern you are raising, and we will just do the best we can with what --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Best effort, right.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah, so if you just -- so if I were to repeat it back to you, for Veridian rate zone for the Whitby Smart Grid project an updated forecast, update the ICM models with the demand data from an updated load forecast.  Yes.  That's it.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  That's incorrect.  Sorry.  It is Whitby rate zone.  Not for the Veridian rate zone.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  For the Whitby --

MR. MANDYAM:  That's what I said, I thought.  Did I say something different?  Okay.  Yeah --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah.

MR. MANDYAM:  -- I thought I said Whitby, but --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes, I understand the time crunch, and I think what is the main bulk is with the Whitby rate zone.  So if we can get it for the Whitby rate zone, that would be fine.

Then I would like --

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, Ms. Armstrong.  I just want to give that a number before we run off into the next --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  -- question, so that will be Undertaking JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO PROVIDE FOR WHITBY RATE ZONE, FOR THE WHITBY SMART GRID PROJECT, AN UPDATED FORECAST, UPDATE THE ICM MODELS WITH THE DEMAND DATA FROM AN UPDATED LOAD FORECAST.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  And then can I have a scenario where you file ACM models for both the Veridian and the Whitby rate zones for the Whitby Smart Grid, using the 2011 parameters as if it were the cost-of-service year?

And then -- so that would be one undertaking.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  ACM models for both Veridian  and --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah.

MR. MANDYAM:  -- Whitby rate zone using the 2011 parameters as cost of service for both --

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  Basically all you do is, cost of service, the numbers basically stay, and that shouldn't take very long.

MR. MANDYAM:  And this is for the Whitby Smart Grid?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  For the Whitby Smart Grid project, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, help me understand why we're using 2011 parameters in the Veridian rate zone.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Oh, no.  The '18.  Sorry, the Whitby is the 2011 and the '14 is for the Veridian.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah.  Basically the existing parameters.  I should rephrase it.  Let's do the existing parameters that you have, just make it a cost of service.  The parameters actually will stay in the existing models.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, it is Lawren Murray here.  Perhaps you could just rephrase it one last time just so it is clear on the record in terms of what the undertaking is.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  The undertaking basically is to run the models as ACM models, using the existing parameters for each rate zone.

MR. MURRAY:  And Elexicon is prepared to do that?

MR. MANDYAM:  For the Whitby Smart Grid we will, again, yes, best efforts, we will do all of that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO RUN THE MODELS AS ACM MODELS, USING THE EXISTING PARAMETERS FOR EACH RATE ZONE.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  And then if I can ask you to run one more scenario, is where you run an ACM model for the Whitby Smart Grid.  But instead of using the existing parameters, would you be able to update rate base to include all -- like, all approved capital through incremental capital modules that have been approved up until now since the merger.

Mainly, it is mainly the Seaton TS but there is another one.  Just say pretend you are coming in for a cost of service.  Can you go and just even estimate rate base as if you were in for a cost of service.  If all of the existing capital would be included in rate base rather than out there as incremental capital modules.

MR. MANDYAM:  I think this is a bit more problematic undertaking -- because Elexicon is so far away from rate basing.  I understand what you are asking, just add in from your perspective, a few bits and bobs.  But I don't think it is as simple as that.  Probably from the Elexicon perspective this one is going to be a challenge, Ms. Armstrong.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Well, I mean just add the incremental capitals that are out there right now.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, is there a running continuity schedule that exists outside of cost of service that keeps track of rate base?  I am not sure there is.  That is the problem.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am not asking for everything.  I am just asking for the big capital projects that were approved through ICMs.

MR. MANDYAM:  Maybe you can explain how that subset of everything, all capital helps.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  I just want to know where materiality would be if you would have come in for a cost of service.

MR. MANDYAM:  The materiality threshold?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MANDYAM:  We should just caucus for a second.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Armstrong, with this line of questioning it all go to the mentionable incremental capital, there is no question 26 million is material regardless of...

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah, yeah.  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  It all goes to what the quantum of approval is.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Couldn't there just be a conditional approval that says we will revisit the quantum later once we have the proper numbers for the approvals?


MS. ARMSTRONG:  We will see or we will take a look at the ACMs, which don't have the materiality.

If you undertake the -- if you would switch to an ACM request, then that issue wouldn't arise, right?


MR. VELLONE:  I just think the applicants merged, and is in a 10-year deferred rebasing period.  They don't have the discretion to come back with a cost of service.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I understand that.  And that is going to be my next question, actually.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. MANDYAM:  Ms. Armstrong, we deliberated about how to find and gather the information to produce this latest ACM model, but we just cannot see the, basically the selection of particular information driving, that you are requesting, being a good representation of what the situation will be when we actually do file the updated model in 2025.

So for that reason, we are saying this one, no.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  Then my next question is that, given the considerable capital needs that Elexicon is experiencing during this deferred rebasing period, has Elexicon considered rebasing prior to 2029?  And if you haven't, why not?

MR. MANDYAM:  We are going to caucus for a second, please.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Sure.

MR. MANDYAM:  Ashley.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MS. CHAN:  Ms. Armstrong, to answer your question, management at Elexicon has not considered rebasing at this time or has not made a decision to rebase prior to 2029.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Can you provide any reasons?  Have you considered -- has management considered, given the capital needs that it is showing?

MS. CHAN:  If you are specifically I guess, when you say capital needs, are you asking particularly with respect to the capital needs of the ICM application?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  I am talking generally.  I did some numbers, and especially in the Whitby rate zone, I think your rate base is around, what is it, 27 -- no, 75 million, roughly.  And calculating up all of the incremental capital that is being requested through various things since the merger, you are coming up to 108 million outside of rate base.

So I consider that capital need considerable, and I was wondering if management has discussed that at all, and has thought about it?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Cory.

MR. CORY:  I apologize I came off mute inadvertently.

MR. MANDYAM:  Sorry, can you --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I'm sorry?

MS. CHAN:  Mr. Mandyam, just didn't know if you were interrupted, so was asking you to continue.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  No.  That is it.  Given the size of your capital needs, from all of the applications that are in front of us right now, or have been in front of us since your merger, I just wondered if management has sat down or if you have brought this to your board of directors and said, we have these needs.  You haven't rebased since 2011 and has it been discussed at all.


MR. VELLONE:  I believe Ms. Chan already answered that question.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  I was wondering why not, if it hasn't been discussed.

MR. VELLONE:  I guess I am struggling with the relevance to that question to the application before us.  You are asking why they haven't filed a different application.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  No, I am asking about considerable capital needs and whether there has been consideration 
to approach it different.


MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Shepherd, do you have something to add?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I was reading the Electra decision, which clearly says no cost of service, no ACM.  But you obviously need an ACM.  I mean you're planning a multi-year program to enable DERs over the next four or five, six years.  And you are already $108 million in Whitby over your rate base.

So it is like, this seems obvious, of course you have to come back.  So it is a legitimate question.  Why are you doing it through ICMs?  Which is clearly prohibited.

MR. VELLONE:  Well, we will have to disagree on the nature of the Alectra decision, Mr. Shepherd.  Our understanding is that related to an ongoing cable replacement program, not a discrete project like this, which is more akin to the Sault smart grid project.

I believe the answer is because the applicant is committed to a deferred rebasing period that is approved by the Board in their MAADS decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will just read to you:

"ACMs, on the other hand, are instruments to accommodate capital expenditures that arise not in the test year, but in a cost-of-service term, and allow for their consideration and, where approved, their incorporation into rates."

The decision was very clear that the exception used in the Bremner case was an exception.  It is not the rule.

MR. VELLONE:  All right.  And I believe this is -- the applicant in this case has been pretty clear that they're seeking the exception used in the Sault smart grid case for the Whitby smart grid, which is --


MS. GIRVAN:  John, we can't hear you very well.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry.  Sorry, Julie.  The applicant has been pretty clear that they're seeking to rely on the same exception that was used in the Sault smart grid case for the -- for a project that is the same scope.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  So Mrs. Chan, you are not aware of any -- any discussions with senior management about rebasing early?  Or the reasons for why it was decided against?

MS. CHAN:  Well, I wouldn't -- there has been no decision around rebasing early.  Certainly there's many discussions we have with regards to our capital and capital needs and various options around what we may proceed with, but we haven't made any decisions around this.

And perhaps, to answer your question around, you know, why haven't we decided this, I would say it is not perhaps that -- this application itself, if we're focusing on this application and the capital needs that were coming forth in our ask, is really culmination of conversations that have happened, as we noted in our evidence, you know, from 2019 to spring 2022, and it is still very early in our deferral period.

I mean, Elexicon, you know, merged in 2019, and so that hasn't been a contemplation at this point specifically for this ICM application on the table.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay, thank you very much.

I will go on to my next question.  And it is again an undertaking I am asking for.  In order to establish a means test, if we stay with an ICM request, we only have the ROE for 2021 on the record right now.

Can you please undertake to do the ROE for 2022 and then forecast 2023, 2024, and 2025?

MR. MANDYAM:  2022 is -- well, Ms. Chan can answer that.  But forecasting future ROEs, that's a bit much to ask.  I don't see how that is even --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  I would like to just point out that if, since you are referring to the PUC, PUC did forecast ROE out in order to go with the request of having it pre-approved.

MR. MANDYAM:  I am just questioning the relevance of it.  We will do it.  We can do that forecast out.  It will be a bunch of assumptions, caveats, and other items --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's fine.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  But in this case I am following PUC.

MR. MANDYAM:  Got you, okay.  So Ms. Chan can speak to 2022.

MS. CHAN:  Ms. Armstrong, I think with regards to 2022, it would still have to be an estimate and forecast --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  That's fine.

MS. CHAN:  -- based on our assumptions and best estimates at this point, as we are still in the midst of closing 2022.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yeah, that's fine.  I am good with forecasts, just a table giving me all of the forecasts up until 2025.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.18:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE OF FORECASTS UP TO 2025.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  My next question, I am actually following up a little bit on Mr. Ladanyi here.  And we have had some discussions on it, but I would like to ask it again from Board Staff's position, in that in Staff 17 you implied that an economic evaluation model was not carried out for the Brooklin Sustainable Project.

However, when we got the supplemental responses in response to CCMBC, I believe it was 11 where the letters were included, when you read those letters, it clearly shows that an economic evaluation model had been done and that a second economic evaluation done by Shepherd Rubenstein had been provided by the Brooklin landowners, and there was some disagreement about the inputs.

I believe it is quite relevant to this project to have those economic evaluation models on the record, and I am actually asking for both the Elexicon model as well as the alternate model that the Brooklin landowners sent to Elexicon.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Armstrong, just walk me through why you believe it is relevant.  Just help me understand.  Connect the dots for me.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Because you are asking for an exemption to the DSC based on a quid pro quo of capital contributions, and we don't know what the capital contribution would be.

MR. VELLONE:  $26 million.  Sorry.  $26 million.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Well, that is the cost of the line, right?

MR. VELLONE:  The applicant has previously stated it is forecasting no revenue, incremental revenue from that line.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  But I am confused by that.  How can there be not be incremental revenue given that you are connecting a whole new subdivision?

MR. VELLONE:  The subdivisions come later and are subject to a separate set of economic evaluation models and a separate -- that is what they call Phase 2 in the application.  There will be a separate set of economic evaluation models done for each individual subdivision when they are connected, and at --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  And who will be -- yeah, and who will be paying those capital contributions?

MR. VELLONE:  The individual developers will pay a capital contribution and an expansion deposit pursuant to their specific OTC agreement for each specific development.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  But wouldn't the line that leads up to that have to be part and parcel of that?

MR. VELLONE:  Why?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Because how can you have a Phase 2 if Phase 1 would not exist?

MR. VELLONE:  That's why the developers have staged it so that Phase 1 happens before the very first Phase 2 occurs.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Regardless, you have done some economic evaluations.  Can you just put them on the record?  I mean, they clearly have been done, so Elexicon has them.

MR. VELLONE:  It might be --


MS. ARMSTRONG:  Shepherd Rubenstein has done one.  So there has been -- I see some disagreement over the inputs.  I am happy to look at the disagreements too, but we would like to see those economic evaluation models.

MR. VELLONE:  The material is going to be out of date in those models.  They were done back in 2021.  You understand that caveat?

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Well, yes.  I guess they were a half a year out or nine months out of when the application was filed.

MR. VELLONE:  And in addition, the design of the project continued after those models were created.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Well, since you bring that up, I am still not quite clear how they came about.  Like, when did the -- when did this design and when did this quid pro quo arise?  And how?  It is very unclear.

If you actually could enlighten us on that, like how that came about, that would be --


MR. VELLONE:  I should leave that to the witnesses.  Mr. Mandyam, to the request to file the actual economic evaluation models that have been prepared, I don't see the relevance but I also -- I take Ms. Armstrong's point, they do exist.  And to the extent the parties may find it probative, we can qualify it with whatever we need to qualify it.  So I think --

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  But I am still not connecting – I can't see the relevance of Shepherd Rubenstein's model.

I can see the original economic model with its caveats that Elexicon performed or produced, but I don't see the Shepherd Rubenstein at all being relevant and I would refuse that.

The other thing is, we're -- anyway, I will stop there.  Oh, I have to answer the other question about Armstrong's question around how did this all come about.

I did explain -- I am not sure -- I did say to Mr. Ladanyi and I will repeat it, I guess; you tell me when to stop, Ms. Armstrong, if you have heard it.  What I said earlier today, there was a convergence of activities that Elexicon management basically encountered and ultimately developed this total solution, the sustainable Brooklin portion of this ICM request and the Whitby smart grid.

This all manifested in 2022.  Its origination was determining how to solve the concerns and deal with our customer, which is the Brooklin landowner group, and address that situation.  

And the idea of the quid pro quo or the DER enablement -- DER roughed-in homes being built in return for an exemption was just that innovation.  And then added on top of that the ICM project for the Whitby smart grid, which, as I stated earlier, was a convergence of internally ADMS being worked through by teams of Elexicon with NRCan and the other external items.

So it is just management coming up with the idea.  There is nothing more than that.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  I am going to go on to my next question and it is the supplemental response to CCMBC --

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, Mr. Murray should we mark an undertaking there?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  Just so it is clear.  I understand that Elexicon has agreed to provide or file its model, but is refusing to file the model of Shepherd Rubenstein.

So the model that it will, Elexicon will file is undertaking JT1.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  Elexicon to file the economic evaluation model described in the supplemental responses to CCMBC.


MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct, Mr. Murray.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay.  My next question is in regards to CCMBC, the supplemental response, CCMBC 20.  And it is 20 (d) the one, two, third paragraph.  I think the way it was filed it is backwards, at least it is backwards in my hard copies.

MR. OTT:  Thank you, Ms. Armstrong.  Perhaps you can begin and I will share once I can find it.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Yes.  I think it was filed sort of on the back of CCMBC 11.  There is the attachment page, and then it is the next page.  I think it was just reversed when it was filed.

MR. OTT:  I see it now, thank you.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  It is the last paragraph on the page.  I will read it into the record where the Brooklin said:

"It should be noted that Elexicon's application for sustainable Brooklin ICM and exemption from the Distribution System Code are not triggered by or contingent on the inclusion of DER and EV enablements in the standard offering of the Brooklin landowners.  These applications stand on their own and are justified, not by the DER and EV proposal, but by the regulatory arguments, including the fairness argument, that are summarized in the supplementary responses of the Brooklin Landowners Group to 1 Staff 15 and 17."


I just wondered how you feel about that statement.

MS. CHAN:  Ms. Armstrong, perhaps I can direct you to our letter filed on January 12th by BLG with regards to the supplementary responses.  Table 1.  We had noted -- I am just turning to the relevant items.  Under CCMBC-11, the first item I believe.  Sorry, second item.  Second item there.

We have stated our opinion on this that Elexicon does not agree with that statement that you have just cited.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. CHAN:  And the reasons for that.  Elexicon would not have filed this ICM application for sustainable Brooklin in the absence of the benefits associated with the DER and EV ready homes and the benefits that will bring to our customers.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay, thank you.  I will just go on to my last question before I hand it over to Donald, and that is if an exemption like this is granted, will Elexicon apply this practice to any other expansion projects due to new development within its rate zones?  

And how does Elexicon plan to determine whether to seek such an exemption from the DSC going forward?  Have you developed any requirements or consideration in how to treat the expansion of the Elexicon system, given that Whitby and the Brooklin area are high growth areas?

MS. CHAN:  Perhaps I can address your question initially from a consideration standpoint.

What we would like to point out is, the ICM projects that we're bringing forth as we have noted, are very unique in the circumstances and situations and the objectives in what we have brought forth in the application.

For example, you just alluded to the customer growth profile.  The ability for Elexicon to consider DER offsets and capital investment infrastructure that wouldn't otherwise be required.  Capacity constraints that we're facing in the future.

So in terms of this exemption that we're requesting at this time, it is a one-time exemption that we're requesting due to the unique circumstances.  Currently we don't have any plans, in terms of coming forward with a similar request at this time.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Given that it is a high growth area, don't you expect your system to expand substantially over the next few years?

MS. CHAN:  Perhaps I can pass it to my colleague, Mr. Boudhar, to address that part of the question specifically.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes.  The answer is, yes, we're expecting -- as you know it is a high growth area, being Pickering and Whitby.  So we're expecting tremendous growth and a lot of connections in the next few years.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  And what would make those expansions different from this one?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Like Ms. Chan mentioned, we're talking about this application and the uniqueness of this application based on the parameters that we know.  We don't know the parameters of any other expansions until we see them.  So I can't comment on that.

MS. ARMSTRONG:  Okay, thank you very much.  And with that, I am going to hand it over to Donald.
Examination by Mr. Lau:

MR. LAU:  Good afternoon, panel, thank you, Birgit.  Just a continuation of what Birgit was asking before.


Is it possible for Elexicon to provide the actual residential growth in the past five historical years or point me to it in the evidence?  I don't believe we have that on the record.

MR. BOUDHAR:  We are just going to caucus for a moment.

MR. LAU:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask a clarification, Donald?

MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you asking for Brooklin or for Whitby or for all of Elexicon?

MR. LAU:  I am asking for the Whitby.  This is going to be in relation to the Sustainable Brooklin.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, okay.

MR. LAU:  It's for the purposes of Sustainable Brooklin I am asking this question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because Brooklin I don't think has a whole lot of growth in the past.  It is the next area, right?

MR. LAU:  Yup.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you add, like, Seaton and places like that, there is a whole hell of a lot of growth.

MR. LAU:  Yes, so it would be like the Whitby rate zone.  I just want to know -- where I am going with it is I want to know what the residential load growth looked like before and where it look like now when these new subdivisions are coming in in comparison.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.

MR. LAU:  Yeah, no problem.

MR. BOUDHAR:  So, yes.  We can take that undertaking for -- and provide the data.

MR. LAU:  For the Whitby rate zone?

MR. BOUDHAR:  For the Whitby rate zone, yes.

MR. LAU:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  TO PROVIDE THE ACTUAL HISTORICAL RESIDENTIAL  FOR THE LAST FIVE YEARS.

MR. LAU:  So prior to the technical conference, staff had circulated two Excel files.  One is related to the Whitby Smart Grid and the other is for the Sustainable Brooklin.  Staff had prepared a bunch of calculations that I will be referring to in my questions.  And I would just like to have those -- have an exhibit number for both of them.

MR. MURRAY:  Perhaps, Mr. Lau, if you could just describe or give a title of the first document and we will give that exhibit the first number, and then we'll get the title of the second one and we'll make that exhibit the second exhibit.

MR. LAU:  Sure.  Since I am starting with the Sustainable Brooklin, the Excel file is Sustainable Brooklin NPV.  And in that document what is in there is -- there is two tabs.  One tab is to essentially look at the net present value of the Sustainable Brooklin project in comparison to the DER and EV benefits that we're expecting.

The reason -- there has been numbers that were provided by Elexicon, but I provided this model to show all of the time periods, the assumptions, and so that this could be used as a basis to test different scenarios and everybody can see where the calculation is.  So that is the first tab.

MR. MURRAY:  And I just want to confirm that you provided these documents in advance to Elexicon more than 24 hours ago?

MR. LAU:  Correct.

MR. MURRAY:  So the first one, Sustainable Brooklin NPV, will be marked as Exhibit KT1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  SUSTAINABLE BROOKLIN NPV DOCUMENT.

MR. LAU:  Thank you.

Now, the second tab, just for everybody's benefit, is a comparison of when looking through the evidence Staff believed would require a transformer station to be built, which was around 2036.

And the estimate for that was based on what was in Elexicon's initial application, so ballparked around 50 million dollars.  And the intent of this is to really see what are we talking about in net present value when we are actually deferring a 50 million TS between one years, three years, and five years.

Moving to the other Excel that Staff had provided.  The title of the document is Whitby Smart Grid NPV.  Again, there are three tabs in this file.  The first tab is only varying the discount rate.  The starting assumption is at 3 percent.  And in each of these tabs there are three options.

Option number one is the proposed option that Elexicon has put before us.  It is putting the project into service in 2025 while incurring costs over three years, and then the benefits beginning from 2025 onwards.

I have also added in there costs that include the OM&A adjusted for inflation over the 2020 year period, and to put a net present value for that.

In option 2, it is what was one of the alternatives, which is to spread this investment over five years, have it come into service in 2028.  So I took -- actually, I think you provided the cost spending.

I shifted your projected savings from 2028 onwards and again added in the OM&A, adjusted for inflation, and to take a look at the net present value there.

In option 3 it is a little bit of a hybrid.  Staff asked the possibility of phasing-in the benefits of the Volt-VAR optimization and also the phasing-in of reliability benefits, which could be done by constructing or working with feeders and pairs.

It is with an assumption that the savings can start incurring in 2025.  And the reason for that is I assume when you do the Volt-VAR and the ADMS there is going to be a lot of costs building [audio dropout] but then when you are actually out there building the feeders and building -- putting the equipment actually out there, it can be done in components.  And as you put them in components, benefits can be realized on feeders with these components.

So staff had put benefits beginning in 2025, prorated based on your expected benefits when the project is completed, all the way 'til 2028.

So the cost assumption is that Elexicon will spread this over, from now 'til 2028, but be able to at least realize some portions of the benefits starting 2025.  Again, it includes OM&A costs also adjusted by inflation.

And so the first one has those three options, but it is only trying to show the impact of adjusting different discount rates with those assumptions.

In tab number 2, it is -- again has the option to vary the discount rate, but it is keep -- my intent was to keep it fixed, but looking at the scenario savings.

Elexicon is expected 3 percent Volt-VAR optimization or reduction in voltage.  But you also have a low end of 2 percent.

With regards to comparing to the Sault smart grid project, they had 2.7.  So what I really want to show here is that, what would it look like with a range of potential voltage savings or voltage reductions between 2 and 3 percent?

And how I have done it is, instead of trying to put in the percentage, it is based on a percentage of the scenario savings, with 100 percent being the 3 percent that Elexicon has projected and the savings that you have given us, and you can vary it down proportionately to whatever value you want, but just to really show that if you don't reach the voltages that you are expecting, the savings will also go down.

The final one is to add-on the reliability savings, and again, this allows the ability to vary potential reliability.  I know it is based on a per unit, per customer.  But are those reliability savings really going to show up.

And allowing to really test the different range of reliability savings that Elexicon is expecting so that we kind of know, when did these projects not look attractive any more from a net present value.  So that is what is in the second Excel file that staff is asking to have an exhibit number for.

MR. MURRAY:  And that will be Exhibit -- the Whitby smart grid NPV will be Exhibit KT1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  WHITBY SMART GRID NPV DOCUMENT.

MR. LAU:  So my first question -- and I will be referring to Staff 17-D, and this is the Brooklin response, and also the CCMBC 20, the Brooklin response, as well as the Sustainable Brooklin Excel that I just showed.

So on the basis of quid pro quo, the Sustainable Brooklin Excel, I have shown that, depending on how many homes are constructed with DERs and EV rough-ins, the net present value can actually go from positive and negative, right, and a break-even point I estimate around is 620 homes per year.

That is already in the Excel file that is -- that is being shown, or that I have sent.

And what I really want to know is if there is any financial agreement for the Brooklin Landowners Group should they fall behind in the construction of any of the homes in any one year, and how will that affect this, quote-unquote quid pro quo calculation?

MR. MANDYAM:  Well, Mr. Lau, I think you've answered your own question.  I hate to say it that way, but you just said, if the number of homes is less than I think you said 620 --


MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  -- then the DER NPV gets to be less than the cost of the construction.  So that part I think you answered yourself.

With respect to the OEB and the condition, what you have highlighted is potentially additional conditions that the OEB can put that can address that situation, should -- currently yes the Brooklin landowners have a forecast of up to 11,000 homes over 20 years.  And 700 homes per year.  But you are raising a question which is, what happens if a certain number do not achieve.  Sorry a certain number is not constructed.

Certainly the benefit from the overall Whitby ratepayer and specifically the Brooklin ratepayer comes about with each home being DER-enabled and ultimately DER-installed.

So you know to the extent that the number of homes doesn't achieve the total 11,000 or it would really be up to the OEB to look to any other conditions that they would like to put on.

MR. LAU:  Maybe I can rephrase it.  Where I was going with this was, the proposal was:   If the developer doesn't build a DER ready home, Elexicon would go, okay, I would like to collect capital contribution because it was based on a quid pro quo, here is my calculation.

Now, what if the developer says I am still willing to build this but this year based on resources, I originally planned 700 homes but now I am, I can only do 500 this year.  Next year I will make up for that in future years.

The reason I tried to show it in the Excel is time value of money will affect your net present value.  This whole quid pro quo we should look at the time value of money.

Any shifts, even if they do complete DER ready homes when they start shifting it down the road that will have an impact on your net present value comparison your quid pro quo scenario.

So how does Elexicon plan to deal with that?  What are you going to collect from the developer, should they fall behind on constructing homes, even if they are going to be DER ready at some point?

MR. MANDYAM:  So right now in our proposal we're collecting -- our statement is 2260 per year going forward.

Your question is, and that is what we stated.

MR. LAU:  Okay.

MR. MANDYAM:  Should the OEB consider a different amount, like we talked about with Mr. Ladanyi an indexed amount, et cetera, Elexicon would follow the Board's order.

MR. LAU:  So even if they are going to be constructed but only delayed by a year, you would go to the Brooklin landowner group and say, you missed your target of 620, 700 whatever the target is.  We want you to pay the capital contribution?  Or no?

MR. MANDYAM:  Sorry.  I misunderstood.  No.  Our current proposal is that there is a set of homes over a course of 20 years and we are looking at it on a total basis.

MR. LAU:  Okay.

MR. MANDYAM:  We are giving that deferential treatment to the customer in this case, which is the Brooklin Landowners Group, that they will hit their obligation.

Obviously they're intending to.  They want to maximize the use of the land and achieve their goals and targets that the planning process undertakes or approves.

I will raise another point which is the opposite of your point.  What if they install more homes?

MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  That is also a viable scenario, isn't it Mr. Lau?

MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.

MR. LAU:  So I guess what we're trying to get to here is that there is risk both ways, in either defers and there are benefits as well.  Correct?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  Just on the same line of questioning.  The Ontario Building Code.  This is a 20 year period.  If at some point the Ontario Building Code requires homes to be constructed to be DER and EV ready -- which could be a possibility -- how will Elexicon's ratepayers be kept whole and protected?  Because then in that point, this whole quid pro quo calculation projecting out 20 years is no longer valid because they would have to build homes DER ready anyways.

So at that point if something like that happens, how does Elexicon propose to protect its ratepayers then?  Or this is going to stay in place and it is already water under the bridge and they don't have to pay for it?  It is now covered by Elexicon ratepayers.

MR. MANDYAM:  We're just going to caucus for a second.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. MANDYAM:  Thanks for your patience, Mr. Lau, a few Points.   On the point of Whitby rate zone customers benefitting should the building code change and establish DERs, a reference that as a mandatory item, first, this decision, should it have been approved which is under your assumption it is approved as is, would have resulted hopefully and we believe it will -- would have resulted in future investments being deferred.

So Whitby ratepayers will be getting the benefit of that because at some point, let's not worry about the future, but up to leading to that building code change date, DERs would be roughed in.  Homes would be built.  Customers would be installing DERs.  That is offsetting load, future load and we're, we're hopefully achieving that 53 percent tile value and, therefore you know that LCSA that future infrastructure is deferred five years out.


So Whitby ratepayers will be getting the benefit of that, because at some point, let's not worry about the future point, but up to leading to that building code change date, DERs would be roughed in.  Homes would be built.  Customers would be installing DERs.  That is offsetting load, future load, and we're -- we're hopefully achieving that 53 percentile value, and therefore, you know, that future infrastructure is deferred five years out, so there is the whole Whitby rate zone is getting the benefit of that.

The immediate customers in the Brooklin, the 700 per year, if we get all of them, let's just use that as illustration, all 700 to be installing batteries and solar, will be benefiting immediately from energy savings from that.  They will be doing arbitrage with the ultra low rate, et cetera, they will be managing their consumption and they won't be purchasing from Elexicon.  They will be producing it themselves and storing it with batteries, so they will get consumption benefits from that.  So their bills will be lower.  So there will be that benefit.

And then dealing directly with the rest of the situation, which is now the remaining build that is after, the remaining houses that have to be built from that demarcation point of the building code being changed, well, from that time forward you have raised a good question, and our answer is, whatever conditions would be imposed by the OEB, we'll follow those along and put those in our contracts, as stated earlier.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Donald, can I just interject?  It is Julie here.

MR. LAU:  Yeah.

MS. GIRVAN:  I just had a quick -- just so I don't lose the point, Andrew.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah.

MS. GIRVAN:  I think you just said if the building code mandates DER and EV readiness, that doesn't necessarily mean you are going to get a 50 percent adoption.  I think you said if we get 53 percent adoption, then everybody will benefit because we have deferred infrastructure, but that is simply making the building code require the rough-ins, it doesn't necessarily mean you are going to get that adoption.  It is not clear to me.

MR. MANDYAM:  Oh, yeah, no, I didn't mean to intimate that or portray that, Julie.

I was saying the second benefit I was talking about to ratepayers is the direct -- thank you, good to see you again -- the customers in the Brooklin area, if 53 percent adoption occurs, then we're able to defer infrastructure by five years.  If it is 13 or 12 percent, I can't remember the exact number, if --


MS. GIRVAN:  One year.

MR. MANDYAM:  One year.  So that is what I was commenting on.  I wasn't connecting it to the building code.  I was trying not -- I didn't mean to if I did --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I just thought you were making an assumption if the building code requires the rough-ins that you're going to get 53 percent adoption, so I just wanted to clarify that.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah, yeah, no, no, that -- nothing of the sort.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thanks.  Sorry.

MR. LAU:  No problem.  Thanks, Julie.

Okay.  So now can we turn to the tab -- the Excel tab for the NPV for the station deferral.

Based on what I have shown here, are those -- is this model reasonable?  And what I am really trying to get is to have Elexicon also take a look at it and just discuss so that we can look at the numbers.

MR. MANDYAM:  When you say "Elexicon take a look and discuss", what do you mean by that --


MR. LAU:  So is it reasonable, as in -- what I am trying to show here is, when you are saying there is a benefit to deferring an asset, it is not a 50 million dollar benefit.  You're going to have to invest in that eventually.  You are actually deferring it by one year, and the benefit is actually the deferral period, right?  So that is why I have chosen to do a net present value.

MR. MANDYAM:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. LAU:  Now, I assumed it is happening in 2036 and deferred it in net 2037.  So let's say in scenario 1, one=year deferral, in a net present value it is only about a million dollars benefit that we're talking about.

In scenario 2, three years, we're really only talking about 2.89.  And in five years we're really only talking about 4.68, right?

I am really just trying to get an understanding of, when we say there is a benefit to a deferral, what are we really looking at?  And so this is -- I tried to provide this Excel file to have that discussion and just, what is Elexicon's position on that?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Okay.  We're just going to quickly caucus and come back to you, thank you.

MR. LAU:  Thank you.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MR. MANDYAM:  Thank you for your patience, Mr. Lau.

So while we can't necessarily, like, accept all of the numbers, but based on the preamble you have given today it provides additional context.

In terms of generally how the deferral benefit is being calculated, I agree it is consistent with what is being shown on the screen here, and that most closely aligns with the evidence that was submitted in response to SEC-08.

I guess the one point from what we're seeing on the screen here is, I see there is an assumption of 2 percent inflation that is stated, but I don't see it being used in the model itself.  It is just stated.

MR. LAU:  I see.  Okay.  That is a fair assessment.  Okay, thank you.

MR. MANDYAM:  Just one additional point, and, you know, it is a -- this -- the benefit that you are pointing here and the quantum of it, albeit it is large -- I mean, we're talking -- five million dollars is a lot of money being shared back, in the lower scenario.  This also gives Elexicon the ability to, as it progresses with DER proliferation -- so as DERs become more and more used throughout its service term into Veridian and other territories -- it -- this -- what you are showing here is basically -- can be replicated as those DER enablements expand over its service territory.  So other infrastructure will be deferred.  And this quantum that you are showing here will just be multiplied.  So just another point.

MR. LAU:  I just wanted to assess what we're really talking about when we're talking about deferrals and the benefits, thank you.

So I want to take you to the -- which one was this ED 02, Brooklin's response.  They made a comment or they had stated in there that homeowners, if given the option, they would prefer paying for tangible visible benefits rather than intangible invisible benefits.

And we have talked a lot about DERs and the benefits and how they can defer things.  But these homes are being built with DERs and EVs.  And so DERs are going to help you with the load, help you with deferring the load.  But EVs will increase your load, right.

So has Elexicon looked at different scenarios?  So I understand that these different components may not operate at the same time.  They may not be concurrent, but in terms of studying the net impact of both EVs being added and DERs being added, as well as it is possibly more likely that someone will buy an EV and plug it in than to put in a DER and solar panel, if they are more into tangible things.  I know that wasn't in your evidence.

But the point of this question is, has Elexicon studied different types of scenarios of combination of more EVs, less DERs which will actually increase your load on a net?  Or more DERs and EVs?  More DER than EVs?  And if not, why not?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.  So no specific scenarios towards the load impacts or generation impacts of EVs were presented in the load forecast.  So in the same way that the DERs are not being forecast, they're being calculated what would be the requirement in order to defer capacity.

I think it is important to get across what we're talking about when we're talking about electric vehicles.  So from the grid's perspective, it is a battery which can be charged or discharged.  And so at some points in time that battery may be drawing power from the grid and at some point in time that battery may be supplying power to the grid.

And as noted in appendix B-3 of Elexicon's evidence, they're still deciding what that DER enabling program is going to look like in that regard.  But, yes, that outlines why it wasn't explicitly modelled.

MR. LAU:  I believe you just said that the EV vehicle can both be used to charge and discharge into the system, which is true.

If it is discharged in the system, what would the home owner use to drive the vehicle, it needs the fuel.  It is essentially the fuel, right?  So if it is used to discharge back into the system, in the morning when they need to drive to work how are they going to have that?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.  So the charging is when the power goes into the battery and the discharging is when the power comes out of the battery.  So there is cycles of charging and discharging.  You can't have just one.

MR. LAU:  No.  I get that but let's say hypothetically you charge at night.  You drive it to work.  You are not going to discharge it when you are at work.  You need the fuel to drive home, right.

So when, I guess Elexicon -- how would that look like?

MR. MANDYAM:  Well I am going to jump in just to interrupt Mr. Martin-Sturmey, but as you said your point I just look at our work from home world.

Mr. Lau, you could keep your car parked.  Make it used as a battery storage device to and from, you are working from home, carrying on and that that scenario is you are using your vehicle daily in and out as a battery storage almost.  And feeding back to the grid.  That is a plausible scenario.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  So I guess the conclusion is that these different possible scenarios Elexicon has not studied them for the purpose -- for now it is only looking at what DER penetration would be required to defer assets?  Correct?

MR. BOUDHAR:  I would just like to add something to what Mr. Martin-Sturmey said.  Without knowing the load profile for EV -- which is probably something that the IESO would be providing in the next few years.  When we did the speak, the study or the evidence filed on appendix B-4 by Mr. Or METSCO, Mr. Martin-Sturmey, we're looking at peak values during the day.

So obviously we know that solar would be generating electricity during the day.  Probably during those peak hours.  And EV charging will, again, without knowing those profiles most of the assumptions is the EV charging would be happening at the end of the day or probably even at night.

MR. LAU:  Hmm-hmm.  Okay.  Thank you.  Looking at the DER enabling program that Elexicon is proposing and in conjunction with Brooklin's response about how homeowners may want to spend their money, did Elexicon take into account how homeowners would spend, in terms of an incentive?  Because the way I am looking at it is, yes, putting in DER EV ready homes removes one barrier.  Elexicon is then proposing possibly an incentive program or some sort of DER program that will continue to incent them, potentially in the form of credits something like that.

But there is no guarantee that someone will spend money.  They may rather invest in an upgrade in their home to increase its home value than to invest in DERs, which may save them money.  Not to say either is correct or not, but did Elexicon look into those other potential possibilities or does it plan to?

MR. MANDYAM:  I didn't catch the last part.  Sorry, I didn't catch the last part of your statement.

MR. LAU:  So the statement is, did Elexicon consider these possibilities?  Meaning consider the spending patterns of the homeowner?  And if not, do you plan to when you are looking at DERs and DER incentives?

MR. MANDYAM:  The short answer is, yes, we plan to.  Elexicon does plan to.  Yes, for sure.  It is not -- as you have noted, it is not a deep dive into those elements of home owner wishes and preferences to go either way on how it offsets the concern or, yeah, what type of incentive program will offset the concern.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  Again, if I look at Staff 15 from Brooklin's response the Brooklin Landowners Group expected that feeders would be constructed by the Brooklin Landowners Group and then transferred to Elexicon.  Can you just confirm for me who is actually going to be building these feeders?

MR. BOUDHAR:  At the moment, obviously it depends on the offer to connect at the end.

The design is being done by a consultant on behalf of the developer.  We don't know exactly who is going to be the constructor of these but I am assuming it is going to be another contractor as well building the feeders.

MR. LAU:  Would that contractor be contracted by Elexicon?  Or the developers?

MR. VELLONE:  Are you assuming the DSC exemption is granted or not granted?

MR. LAU:  Okay.  So it is dependent.

MR. VELLONE:  If it is not granted, I think the developer prefers to go contestable alternative bid models so they bid it themselves then transfer the assets back.

If the ICM and DSC exemption is granted, I believe that the utility would build the project the way they normally would for any rate-basable asset.

MR. LAU:  Okay, understood.  Thank you, John, that actually saved me one question.  Okay, thank you.  So from the design of the feeders, right now Elexicon is proposing to build, to bring two feeders into the area on separate circuits and I believe it is for a loop feed.

To feed the area right now you only require two feeders, correct?

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct.  I mean, when you say right now, it depends what you mean by right now.  But actually it would be two feeders.

MR. LAU:  Just the proposal.

Those two feeders can be on one circuit.  You could achieve the same thing in terms of supplying load.  You can achieve the same thing having two feeders on one circuit instead of one feeder on the circuit with two spares.

MR. BOUDHAR:  When we say a feeder we're talking about a circuit.  I am not sure what you mean by --


MR. LAU:  Maybe I use the terms differently.  When I think circuit I mean an actual pole line.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Okay.

MR. LAU:  When I think feeder I mean the wire itself, the three conductors.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Okay.

MR. LAU:  So to supply this area I believe it requires two feeders.

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. LAU:  The design currently is one feeder on one circuit going one way, with two spares, one feeder on another circuit going another way with two spares.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes, so --


MR. LAU:  The design.  Yeah.  So the design can also be two feeders on one circuit with one spare to supply load.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Correct.

MR. LAU:  Just to supply the load.  So could you tell me the cost to just build that?  Is that an estimate?  Is it fair to say it would just be half?  Or is it going to be a little bit different?  Just -- and help me understand, what would the cost of that look like?

MR. BOUDHAR:  We don't know the cost.  It is probably not going to be half, but obviously there is reasons that were filed for why we are building two different pole lines instead of one.

MR. LAU:  Yes.  So I think I saw that reason.  Your reason was for redundancy to provide a loop feed, essentially.

But for -- could you provide an undertaking to give me the cost estimate of having a single-circuit design with two feeders?

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yeah, we can --


MR. VELLONE:  Can I understand whether or not that is actually in accordance with Elexicon's planning standards, engineering standards?  My understanding is the loop feed is being driven by your internal standards.  Like, that has to be -- if the car hits the pole and the pole goes down, both circuits go down, you don't have a loop feed.

MR. BOUDHAR:  That is correct, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  A tree falls, hits the one line.  It will take out both lines.  You no longer have a loop feed.  The whole purpose of the loop feed is to avoid the outage in those circumstances.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Correct, because --


MR. VELLONE:  It has to go down a different route, I thought.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes, that is correct.  Because of the size of the load we're talking about, basically the standard design that we have, a loop and a different pole line when we feed the -- that demand.

MR. LAU:  So my question really isn't whether or not that is an appropriate design.  It is to really just understand what the cost would look like, even it is just a very high-level estimate, and can Elexicon provide that?  It doesn't have to be a detailed design.  Just a planner's estimate would be sufficient.

MR. MANDYAM:  We are just going to caucus for a second.

MR. LAU:  Thank you,

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MR. BOUDHAR:  So I guess our answer would be we don't see the relevance of this taking to the application, since our standard is, basically, having a look on two different pole lines.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.

So, Lawren, I finished with the Sustainable Brooklin.  We're on WSG.  Would you like to take a break now?

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  Maybe we will take a short break, just to give the panel a little bit of a breath and people can take a -- go to the washroom if they need to.  Perhaps we will come back at four o'clock.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 3:51 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:01 p.m.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you, everyone.  Thank you everyone.  We are back with the technical conference.  Mr. Lau, please continue your questions.

MR. LAU:  Thank you.  To try and be a little bit more efficient with questions, I had provided the Whitby smart grid NPV.  There is a lot of numbers there.  I kind of explained my intent which was basically to have a model that we can look at and test different scenarios.

I put a bunch of assumptions in there.  I was hoping to discuss it.  But with limited time can Elexicon take it as an undertaking to either let us know whether you agree with the assumptions, or if you don't, what you changes do you propose to this model to basically reach my intent which is to look at the net present value of the costs of the project and all of the possible savings.  Or to provide something similar that can help us achieve the goal which I am trying to get, which is looking at different options.

MR. MANDYAM:  So we have -- Mr. Lau, we have provided net present values.  Granted your model for WSG would be smart grid incorporates the savings where our models don't.  Our model ends with the in service date.  Your model goes out for I am thinking 20 years from the in service date.

At the face of it there are some numbers that I think are, I have to go check but I think they need to be different.  Like the OM&A, can you tell us -- you have an OM&A value but it doesn't strike me as the net OM&A cost that we put in our evidence.

MR. LAU:  So I used the one that was in the original evidence, page 80 of the application.

MR. MANDYAM:  Page 80?  PDF page --


MR. LAU:  Yes, PDF Page 8.  That is table 1.  You can actually pull it up because that is where I will start my next set of questions.  Or I can tell you what it is, table 1 --


MR. OTT:  I know what it is but Brandon is going to go there, I think.  


UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  If you can provide page 67.

MR. LAU:  It is page 11 of 56, appendix B.  That is where I am pulling it from.  If you believe the number should be something different, I am open to it.  I am trying to find a model.  You can even use your DCF models and try to incorporate the savings just provide it by way of undertaking, so I can have something in Excel format that allows me to play with the numbers.  I can deal with either.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  We will -- we can (audio dropout) we can -- we will do the undertaking, we can do the undertaking.  We will take the undertaking.  I just wanted to have some clarifications, if I can, right now, so we know what we're looking at.

MR. LAU:  Okay.

MR. MANDYAM:  That was one, OM&A.  I see where you are taking the point 3.  So you used the .34 million, that's 324,000.

MR. LAU:  Correct.

MR. MANDYAM:  You then subtract the operating efficiencies, okay, got you.

MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  And in your option 3, which is the Board Staff's creation, you are applying the savings to years '25, '26 and '27, and I believe you're applying a 40, 60, 80 percent ratio 


MR. LAU:  Correct.


MR. MANDYAM:  -- a footnote you put in there.  Your thought is that the Whitby rate zone customers are benefitting to the tune of 40, 60, 80 percent of the total savings, energy savings, during the period as the construction is unfolding in years 2025, 2026, 2027.

MR. LAU:  The assumption there, and the numbers can change, the assumption there is that benefits can be realized in a phased method because in one, the VVO savings that is varying the voltage per feeder.

So the benefits in energy savings should be per feeder.  It doesn't need to be completely completed until each feeder realizes benefits.

From a reliability savings standpoint, I asked an IR that said, if you are working, if you are implementing the equipment in back to back feeds, that you will have that back to back capability, therefore we are realizing reliability benefits.

So all I am trying to demonstrate here is that it is not -- you start seeing the savings when all of it is done.  You can start seeing savings as feeders are being completed, and I assume your engineers would do the same thing.  They would start doing it in pieces, in areas.  Not one here, one there.  Right.  So benefits are going to be realized.

To what extent, I am open to Elexicon proposing what that kind of, what kind of benefits you will be realizing, but I think it is fair to say that as the work is being completed in the field, benefits can be realized immediately before all the feeders are done, to some extent.

MR. THOMPSON:  Daryn Thompson here.  The savings on the VVO system scale better than the savings on the reliability system.  You might not get those savings.  So there is a risk there.  There is going to be a band.


The second thing is I noticed when you did this table, you used 2, two and a half, and 3 as your limits.  I would suggest that three is the middle.  It should be 2 and a half, 3, and three and a half.  I understand where you got your numbers, but in our report we said the range was two to four percent and three was a reasonable assumption.

So I believe that, for instance, while you suggested 2.7, I believe 3.3 would be equally probable.

MR. LAU:  Okay, fair.

MR. MANDYAM:  Sorry, go ahead, Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  Are we finished with all the caveats?  Once we have finished the caveats let's sum up the undertaking.

MR. MANDYAM:  Just one more point.  I think from our perspective, Mr. Lau, you have three sheets here.  Our approach would be in this undertaking to only deal with the last sheet.  You are including reliability sheet.

MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  And respond to that.  And as far as the undertaking, I think what you are asking is for Elexicon to review and update the, including reliability, sheet pertaining to Staff, Whitby smart grid, Excel workbook, and updated to reflect -- well you have options 1, 2 and 3.  Options 1 and 2 are equivalent to what Elexicon has proposed in its alternative -- in its project evaluations.  But option 3 is Staff's option.

You are asking us to review the sheet for all three.  And the NPV net calculations.  And basically, in my words, make it Elexicon's?

MR. LAU:  Yes.  And also provide, if you disagree with anything, provide me with what that disagreement is and what the basis of that disagreement would be.

So for example the voltage, that explanation that was just given, I would like that as part of the undertaking.  Along with if you are saying the reliability savings or the phased approach is not exactly linear, also an explanation as to why.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  We will do that.  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking JT1.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  AS DESCRIBED ON PAGES 165-168

MR. LAU:  Thank you.  Now, if we take a look at the table 1 in the application that was just put up.  Could you update that table with the latest RPP report and cost of capital parameters so that the cost of power will have the latest forecast and also the ICM additional revenue?

MR. MANDYAM:  Mr. Lau you are asking for the end of year 2022 cost of power?  Total cost of power?

MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  Versus the 2021 that was used?

MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  I don't know where Elexicon is at with gathering that information at this time, given settlements and everything.  I am not --


MR. LAU:  Just the unit cost.  I assume the cost of power that is provided, the 108 was based on certain RPP numbers, right?  And volumetric rates -- volume --


MR. MANDYAM:  No.  That was actually -- I believe the Elexicon team reconciled actual settlements and went and with the IESO and determined a total cost of power for that year.  So I know it wasn't a mathematical formula.

MR. LAU:  Okay.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah, go ahead.

MR. LAU:  What I am really trying to show here, and maybe you can help propose another method, is that, this calculation, this benefit, is dependent on the RPP rates, the cost-of-power rate, and changes in that will affect this calculation.

And I believe that if we use the latest RPP numbers this number should go down.  And I am just trying to figure out or show how much it might go down.

So is there something Elexicon can do to help with that?  To show what -- using the latest RPP numbers we have, what that might look like?

MR. MANDYAM:  I think it is fair to -- I think Elexicon would agree that energy usage, it is 3 percent, energy savings is calculated as 3 percent of total energy used, and the commodity component.

MR. LAU:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. MANDYAM:  So I think we all agree that as that value changes, the value that the savings is is going to change.  Up or down.

MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. MANDYAM:  So does that help on the record to --


MR. LAU:  Yes.  Completely, no, yeah, I mean, we can --


MR. MANDYAM:  -- what I just said?  Do we need that --


MR. LAU:  -- provide the calculation -- yeah --


MR. MANDYAM:  -- undertaking any more?

MR. LAU:  I would like to have a number that Elexicon would agree to, to what it might look like with the latest RPP.

If not, then we will have to save that for another time.  But that is what I am hoping to get.  Because it will really show with what we know to date, what does this net benefit really look like.  That is what I am trying to get at.

And I think it would be beneficial for Elexicon to show that, or we can just save it for argument.  At some point this is going to be --


MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah.

MR. LAU:  -- something that we will end up discussing.  It would be better to have it now so that we know what we're talking about rather than having it through argument, is my suggestion on it.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah.  We can take the undertaking as a best-efforts basis to see what the team can come up --


MR. LAU:  Sure.

MR. MANDYAM:  -- with as far as that --


MR. LAU:  And same with the --


MR. MANDYAM:  -- value basis.  So the undertaking is basically update table 1, page 11 of Appendix B to reflect the, if we can, the 2022 total cost of power in the same manner that we did with the current table 1.

And you had one other parameter?

MR. LAU:  Cost-of-capital parameters for the ICM additional --


MR. MANDYAM:  Oh the incremental revenue, yes.

MR. LAU:  Yeah.  Correct.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah, so update that with the 2023 cost-of-capital parameters.  The finalized OEB cost-of-capital parameters.

MR. LAU:  Yes.  And to the extent possible, also do that with the Excel file that I provided, because this is a snapshot, and to the extent possible, is all I am saying, because this one is showing a snapshot in time.  This is looking at what we know today.

In the Excel file that I provided, which is the Elexicon -- sorry, the Whitby smart grid NPV, the one that you are agreeing to update an undertaking, it is showing -- taking into consideration the passage of time.

So if it is possible, I would like Elexicon to update that, but now knowing how you do your cost of power, it may be a little bit more complicated, so I would just like on a best-efforts basis to try and do that, knowing what I am trying to show here is what does the NPV look like with the latest information.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay.  Yes, we can -- we will look at that as well.  Yes.  So the undertaking is also to look at the, I think it is the reliability worksheet within the Staff Whitby smart grid workbook and see if we can apply the updated table 1, which is really a one-year snapshot --


MR. LAU:  Right.

MR. MANDYAM:  -- which you have taken and then incorporated into your 20-year modelling.

MR. LAU:  Correct.

MR. MANDYAM:  Got you, okay, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking JT1.22.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  TO UPDATE TABLE 1, PAGE 11 OF APPENDIX B TO REFLECT THE 2022 TOTAL COST OF POWER IN THE SAME MANNER AS WAS DONE WITH THE CURRENT TABLE 1, INCLUDING THE COST-OF-CAPITAL PARAMETERS FOR THE ICM, TO UPDATE THAT WITH THE 2023 COST-OF-CAPITAL PARAMETERS, THE FINALIZED OEB COST-OF-CAPITAL PARAMETERS, AND, TO THE EXTENT POSSIBLE, ALSO DO THAT WITH THE EXCEL FILE THAT WAS PROVIDED.  AND ALSO TO LOOK AT THE RELIABILITY WORKSHEET WITHIN THE STAFF WHITBY SMART GRID WORKBOOK AND SEE IT CAN BE APPLIED TO THE UPDATED TABLE 1.

MR. MANDYAM:  Well, I think it's the same, actually.  I was going to do it all, because -- oh, no, you are right.  It is a different -- you are right, Mr. Murray, yes.  JT1.22.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.

Now, there is part of how you've put together the WSG was also looking at the Sault smart grid.  In the decision and order they were asked to demonstrate how the smart grid project was accommodated through reprioritization of other capital projects.

In staff 4 Elexicon stated that the only project they're planning to alter is the ADMS.  And I just want to confirm that is the case.  There is no other projects that are planned to defer?

MR. MANDYAM:  I think -- well, I just want to go back to your original premise.  I thought that the Sault smart grid order was, at rebasing they are to demonstrate -- in their cost-of-service rebasing application they are to demonstrate.

It wasn't as part of that application.  Are you sure?  I thought it was --


MR. LAU:  No.  It was -- you might be correct with the exact wording.  Let me just pull it up and I can read it.

MR. MANDYAM:  So -- yeah.  I am not sure --


MR. LAU:  Okay.  So --


MR. MANDYAM:  -- I mean, we have reprioritized, but that is part of regular DSP management --


MR. LAU:  You are correct.  Let me read that paragraph in the order.  It is:

"PUC Distribution Inc. shall file an updated distribution system plan at the time of its next rebasing application which demonstrates how the SSG project is being accommodated through the reprioritization of other capital projects."

So what I want to know is, now that the WSG is planned for 2025, has Elexicon given any thoughts to deferring anything -- any other capital projects?  And from the IR it seems like it is just the ADMS, and I just wanted to confirm that quickly.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.

In VECC 7 Elexicon showed that there is about 28 million dollars related to the installation of distribution automated switches, cap banks, regulator banks, and in Staff 5, table 3, it shows that Elexicon plans to spend 1.3 million dollars in line rebuilds, 1.7 million dollars on poles, .68 on -- million on switches, and 6 million on system reliability improvements.

What I really just want to understand is, when you are installing distribution automated switches, cap banks, and regulator banks as part of this project, how many poles would you need to replace?  And would they, you know, overlap like your pole replacement program?  Has Elexicon taken a look at that?

MR. THOMPSON:  So in the context of the class 4 estimate that was produced as part of this project, all the major equipment is assumed to need a new pole.  So the distribution switches, the regulators, might need a couple poles, and the cap banks might need new poles, and that is, generally speaking, because a pole line built in Whitby doesn't have a heavy enough pole to hold a large device.

So you could go, you could put another -- you know, you could put some distribution transformer on a pole, but something heavier, you might run into trouble.  So you don't know.  So right now is the assumption is a new pole per major device.

The context of how this would integrate with a pole line replacement program, they're spotty poles, they're one-offs, they're all around the city.  So the study -- the estimate that I did does not account for the possibility of those poles being replaced anyway, but considering the program that we're going to be in over the next few years, the odds of intersection of those two plans would be a small number of poles, if any.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  Could Elexicon provide an estimate like that?  Or is that too difficult to say?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, those poles aren't selected.  The poles that will be replaced aren't selected.

MR. LAU:  So you're saying reactive replacement for poses?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it will be location-specific.  So we will go to the feeders, we'll figure out -- for instance, coming out of the substation, we will have four feeders.  We will have to find a spot for 12 regulators, you know.  It is not really planned out exactly which poles would be involved.

MR. LAU:  Right.  But where I am trying to get at is, there is -- when you are putting those poles in there, I understand the regulator pole would be a brand-new pole.  Right adjacent to that, along this feeder, let's say this pole was at end-of-life and it needs to be replaced and there is no assets on there other than the conductor itself.

I would assume you would end up connecting those connectors on to this new pole.  That pole replacement is no longer required because this new pole you've installed can handle both the cap bank and existing feeders.  That would be one pole reduction in the pole replacement program.

For line rebuilds I assume Elexicon goes out there and does entire sections of feeder because they're all old.  It could be anything from replacing old feeder or just anything -- I can't really think of a scenario.  But in that particular case you go out there and you are replacing a small section to install regulator banks.  That could also overlap.

And I'm just kind of get a sense of how much overlap there will be in terms of pole replacements, if any, and if Elexicon can provide that.

MR. THOMPSON:  So speaking for the project as we developed it.  We haven't done that study.

MR. LAU:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  I would defer to Mr. Boudhar.

MR. BOUDHAR:  What I can add to that we're basing that on the assumption and reactive pole replacement program, which usually it is not determined what assets we're going to be replacing until we do the inspection, which is done the year before.

So Elexicon doesn't know what poles we'll be replacing in two years, for example, from now.  We only do the inspection and determine the poles to be replaced next year which is basically why we call it reactive replacement.

MR. LAU:  Is your line rebuild program not a proactive program where you would actually have a system -- an actual planner looking at what poles you are replacing, maybe two years out, three years out?  Is it not a proactive program?


MR. BOUDHAR:  It is a proactive program.

What we do is, we look at -- obviously the age of the pole, but just that's one factor and a formula when we determine what asset to replace.  So a condition of the pole or age of the pole may not tell us the actual the condition of the pole.

So we can take that assumption that there is an intersection between a project and a reactive program but it's not always the case.

MR. LAU:  Yes.  I understand.

So with what you have in your asset management plans now and what your plan is for the WSG, can you figure out the overlap?

MR. BOUDHAR:  It's very --


MR. LAU:  You have time for both, no?  You know what section of feeders you might want to work on.  You know where you are going to put these regulators banks at least which feeders and approximately where.  Even on a planner's estimate there should be some feeling of overlap; no?  It doesn't have to be down to a specific pole, just to give an idea of what percentage overlap might happen.

MR. BOUDHAR:  Yes, the issue with that is like I said if we go by the age of the pole only, but there is other factors to determine what assets to replace, which is where we do an inspection to determine that.

So and the inspection is done the year before.  So we can't really know the assets that we're replacing five years from now, for example.

MR. LAU:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask, Donald, sorry to interrupt.  Can I ask a follow-up question on this because you're skirting around a bigger issue I think which is how often do you internally update your DSP?

I assume you do it, you evolve it every year and that it wouldn't be a huge effort for you to provide the Board with an updated DSP sometime in the next year.  Could you do that?  Which takes into this very major Whitby smart grid project?


MR. VELLONE:  Are you asking for a full chapter five filing, Jay?  Because that is asset condition assessments, that is external studies that go into support that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I presume you are not spending what will ends up being, what, 100 million or so by the time you are finished all of the other aspects to it, without doing another DSP and without doing asset condition and all of that stuff.

MR. VELLONE:  My understanding is that the utility does reprioritization of their planned projects each year.  But that may not resemble a full-on DSP filing, which is quite an undertaking, even at a utility this size in terms of the work internal staff have to do together with the external consultants that are brought in to support that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, Mr. Vellone, but I also understand you are asking for $43 million, plus you're going to come in with a DER enabling program, plus you're going to do more later in the grid of the future plan.

So it seems to me that at some point you have to say this is how this all fits together.

In PUC Distribution the Board said we have to see this in the context of your plan.

MR. VELLONE:  And they ordered PUC Distribution to do one in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Soon.  So I am just -- what could you give the Board that would help the Board to understand how this fits in?  Because right now, we're dealing with one-offs.  In a very high growth town.  In particular in Whitby.

MR. VELLONE:  I will turn that back over to the witnesses.  That is an answerable question.

MR. MANDYAM:  We are just going to caucus on Mr. Shepherd's question.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Donald.

MR. LAU:  No worries.  Thank you.

MS. CHAN:  Apologies for the long caucus.  So with respect to the question around the DSP, as noted, Elexicon did file our DSP per the Board requirements in 2021, as Mr. Vellone had mentioned.


We operate under that DSP that we file and continue to reprioritize projects, as we have noted in our response to SEC 13.

As far as the undertaking, in terms of filing another DSP, I think we are not agreeing to that, for the reasons that Mr. Vellone had mentioned, in that the filing requirements per Chapter 5 are substantive and significant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I didn't actually ask for an undertaking that you file a DSP.

What I asked for is two things.  First of all, is that something you can do over the next year or two?  And second of all, in the meantime, what can you provide the Board that will give them context that they will understand how this major initiative fits into your current DSP?  I don't know who is going to answer this.

MR. MANDYAM:  We will caucus again quickly now that we understand the two points there.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry.  It is Julie Girvan.  I just had a quick question that --


MR. MANDYAM:  Yeah.

MS. GIRVAN:  -- you can also answer.  I know you filed -- I just didn't look at it right now.  I know you filed the DSP recently, right?  I think on the --


MR. MANDYAM:  Last year's case --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.  But you filed it again recently, I think, in this case, didn't you?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, it is on the record, I think.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  My only question is, is there any mention of either of the smart grid project or the Brooklin project in that DSP at all?

MR. MANDYAM:  No.  No.  Not -- no Sustainable Brooklin and not the Whitby smart grid.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's not in it at all, and that is dated 2021?  Okay, thank you.

MR. MANDYAM:  Okay.  We will join you back in a second.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]


MS. CHAN:  Apologies, Mr. Shepherd, now that we understand your request.  So firstly, around, you know, what information Elexicon can provide today, we understand in the context of the ICM projects, we believe we have provided that in the pre-filed evidence with regards to considerations around the grid of the future, grid modernization, DER enablement, addressing some of the objectives within the projects around government policy, and we've spoken to those items in the preamble to our application.

And with respect to your request around filing the DSP over the next year or so, at this point I think as part of this application for the ICM projects we can't commit to providing that updated DSP within that stipulated time frame.

We do understand your request.  That is something that we can take away and discuss amongst management.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So on the first part, I think you might have still missed my question.  My question was not, have you in your application sought to justify your grid of the future plan.  Yeah.

Not everybody would necessarily agree with it, although I tend to be a fan.  But that part, the positive stuff, you have put in your application, and it is still lots to be fleshed out.  That wasn't the question.

The question was, how does it affect the rest of your capital planning?  What can you provide the Board that will help the Board understand how this big initiative affects the rest of your capital work, because it has to affect it in some way.  That is what I am asking for.  That is what I have been asking for from the beginning of this discussion.

MR. MANDYAM:  So an assessment of the DSP as it was constructed and our current -- and Elexicon's current capital plan, how is that affected by the Whitby smart grid project, basically?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes.  Because you're saying that this project is incremental.

But clearly it can't be 100 percent incremental.  And presumably you wouldn't do a plan like this without looking at how it affects everything else.  If you have, just say so.

But if you haven't, then you've done some sort of assessment of how it affects everything else.

MR. VELLONE:  I think Staff 4 answers that question, doesn't it, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't think it did, but if you think that is your answer, that's okay.

MR. VELLONE:  My understanding is they did the assessment and that is the only thing that changed.  Staff asked that question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. LAU:  Sorry for going around the bushes now, thank you for that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. LAU:  All right.  I just have one final question.  Can we turn to VECC-02.  In VECC 02 you had provided a table, table 3 for the reliability benefits.  And you can see there that residential customers see about ten percent of the overall 1.8-million-dollar benefits.

If you look at the ICM model, about 69 percent of the cost of WSG's are allocated to residential customers.

Can you just explain how Elexicon perceives that as reasonable, in terms of cost allocation of the WSG project to specifically the reliability benefits.

MR. MANDYAM:  Sorry, can you ask that question again, I was moving to the page and...

MR. LAU:  No worries.  All I am trying to understand is the reliability benefit to customers is about 10 percent of the total.  The total allocation of cost to customers from the ICM model is around 69 - 70 percent.  I just want to understand how that is reasonable for residential customers.  Or why Elexicon believes that that is reasonable for customers.

MR. MANDYAM:  Well, I would have to do more math on this, but the residential customer is probably picking up the total -- all residential customers are picking up the energy savings as well.

So you know it is not just in the total benefit on table 1, there is in page 11 of appendix B, you also have the energy savings, cost of power savings.

So the residential customer is getting more than just that reliability.

Now, the other point about this is this is an estimate of reliability based on number of customers and the proration of costs for savings per customer.

So arguably, reliability will help the larger customer more, because they're being up and operating because they're commercial or industrial or manufacturer of some type.  Their up time is -- dollars per up time is higher than dollars per up time per residential home.

So, I don't know whether your connection of cost allocation to this reliability benefit being 10 percent as we have shown, I don't know whether -- that's like an apple and guava, don't you think? I'm just not seeing that it's the same.

MR. LAU:  To your point about looking at table 1, if we are just looking at the cost of power, because it is on a percentage basis, larger customers will see larger cost of power savings.

So they would see larger portion of the power savings as compared to smaller residential customers, because it is a percentage, right.

And so the only reason I focus on the reliability benefits is that it doesn't appear that residential customers are seeing a large amount of the benefit, which is about 35 percent of your total benefit that this project is supposed to bring if you are combining the 1.8 and 3.2.

But they are on the hook for about 70 percent of the costs.  So that was my question.

MR. MANDYAM:  So you are positing change to cost allocation.  So in a manner where the residential customer pays -- is allocated a proportion relative to the benefits.

So if it is, illustratively, if it is 10 percent they should get 10 percent of the Whitby smart grid cost and 90 percent to others, et cetera?

MR. LAU:  Yes.  I am just trying to understand Elexicon's thoughts on the reasonableness of the cost compared to the benefits.

MR. MANDYAM:  Well we are following the OEB cost allocation model that set out from what, 2006.  So to that extent we're following -- we believe we're following procedure.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  So there hasn't been given any thought to alternative relationship between the cost and benefit.  It is just you know this project overall benefits on a total basis and this is the rules of how an ICM works and that is what Elexicon chose to propose anti-hasn't looked any further.

MR. MANDYAM:  Slightly different way of phrasing it which is Elexicon is following the OEB cost methodology and we have to, you know --


MR. LAU:  I get it.

MR. MANDYAM:  I don't want to use the word but -- however, Mr. Lau you may want to pose a question around changing the cost allocation method and we can see.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  That is it for my questions.  Thank you, panel.  I will pass it to Stephen.
Examination by Mr. Cain:


MR. CAIN:  Good afternoon.  I guess in the time remaining, I do have I guess I have a couple of -- two sets of questions.  I will try to pare them down in the interests of efficiency.  But you will have to forgive me, I may still have to put some evidence into the record so that you know we can refer to the exact issues at hand.

So there are two main areas.  One is the scope of the exemption and certainly some of the questions, a lot of the questions earlier have touched on.  So I will try not to repeat myself or, sorry, I will try to repeat the nature of the questions but there will be some overlap.

And the second one is more of a question on METSCO's evidence, specifically table 15.

So my first question starts with a reference to Elexicon's response to Staff 31, part A and B.  I'm sorry I have to look at my notes over here and not at you on the screen.  I guess you might as well put up also Elexicon's response to Staff 16, part (a).  I might need it.

So Elexicon's response to 31, part (a) which asks for an explanation of the meaning of the word "temporary" in relation to the scope of the DSC exemption they requested, states in part I will read it just one sentence.

The scope of exemption is limited to the Brooklin line (as more fully described in appendix B) and is specific in scope to the sustainable Brooklin project which is expected to span over the course of 20 years.

So I guess the first question is, just kind of an editorial one, are the Brooklin line and the sustainable Brooklin project the same thing?  I expect not but could you differentiate them for me?

MR. MANDYAM:  They are the same, Mr. Cain.

MR. CAIN:  They're exactly the same?  Okay.  So that actually helps a great deal.  Elexicon's response to staff 31, part B.  States in part, and I don't want the whole thing to be entered into the record but let's just put it this way, it states in part that they expect that the exemption will include section 3.2.30, which is sort of the definition of the things that qualify as an expansion.

So I guess my first question is, so to further clarify the scope of the exemption request, is Elexicon requesting a one-time exemption related to the initial 26.6 million dollar investment in the Brooklin line?  Or an exemption that will remain in effect for 20 years and perhaps affect any subsequent expansion investments that relates somehow directly to the Brooklin line?

MR. MANDYAM:  I was with you up until the last part of your question there, but so Elexicon is asking -- go ahead, yes.

MR. CAIN:  It might be helpful to clarify, give you an example from your evidence.  If I recall correctly -- forgive me I'm an electrical engineer, but from the discussion earlier on Mr. Lau's questions, it was stated that the Brooklin line would start with two circuits, one feeder on each, and affording the possibility of expanding by adding additional feeders, to use Mr. Lau's terminology, to reach the circuits.

Or an exemption that will remain in effect for 20 years and perhaps affect any subsequent expansion investments that relates somehow directly to the Brooklin line [audio dropout]?

MR. MANDYAM:  I was with you up until the last part of your question there, but -- so Elexicon --


MR. CAIN:  When --


MR. MANDYAM:  -- is asking -- so go ahead, yes.

MR. CAIN:  So just, it might be helpful to clarify, give you an example from your evidence.  So if I recall correctly -- and forgive me, I'm not an electrical engineer, but from the discussion earlier on Mr. Lau's questions, it was stated that the Brooklin line would start with two circuits, one feeder on each, and affording the possibility of expanding by adding additional feeders, to use Mr. Lau's terminology, to reach the circuits.

So would the addition of those feeders to the circuits be covered by the exemption?

MR. BOUDHAR:  So the answer to that question is no.  We're asking for an exemption to basically build the two pole lines with two circuits, meaning two feeders.  One feeder per pole line.

MR. CAIN:  So why does the scope of the requested exemption say that it spans -- or does it span 20 years?  Or is it just that the Sustainable Brooklin project that spans 20 years?

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes.  It is the sustainable -- it is particular to this project.  The exemption request is particular to this project.  This project is currently scheduled according to the Brooklin development plan for 20 years.

So I think, if -- I am guessing now, Mr. Cain, but you are looking at the temporary and the section 3.2.30 exemption in relation to, is this a one-time ask.

It is a one-time ask for this particular project.  It is not a blanket, any future expansion where a customer comes with a DER proposal gets qualified under this exemption.

MR. CAIN:  Okay.  I think that is clear.  So I will just put to you what my next questions were going to deal with, but I think that you have essentially addressed them.  But just to make sure.

If you could pull up Elexicon's letter regarding the BLGI supplementary responses, to 15, Staff 15-C.  And maybe also in the background have BLGI's supplementary response to the same Staff 15-C.

So in BLGI's supplementary response -- I know it is not your response, it is their response, but we will get to your response too -- they say that there are essentially two parts to the investments that total across 20 -- sorry, 46 million.  26 million for the Brooklin line and 20 million for the Phase 2 downstream distribution systems.

And then your response to their supplementary response begins by saying that:

"Absent the application of specifically the requested DSC exemption of both the Phase 1 and Phase 2 projects is an expansion within the meaning of the DSC and the cost responsibility tools thereby specified by the DSC; i.e., beneficiary pays."

So based on --


MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, Mr. Ott, sorry, this is my letter.  Anyway --


MR. CAIN:  So -- so the --


MR. VELLONE:  -- I think the inclusion of Phase 2 in that response is incorrect.  You want us to file an updated letter?

MR. CAIN:  That is up to you, but I guess what I wanted to understand is, do -- you're referring to Phase 1 or Phase 2, they are referring to Phase 1 and Phase 2.  And they're saying Phase 2 by itself costs 20 million dollars.  And you're saying that 20 million dollars is not to be covered by the exemption.  Correct?

MR. MANDYAM:  That's correct.  Phase 2 is not covered by the exemption from Elexicon's perspective.

MR. CAIN:  Thank you very much.

MR. MANDYAM:  The economic -- okay.  Thanks.

MR. CAIN:  My next question is -- it actually echoes something that was asked and partly addressed earlier.

But section 3.2.1 requires the -- a distributor to do an economic evaluation where a customer wants to connect and an expansion is required that includes the capital cost and the ongoing O&M.

And so just to be clear, the 26.6 million dollars cost of the Brooklin line doesn't include a -- an element of the ongoing O&M, does it?

MR. MANDYAM:  The answer is no.  Sorry, the answer -- you are correct.  There is no operating expenses in the 26.6 million.

I believe we took Undertaking JT1.1 -- Mr. Murray can confirm that I think that is that undertaking, to provide some estimates.

MR. CAIN:  Right.

MR. MURRAY:  I believe that is -- could be JT1.22 or maybe 1.21.

MR. MANDYAM:  I thought it was 1.11, but --


MR. MURRAY:  Oh, sorry.  Of the 26 million?

MR. MANDYAM:  No.  The operating cost.

MR. MURRAY:  No, yeah, the operating cost was JT1.11, sorry.

MR. MANDYAM:  Yes, yes.

MR. CAIN:  Understood.  Yes.  So I can move on.

So now we're going to be looking at Staff 23, part B.  And potentially -- this is where table 15 of Appendix B-4 comes in.  It is on page 262 -- sheet 262 of the PDF.

I guess, you know, there were some questions on this table, and I am just trying to pare them down so we don't have to repeat ourselves, but -- so I will skip down to this question.

Staff notes that just above the table there is text where METSCO says that:

"One of the assumptions underlying the calculation of the penetration rates that are displayed in the table and required to achieve a one-, three-, or five-year deferral have an investment of additional capacity, so each unit can accommodate ten kilowatts of solar panels."

First of all, I guess, can you just explain to me what you mean by "unit"?  My understanding is that there are single, semi-detached, and multi-unit buildings.  So could you just outline a little bit on what a unit is for the purpose of this analysis?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.  So for the purpose of the analysis that you have highlighted, a unit refers to an individual dwelling in the North Brooklin development.  So excluding multi-use residential, but including things like townhouses and detached and semi-detached homes.

MR. CAIN:  Great.  Thank you very much.

So the other thing that I wanted to ask or one of the other things I wanted to ask is the basis for the assumption -- again, this is in the text just above the table, the list of assumptions -- you have assumed that there is ten kilowatts of solar capacity, I guess, on each -- on the roof of each unit.  And also that they also will have a -- sorry, if there is a battery that it is a ten-kilowatt battery.

So about the ten kilowatts of solar panels, how did you decide that that would be the assumption that you would use?  Did you ask BLGI about the design of their single and semi units?  Or you know what was the average surface area of the roof or anything like that?  How did you come to that assumption?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  So the assumption for ten kilowatt size of rooftop solar, I should clarify it is not a minimum value but it is being assumed as a typical value, which I would characterize as medium-size solar installation.

In coming up with that assumption we reviewed recent residential rooftop solar projects within the Greater Toronto Area and many of -- or all of those projects that we reviewed were in the range of ten to 12 kilowatts.  So ten kilowatts is actually being on the low end of this range and you correctly characterized in your preamble that the availability of space on a rooftop can also be a constraint.

So -- and this varies depending on many factors, not just the size of the roof but what is the angle, what is the direction that the house is facing, but roughly that would require, a ten kilowatt installation would roughly require around 600 square feet of solar panels.  So not a large constraint relative to the size of a home.

But I should point out, because of the reference to table 15 here, that when we talk about the capacity of rooftop solar being a constraining factor to table 15, we're really talking about just that first column of the three options.  So just the rooftop solar only.

For the other two options, assuming that is the rooftop solar is reasonably sized compared to the battery, it is actually the battery that is the constraining factor.

MR. CAIN:  Okay.  So that brings me to my next question which is, I want to make sure that I am interpreting table 15 correctly.

So let's take the last column.  The rooftop solar with battery energy storage system.

Would I be correct in interpreting it as showing that in order to defer the I think it was a 50 million dollar investment in new capacity by one year, and from earlier testimony in approximately 2038, 12 percent of the units would have to be fitted with rooftop solar with BESS, consistent with your assumptions about the size of the battery.  Is that correct?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.  Everything you have stated there is correct, Mr. Cain.

MR. CAIN:  Okay.  So that would mean that by 2038, 10,000 units then so we're looking at around 11 megawatts to get the one year deferral.  Correct?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  In terms of the, what the nameplate capacity of solar is, correct, just under 11 megawatts.

MR. CAIN:  And the fifty three percent, 6098 or almost 61 megawatts to defer the project for five years.  Is that correct?

MR. MARTIN-STURMEY:  Yes.  That is correct.

MR. CAIN:  You will be happy to know that is the end of the questions that I have for this panel.  Thank you very much.  I appreciate your answers.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Cain.  Seeing that we are already after five, I would propose that we end for the day here.

I am pleased to tell people, given the updated schedule which we will circulate later today, we seem to be on track.  Hopefully we are not jinxing ourselves to be done by the end of tomorrow.

So we will circulate -- Ashley will circulate our schedule later this evening to people just to know when people are up.

Once again as people were -- intervenors, you can't assume the times.  They always fluctuate and change.  So please make sure you are ready ahead of your scheduled time, because you may have to go earlier or later depending on how things shake out.

With that, I will wish everyone a good night and see everyone tomorrow at 9:30.

MR. MANDYAM:  Thank you.  Good night.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:08 p.m.
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